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Financial Highlights
MBEE

Year 2017 Year 2016 Changes
—B—tf —TRE BALED
(RMB’000) (RMB’000)
(AR®T ) (AREBFIT)
Sales = £ 4,395,117 5,007,148 -12.2%
Gross Profit EF 1,009,927 624,978 +61.6%
Gross Profit Margin EAES 23.0% 12.5%
Profit for the Year FRFHE 808,404 160,962 +402.2%
Core Profit for the Year * FRZ T * 476,154 125,304 +280.0%
Profit Attritable to Owners RRFERTFAA
of the Company FE(L A 547,345 125,272 +337.0%
Earnings per Share (RMB Cents) BREMN(ARES)
- Basic — &K 10 3
— Diluted —88 10 3
Total Cash¢ IR He 3,433,027 1,442,140 +138.1%
Total Assets BEE 22,597,702 20,270,441 +11.5%
Total Equity (Net Assets) s OFEE) 9,059,164 7,711,135 +17.5%
Debt to Asset Ratio BfELX 59.9% 62.0%
Net Gearing Ratio FEEX 12.4% 49.6%
Current Ratio(Times) mENE & (F) 1.30 1.26
Equity Multiplier* R TR 2.49 2.63
Cash to Capital Ratio REeBEL 15.2% 7.1%
= Core profit for the year = profit before tax — changes in fair value of investment o FERZOEMN=BHAMNE - IREWE/IABES
properties — fair value gain upon transfer to investment properties &) — B S AW EN DL BEKS
€: Total Cash = cash and cash equivalents + restricted cash WHS_Ee BESZEY + FREES
#: Equity multiplier = total assets / equity of owners

RaRRY=REE FEEkR

RLFEARAR =

F—FE® T
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Chairman’s Statement

EREHE

Chairman ESi

Shi Kancheng  #e{iA

Dear shareholders, WRARE -

On behalf of Zhong An Real Estate Limited (‘Zhong An” or the AAZREXZLEEERAR(RE|H[XA
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (together the “Group”), | am pleased to  F] |):EREWEB AT (£fE [AEH ) - [RARIE2
present the annual results of the Group for the year ended 31 December  AREBEZE2017E12 A31 BIFEE ([2017F )
2017 ("2017"). ZERERE -

REVIEW OF RESULTS £ =]

The audited consolidated revenue for 2017 was RMB4.4 billion, 2017 FHRKREEZSHWABARK44E &
representing a decrease of about 12.2% from that of 2016. The gross 2016 E R #912.2% : 2017 EEF| A A R 10
profit for 2017 was RMB1.0 billion, representing an increase of about {8 » & 2016 F 18 & £961.6% ° 2017 E & & %
61.6% from that of 2016. The profit attributable to owners of the parent G AEGFEAARKS5(E » 2016 FIE K4
for 2017 was about RMBO0.55 billion, representing an increase of about  336.9% : GFEANREF A AERE0.107T © #2016
336.9% from that in 2016. The basic earnings per share was RMBO0.10,  FI2iN49240% - A mEE e ([EEE )T &=
representing an increase of about 240% from that in 2016. The board of  JE2%2017 FE RHAF) 2 (2016 4 : &) o
directors of the Company (the “Board”) did not propose to declare a final

dividend for the year 2017 (2016: nil).

10 Zhong An Real Estate Limited 2017 Annual Report



MARKET AND BUSINESS REVIEW

In 2017, the economy of China maintained stable growth in general, the
economic structure continued to be optimized, and consumption demand
remained the key driving force for economic growth. Under the direction
of “housing is for accommodation, not for speculation”, local governments
actively deepened the adjustment and control of real estate policies, which
focused on the adjustment and control in city clusters and then expanded
to the surrounding third- and fourth-tier cities from central cities.

2017 marked the 20th anniversary of the inception of the Group, which
was also a meaningful year to the Group as it achieved development
breakthroughs. During the year, the Group had developed steadily and
achieved remarkable results by exceeding the sales amount of RMB10
billion and obtaining a record high in the size of profits, with surging
growth of various businesses. During 2017, the Group had 20 existing
projects available for sale which were located in six cities and regions of
the Yangtze River Delta Region, and the overall sales result performance
was better than our expectation. For the year ended 31 December 2017,
the Group recorded contracted sales of approximately RMB10.1012
billion, representing an increase of approximately 100.8% as compared
with that of 2016, and contracted GFA sold of approximately 679,000
sg.m., representing an increase of approximately 34.8% as compared
with that of 2016, with contracted average selling price of approximately
RMB14,867.5 per sq. m., representing an increase of approximately
49.0% as compared with that of last year.

The Group adhered to the principle of expansion with low cost, and
obtained several projects through strategies including equity acquisition,
joint development and linkage between industries and cities, which
reserved quality resources for the future development of the Group.
All projects under construction achieved the targets of completion and
delivery as planned, and the product capability was further enhanced
so as to gain extensive customer recognition. The further deepening of
standardization of products and project operation allowed the further
improvement of effective development capability of the Company, thus
further strengthening its competitiveness in the market. The continuous
optimization of human resources structure introduced core management
talents of middle and senior levels with consciousness, competence, ability
of execution, virtuous conduct and vision so as to continuously improve the
composition of the management team.

Chairman’s Statement
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100.8% : FARHERBEL67.9BF K &
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12 Zhong An Real Estate Limited

Chairman’s Statement

ERE®RE

Besides devoting in residential property development, China New City
Commercial Development Limited (“China New City”), a subsidiary of
the Company listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, has
brought in a professional management team to impel the development of
commercial, investment properties and hotel businesses, and to develop
urban complex creating value for cities as well as expand distinctive
property management and value-added services so as to build up a
diversified business portfolio for enhancing the overall competitiveness as
well as mitigating operational risks of the Group.

Jiarun Mansion, the serviced apartment located at Plot A3 of International
Office Centre (“lIOC”), continued to achieve satisfactory sales performance,
while Xixi New City, the serviced apartment located at the Parcel of Xixi,
was also sold out in a short time since its launch at the end of the year,
and the above serviced apartments became the main driving forces for the
substantial growth of sales income of the Group’s properties.

For hotel operation, during 2017, the Group’s hotel Holiday Inn, located
in Xiaoshan, Hangzhou was in smooth operation, with steady increase in
sales revenue. In addition, the Group currently has two high-end hotels in
operation. The hotel managed under the “Bright” brand in Qiandao Lake,
Hangzhou was officially opened in the first half of 2017 and its operation
for the first half of the year was satisfactory. The VC Bright hotel in Huaibei
was opended in September 2017 and quickly became one of the most
influential hotels in Huaibei District owing to its position as the first five-
star deluxe hotel of European style in Huaibei and by highlighting its
comfortable and entertainment environment and atmosphere.

The Group’s revenue from property leasing mainly generated from
Highlong Plaza, the flagship project located in Xiaoshan District,
Hangzhou. The shopping mall portion of the project commenced its assets
optimisation programs and commercial portfolio restructuring since April
2016. The occupancy rate of Highlong Plaza reached over 97% after its
renovation. It also added commercial elements with the theme, “Happy
Time”, for children’s catering and living services with differentiation and
experience. The Group’s Zhong An Yin Tai Cheng project, located in
Yuyao, Ningbo, was successfully leased out during the year and launched
at the end of 2017, and the revenue from property leasing segment of the
Group will increase rapidly.

2017 Annual Report
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PRUDENT LAND ACQUISITION AND
REPLENISHMENT OF HIGH QUALITY
LAND BANK

Adhering to the healthy financial policy, the Group persistently implements
a prudent land replenishment strategy of acquiring high quality land which
meets market demand at low cost, so as to optimize the structure of our
land bank.

On 29 December 2017, by way of equity acquisition, a subsidiary of the
Company successfully entered into agreements with independent third
parties to obtain the development right of the Onshore Blue Mountain (=
& 1L) project, located in Xian Lin Town, Yuhang District, Hangzhou, and
the development right of the Beverley Hills (ELZEFILFE) project, located
in Chunan County, Hangzhou at a total consideration of approximately
RMB850 million. The Onshore Blue Mountain project is a residential
project with a land area of approximately 66,000 sg.m., a plot ratio of 1.4
and a construction area of approximately 120,000 sg.m.. The project is
at the core area of the west of Hangzhou City, and faces Xixi Wetland of
Hangzhou to its east, the future science and technology city of Hangzhou
to its north and the science and technology city of Qingshan Lake,
Linan to its west. It enjoys convenient transportation and well-developed
community facilities, with obvious growth advantages in the region.
The Beverley Hills project is located in Qiandao Lake area with beautiful
scenery, with its three sides facing to Qiandao Lake. It is a residential
project which enjoys unique landscape and position, with a land area
of approximately 90,000 sg.m. and a plot ratio of 0.26. The project is
positioned as a low-density and high-end villas community.

On 31 January 2018, China New City, by way of public auction,
successfully acquired a land parcel in Yingfeng Village, Tuankou Town,
Linan City, Zhejiang Province, the PRC at a total consideration of
approximately RMB40.00 million. Such land parcel is surrounded by
mountains and water resources with rich natural resources. In particular, it
is famous for hot springs and owns a favourable foundation for hot spring
resorts with a daily explored water flow of 3,000 cubic meters. Such land
parcel is used for business hotels with a transferred area of 37,500 sqg.m.
and total investment amount of RMB460 million, and it is planned to
construct a hot spring resort of four stars or above.

On 18 March 2018, by way of equity acquisition, a subsidiary of the
Company entered into an equity transfer agreement with an independent
third party to obtain the development right of a plot of land located in Yu
Hang District, Hangzhou City, at a total consideration of approximately
RMB360 million. The total site area of such project is 121,894 square
meters and the plot ratio is 2.18.

Chairman’s Statement
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14 Zhong An Real Estate Limited

Chairman’s Statement

ERE®RE

Such projects, together with the projects under planning of the Group in
Hangzhou, will have synergy to further enhance the brand marketing of
the Group in the Yangtze River Delta Region. As at the end of 2017, the
total GFA of the land bank of the Group is about 6,265,939 sg.m., which
is mainly scattered in nine different cities and regions, and it is expected to
support the development in the coming five years. The average land cost
is only about RMB1,141 per sq.m..

OUTLOOK AND DEVELOPMENT
STRATEGY

Looking forward to 2018, with the continuous deepening of control policies
in the real estate market, the real estate industry in the PRC will start a new
era. It is believed that the implementation of the effective long-term system
for achieving the target of “sheltering for all people” will be the focus of
medium to long term housing development. In particular, the initiative of
“multi-policies in one city” classifies and gives directions for adjustment and
control, while the close combination of short-term adjustment and control
with effective long-term system will foster and develop the residential lease
market, improve the multi-layered housing supply system and establish a
housing system encompassing both renting and purchase, so that the real
estate market will have steady development.

In view of the ever-changing market conditions, the Group will adhere to
a prudent and stable business approach and maintain the focus on the
Yangtze River Delta Region. The city cluster of Yangtze River Delta is an
important intersection area between “One Belt One Road” and the Yangtze
River economic belt. It is expected that it will be developed into a world
class city cluster that faces the world and leads in China. The Group will
gradually build premium brand advantages with its extensive experience
accumulated in the development of complex real estate projects in
the region. On the one hand, the Group will continue its established
development strategy and strengthen cooperation with its strategic
partners to further expand its market share and maintaining its competitive
edge in the industry. On the other hand, the Group will actively expand its
business to key cities. Meanwhile, it strives to promote the combination of
industry, finance and technology and will make use of the domestic and
overseas dual capital platform to develop.

2017 Annual Report
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In terms of new businesses, the Group will actively promote the
development of such areas of businesses, like healthcare, tourism and
culture and feature towns, the industry direction of which are combining
with China’s future development, and adhere firmly to its prudent financial
strategies so as to seek satisfactory and continuous returns for the
shareholders of the Company.

2018 is a new step forward for the Group after 20 years’ stable
development, with transformation, development and improvement as the
main themes for the year 2018. It will be a new honour for all the employees
to achieve new goals and undertake new missions. In leading all the
employees, the Group will take proactive action, adopt new thinking with
innovative ideas, explore new markets and enhance self-competence so
as to work even harder to achieve the operating objectives of the Group.

After 20 years of stable development, the Group had accumulated ample
experience and resources and laid a solid foundation for development. The
Group believes that with its quality strategic resources and sound industrial
chain layout, and the dedicated and proactive core management team, it
will as always create brilliance again.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board did not propose the payment of a final dividend for the year
ended 31 December 2017 (2016: nil).

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

On behalf of the Board, | would like to express sincere gratitude to the
support and trust of our shareholders and business partners as well as the
dedicated efforts of all our employees.

Shi Kancheng
Chairman

The People’s Republic of China, 21 March 2018
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16 Zhong An Real Estate Limited

Management Discussion and Analysis

B WA

RESULTS

The audited consolidated revenue of the Group for 2017 was RMB4,395.1
million, representing a decrease of about 12.2% from that of 2016. The
gross profit for 2017 was RMB1,009.9 million, representing an increase
of about 61.6% from that of 2016. During the year under review, the total
revenue of the investment properties sold was RMB927.6 million. The
sales income generated from part of the investment properties was about
RMB62.0 million for the year. The profit attributable to owners of the parent
for 2017 was about RMB547.4 million, representing an increase of about
336.9% from that in 2016. The basic earnings per share was RMBO0.10
(2016: RMBO0.03). The Board did not propose to declare a final dividend for
the year ended 31 December 2017 (2016: nil).

INDUSTRY REVIEW

The performance of the Chinese economy was satisfactory in 2017. GDP
growth was 6.9% for the year, which exceeded the expected target of
6.5%. With the promotion of supply-side structural reform in 2017, an
upward trend for most of the commaodity prices relating to the reform
continued. Meanwhile, with the deepening of deleverage in the financial
system, the monetary policy of the central bank remained generally steady
and neutral in 2017.

According to the National Bureau of Statistics of China, in 2017, the
investment in property development amounted to RMB10,979.9 billion
nationwide, representing a nominal growth of 7.0% as compared with
that of last year. Among which, residential investment amounted to
RMB7,514.8 billion, representing a growth of 9.4%. The residential
investment accounted for a proportion of 68.4% of the investment in
property development. In 2017, the gross floor area (GFA) of commodity
properties sold was 1,694.08 million sg.m., representing an increase of
7.7% as compared with that of last year. Among which, the growth of
GFA of residential properties sold, office buildings sold and commercial
business properties sold were 5.3%, 24.3% and 18.7% respectively.
The sales of commodity properties amounted to RMB13,370.1 billion,
representing a growth of 13.7%. Among which, the growth of sales of
residential properties, office buildings and commercial business properties
were 11.3%, 17.5% and 25.3% respectively.
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In 2017, the land area purchased by property development enterprise
was 255.08 million sg.m., representing a growth of 15.8%; the premium
of the land transaction amounted to RMB1,364.3 billion, representing a
growth of 49.4%. The area under construction by property development
enterprise was 7,814.84 million sg.m., representing a growth of 3.0% as
compared with that of last year. Among which, the area under construction
for residential properties was 5,364.44 milion sg.m., representing a
growth of 2.9%. The area of newly commenced properties was 1,786.54
million sg.m., representing a growth of 7.0%. Among which, the area
of newly commenced residential properties was 1,280.98 million sg.m.,
representing a growth of 10.5%. The completed construction area of
properties was 1,014.86 milion sqg.m., representing a drop of 4.4%.
Among which, the completed construction area of residential properties
was 718.15 milion sg.m., representing a drop of 7.0%. At the end of
2017, the area of commodity properties pending for sale was 589.23
million sg.m., representing a decrease of 6.83 million sg.m. as compared
with November of the same year. Among which, the area of residential
properties pending for sale was decreased by 6.70 million sg.m, the area
of office buildings pending for sale was increased by 1.18 million sg.m
and the area of commercial business properties pending for sale was
decreased by 2.15 million sg.m..

BUSINESS REVIEW

The recognised revenue of properties sold and delivered by the Group
in 2017 was about RMB4,242.9 milion (2016: RMB5,027.7 million),
representing a decrease of about 15.6% compared to that of 2016. The
decrease was due to the decrease in GFA of properties sold and delivered
by the Group in 2017.

The GFA of properties sold and delivered by the Group in 2017 was about
400,769 sg.m. (2016: 623,230 sg.m.), representing a decrease of 35.7%
as compared to that of 2016.

The recognised average selling price per sg.m. achieved by the Group in
2017 was about RMB10,586.9, representing an increase of about 31.2%
from RMB8,067.2 in the previous year. It is due to the greater increase in
selling prices in the market and substantial increase in the portion of sales
of properties with higher selling prices in the year under review.
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During the year under review, the total recognised GFA sold for the major
projects of the Group and the respective recognised revenue are as

BEFA  AEETEEANCERFEEDENR
EHERHEWALAT

follows:
Percentage of
interest in the
project attributable
to the Group
Recognised Recognised AEH
GFA revenue hZ%IEE
Projects ER CRAHERR EREAHERA EENED
sg. m. RMB million
ok ARBEETT
Zhejiang Province HIE
Hangzhou BN
Hidden Dragon Bay el - 6.6 63.6%
Jiarun Mansion EEYN - 3,036 79.0 68.8%
Landscape Bay S5E 7,770 147.3 92.6%
White Horse Manor A5 L 15,584 251.8 90.0%
Ideal Bay IR A8 104,217 1053.2 45.9%
Chaoyang No.8 N 99,039 1353.3 90.0%
Others* HAh* 235 29.0
Yuyao Rk
Dragon Bay 13 BE 11,328 315.0 90.0%
Jade Mansion RSt 30,313 233.2 93.0%
Zhong An Times Square (Phase I)  R&EHAES (ZH) 15,042 178.3 93.0%/64.0%
Zhong An Landscape Garden, Cixi 2R R 17K 3,027 20.6 90.0%
Anhui Province ZBE
Hefei aE™
Green Harbour HekE 81 1.4 84.2%
Huaibei biihldns)
Vancouver City BTG 111,097 574.2 100.0%
400,769 4,242.9
* Including: White Horse Noble Mansion, New White Horse Apartments, Landscape ~ * BE:AFE FRBEAE - ke - FLEEL -

Garden and Onshore Blue Mountain.

The average cost of properties sold per sg.m. of the Group was about
RMB8,042 in 2017, representing an increase of about 15.9% from RMB
6,936 in the previous year. It was due to the higher development cost of
relevant projects recognized for sale during the year.
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Progress of development on the major projects

Hangzhou, Zhejiang Province
Landscape Bay

This is a residential project located on the south bank of Qiantang River,
Xiaoshan District, Hangzhou, Zhejiang Province, which was completed
in phases in previous years, with a total GFA of about 300,012 sg.m..
The project includes island-style townhouses, high-rise apartments with
river view, car park lots and clubhouse. The entire project was completed
in 2011. So far, it is sold out apart from some car parking lots and few
housing.

Hidden Dragon Bay

This is an integrated commercial complex in Wenyan Town, Xiaoshan
District, Hangzhou, Zhejiang Province with a total GFA of 241,695 sqg.m..
The project includes low-rise luxurious leisure mansions for corporations,
high-rise serviced apartments (SOHO), street shops and car park lots. The
project was completed in April 2013. The volume of sales of this project
during the year under review was within expectation.

International Office Centre (IOC)

IOC is a large-scale integrated commercial complex located in Qianjiang
Century City (#/Tttt423), Xiaoshan District, Hangzhou, comprising
serviced apartments, shopping malls and offices.The total site area of
Plot A is 92,610 sg.m. and planned total GFA is 798,795 sq.m.. The
project is constructed in three phases, consists of Plots A1, A2 and A3.
Among which, Plot A3 was completed in 2015, comprising serviced
apartments, shops and underground car parking spaces with a total GFA
of approximately 327,996 sq.m.. It is expected that Plot A2 will commence
in 2018.

White Horse Manor

This is a residential project in Xiaoheshan, Yuhang District, Hangzhou,
Zhejiang Province with a total GFA of about 243,497 sg.m.. It consists
of high-rise residential buildings and low-density residential townhouses
situated at a hilly terrain with beautiful scenery and green vegetation. The
townhouse units are built with American architectural design and on the
terrain with spacious view. The project is in proximity to local universities
and Xixi Wetland. The entire project was completed in December 2015.
The volume of sales of the project during the year under review was within
expectation.
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Ideal Bay

This is a residential project in Linping, Yuhang District, Hangzhou, Zhejiang
Province with a total GFA of about 538,856 sg.m.. The project consists of
townhouses in British architectural design and high-rise apartment units,
which was fully completed in June 2016. The volume of sales of the project
during the year under review was within expectation.

Chaoyang No. 8

This is a project including residential units, apartments and block-type
commercial amenities in Shushan Town, Xiaoshan District, Hangzhou,
Zhejiang Province and it is at the prime location with Hangzhou Metro Line
No.2 terminal in the proximity with a total GFA of about 199,224 sq.m..
The project was completed in May 2017 and delivered by the end of 2017.
The volume of sales of the project during the year under review was within
expectation.

Hangzhou Qiandao Lake Bright Resort Hotel

This is a hotel project in Qiandaohu Town, Chunan County, Hangzhou,
Zhejiang Province with a GFA of about 46,691 sg.m.. This hotel will be built
at the shore of Qiandao Lake with a beautiful lake view and natural habitat.
Blocks A, B and C are located in the hotel area and opened in April 2017.

College Square

This is a residential project located at Yuhang District, Hangzhou, Zhejiang
Province and its total GFA is about 195,293 sg.m.. It consists of high-rise
residential apartments and shopping units. It is very close to the old city of
Yuhang District and situated at the planned hi-tech center of Hangzhou.
The project was commenced in April 2016 and is in the progress of
construction, and it is expected to be completed in around the third quarter
of 2018. The pre-sale of this project during the year under review was
within expectation.

White Horse Palace

This is a residential project located at Xiaoshan District, Hangzhou,
Zhejiang Province and its total GFA is about 68,220 sq.m.. It consists
of 4 high-rise residential apartments, 3 multi-storey garden apartments
and 5 townhouses. It is at the core areas of Xiaoshan District, Hangzhou.
The project is still in the process of construction and enters the stage of
ancillary construction works. It is expected to be completed in 2018. So
far, the properties are sold out apart from some car parking lots and few
housing. The pre-sale of this project during year under review was within
expectation.
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Xixi New City (Jiangcun Parcel)

It is located in Jiangcun Unit, Xihu District, Hangzhou and is in proximity to
Xixi Wetland. The total site area of the project is 39,703 sq.m. and the total
GFA is 59,555 sq.m.. The construction of the project was commenced
in May 2017, which will become an integrated commercial complex
comprising offices, serviced apartments and shops. It is planned to be
completed and delivered in 2019. The pre-sale of this project during the
year under review was within expectation.

Xixi Manhattan

It is located in the sci-tech city which is the segment to be emphasized
by Hangzhou Municipal Government in the future, and it is a high-end
serviced apartment project of Xixi Financial Island in Yuhang District,
Hangzhou. The GFA of the project is 109,998 sqg.m.. It was offered and
sold in late August 2017 and is expected to be delivered in 2019. The pre-
sale of this project during the year under review was within expectation.

Phase Il Parcel of Blue Mountain, Jimei, Yuhang (RT3 511 — Ei# #E)

It is located at Xian Lin Street, Yuhang District, Hangzhou and consists
of residential and commercial parcels, with a total GFA of about 98,668
sg.m.. The project consists of multi-storey, small high-rise and high-rise
buildings as well as townhouses, and is surrounded by well-developed
community facilities. The project is scheduled to start in 2018.

Yuyao, Zhejiang Province
Dragon Bay

This is a high-end low-density residential project in Yuyao, Zhejiang
Province, which was completed in 2013, with a total GFA of 196,809
sg.m.. The project consists of French, European and Spanish-style low-
density residential buildings. The sale during the year under review was
within expectation.

Jade Mansion

This is a low-density residential project in Yuyao, Zhejiang Province with
a total GFA of 292,807 sqg.m.. The project consists of 3 phases with
townhouses and residential apartments and it is next to the Dragon Bay.
The construction of Phase | with townhouse was completed in 2014 and
the construction of Phase Il with residential apartments was completed
in June 2016. The construction of Phase Il started at the end of 2016 and
is planned to be completed at the end of December 2018. The volume of
sales of this project during the year under review was within expectation.
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Zhong An Times Square

This is a large-scale integrated commercial project in Yuyao, Zhejiang
Province, with a total GFA of about 628,408 sg.m. in 2 phases. It is next
to the Dragon Bay and the Jade Mansion, which are projects spanning
along a river. The project consists of 2 phases. Phase | includes a shopping
mall (Zhong AneYin Tai Cheng) (% e #EZ=Ik), a boutique hotel and
two commercial office towers and underground car parking spaces while
Phase Il includes a hotel, a Grade A office tower and six high-rise serviced
apartment buildings, underground car parking spaces and shops. Phase
Il of this project was completed in September 2016 and Phase | will be
completed in 2018. The volume of sales of Phase Il of this project during
the year under review was within expectation.

Zhong An Landscape Garden, Cixi

This is a commercial property project in Cixi, Zhejiang Province. The total
site area is about 197,424 sq.m.. The residential project includes the
commercial portion for providing supporting services to local residents,
with a total GFA of about 402,529 sg.m., of which the GFA of the
residential portion is about 278,189 sq.m. and the GFA of the commercial
portion for supporting services is about 124,340 sg.m..

Hefei, Anhui Province
Green Harbour

It is a low-density residential project in Guanzhen Village, Hefei, Anhui
Province, with the completion of blocks A1, C1, C2 and F1 in the previous
years. The sale of this project during the year under review was within
expectation.

Huaibei, Anhui Province
Vancouver City

This is a low-density residential project in Huaibei, Anhui Province, which
includes townhouses, multi-storey apartments and shopping units. The
project is developed in phases, and its sale and pre-sale during the year
under review was within expectation. The VC Bright Hotel (&S # (A%
HEB)E), with a GFA of about 67,061 sg.m., was put into business in
September 2017. The GFA of Phase IV south project is about 120,000
sg.m. and it is planned to commence construction at the end of March
2018.
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Tianjin

This is a land re-development project located in Hexi District, Tianjin.
The reallocation and demolition works are expected to be commenced
later. It is expected that this allocated land will, upon completion of the
re-development project, be transferred to the local government. This re-
development project is a part of the urban renewal project of the Tianjin
government.

Overseas
Amber Rise

This project was set up in Vancouver, Province of British Columbia,
Canada with a total GFA of about 7,719 sg.m.. The site is located in
wealthy district with about 20 minutes drive to downtown of Vancouver
City. A total of 11 townhouses with individual swimming pools and deluxe
design will be built in 2 phases. Construction was commenced in the fourth
quarter of 2016 and it is expected that the entire project will be completed
by end of 2018.

Contracted sales in 2017

As at 31 December 2017, the contracted GFA sold by the Group was
about 679,415 sg.m. (2016: 504,176 sg.m.) with the amount of about
RMB10,101.2 million (2016: RMB5,030.2 million), which exceeds an
amount of ten billion for the first time for the sales amount of the Group. Set
out below are the details of the contracted sales from the major projects:

Management Discussion and Analysis
EEEFWED AT

XEW

RRET RS TINBFEIRLR - BTN
T e BB L IFH T2 - TR T B 5
BEIHAR  ZWEEIASEEE BT - %8
FEIA R RRRMBUTN T R EIHE 2 — &

IN o

7]

b2
Amber Rise

SRR INE KRR E = fw b 352 R FF FE M A IA
B REEEBO7 9TV TK - U ER RS
BORSTET A ORI 209EEHIE - HE 1158
ME - WEEBIBABTRERE - KO MRIE
fEERREE - BETIRE 2016 FEWEEHAR - I
TEETEEMEIE B 0 2018 FFERTR L ©

2017 FEREHE

HE2017F12H318 - AEEMNEREEmEL
A679,415F 5K (20164 : 504,176 FHK) + &
FEHEWRAAHAREA10,101.25EL(2016 4 ¢
ARM503028H8T)  RAEEHEFEE R
WHERD - FEEENASRBEEFBEET ¢

RLFERRAA]

—E—+FFR 23



Management Discussion and Analysis

EEENmED T

Percentage of

interest in
the project
attributable
to the Group
Contracted Contracted TEH
Projects 1HH GFA sold amount {hEZIEH
ERHEEE EREERA EENESHT
(sg.m.) (RMB million)
(FFHK) (AREBETT)
Zhejiang Province HIE
Hangzhou BN
Chaoyang No. 8 28R5 ) \55k 25,953 396.0 90%/61.9%
Hidden Dragon Bay R 6,288 68.5 63.6%
Ideal Bay AR 66,010 898.7 45.9%
Jiarun Mansion ESEN 30,925 745.3 68.8%
Landscape Bay =& 4,558 104.5 92.6%
White Horse Manor B &S ILAE 8,857 191.3 90.0%
White Horse Palace B SN 33,106 906.8 90.0%
College Square S2EE 57,554 950.1 90.0%
Highlong Plaza EE B 24,258 335.8 61.9%
Xixi Manhattan PR EMRIE 18,520 321.0 31.6%
Xixi New City GipE=ie7 4] 9,007 302.4 68.8%
Shenglong Landscape Garden B 1L K38, 1,372 145 61.9%
Gentle Mansion SRIBIELAT 87,899 2,175.8 21.6%
Xinnongdu R 105,983 945.0 12.3%
Others Hip 2.4
Yuyao Rk
Dragon Bay 1 5eE 10,554 299.0 90.0%
Jade Mansion ERREE 27,404 357.1 93.0%
Zhong An Times Square BERFRES
(Zhong An Yin Tai Cheng) (RLIREW) 22,366 223.2 93.0%/64.0%
Cixi Em
Zhong An Landscape Garden, Cixi  28Z R 7 1117K%E 59,725 376.9 90.0%
Anhui Province ZRE
Hefei &Em
Green Harbour B 81 1.3 84.2%
Huaibei JEdET
Vancouver City BETEE 78,995 485.6 100.0%
679,415 10,101.2
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It is expected that the GFA available for sale or lease or operation from the
projects to be completed as of 2018 would be about 1,300,898 sg.m., the

FERTEHE2018F R TE A A HHE A E K
BRI EEIEL A 1,300,898 F 7K - BT ¢

details of which are as follows:

Percentage of

interest in
GFA available the project
for sale/lease/ attributable
operation to the Group
mEHE HE S REBESL Usage
Projects BH REMELERE EEEZADL Ji:k:d
(sa.m.)
(FFHXK)
Chaoyang Yinzuo TAR5 8RR 36,452 61.9% For sale
&
White Horse Palace B S 68,220 90.0% For sale
HE
College Square 2ER 195,293 90.0% For sale
&
Zhong An Landscape Garden, Cixi ERZIKIE (ZH]) 50,109 90.0% For sale
(Phase Il) HE
Zhong An Times Square TR ES (—8) 305,473 65.8% For operation
(Phase I) and sale
Vancouver City BT (B 3HI3 - 412ER) 173,896 100.0% For sale
(Sections 3, 4 of Phase 3) &
Gentle Mansion RIBIEIT 164,908 21.6% For sale
HE
International Office Centre S AR (B ASHIER) 112,449 68.8% For sale/leasing
(Plot A3) HE e
Hidden Dragon Bay S he e 121,169 63.6% For sale/leasing
HE e
Highlong Plaza B &S 72,929 61.9% For sale/leasing
HE e
Total met 1,300,898
BRLEFEEFRAA Z—FT—+FFH
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Land bank

As at 31 December 2017, the total GFA of the Group’s land bank was
about 6,265,939 sg.m., out of which the total unsold or undelivered GFA
of the completed properties projects was about 1,515,792 sg.m.. As at 31
December 2017, the average acquisition cost of the Group’s overall land
bank was about RMB 1,141 per sq.m..

During the year under review, the GFA of properties of which the
construction was newly commenced by the Group was about 426,720
sQ.m..

OTHER BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT

The businesses of the Group are diversifying which provide more stable
income in the future and protection through diversification of investment
risks. The Group will steadily promote an asset-light business model
and gradually broaden the scope of property services and business
operation which includes hotel operation, commercial leasing, office
building management and property services, and will continue to adopt
new business models and types such as the promotion of development
of new agricultural and healthcare industries at the same time, so as to
enhance the upstream and downstream business linkage and synergetic
development of our property business and to maintain a trend of
sustainable development.

Hotel operation

There are three hotels currently under operation, Holiday Inn Hangzhou
Xiaoshan, Hangzhou Qiandao Lake Bright Resort Hotel and Huaibei
Bright Hotel. The hotel operation of the Group recorded a revenue of
approximately RMB67.4 million (2016: approximately RMB46.7 million),
representing an increase of approximately 44%, during the year under
review and the overall hotel occupancy rate was approximately 52% (2016:
approximately 58%).
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Commercial leasing

The leasing revenue for 2017 was about RMB77.4 million, representing
an increase of about 24.8% compared to RMB62.0 million in 2016. It was
mainly due to the commencement of the leasing business of International
Office Centre (I0C).

Currently, Highlong Plaza, International Office Centre (IOC) and the
shopping units of Hidden Dragon Bay provide the main source of leasing
income. Highlong Plaza consists of office buildings, a shopping centre, a
hotel, serviced apartments and underground car parking lots. The serviced
apartments at Highlong Plaza were sublet to and managed by independent
operators, Ningbo Sanbi Hotel and Hangzhou Youbang Hotel. The
performance of the operation was satisfactory.

The shopping units of Hidden Dragon Bay with a GFA of about 20,281
sg.m. and the shops of International Office Centre (IOC) with a GFA of
about 29,311 sg.m. had contributed another source of rental income
during the year under review. The overall leasing rate was 91% (2016:
79%).

Property management services

The Group provides quality property management services to the
communities located in properties developed by the Group and other
developers. The services are further enhanced by the provision of
travel tours, housekeeping and nanny services, etc.. The provision of
customer-oriented services and the wide variety of services offered have
strengthened the Group’s corporate brand management.

Other services

The Group achieved greater progress in developing new models of
industries such as education and culture, healthcare, film and television
entertainment, leisure travel and modern agriculture while further
expanding its property business. It also introduced a new business form
themed on children’s activities, “Happy Time”, which focused on urban
children’s services comprising children’s health, education, entertainment
and sports activities.
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AWARDS AND RECOGNITIONS BERRE
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The Group had received the following awards and accolades from the PRC
government and recognized authorities during the year under review:

Awarded by Awards
RS #RIg

Awarded parties/projects

E®% HE

Enterprise Research Institute of Development
Research Center of State Council, Real Estate
Research Institute of Tsinghua University and China

Star of 2017 Top 100 China Real Estate Developers  Zhong An Real Estate Limited
2017 hEIEERRER - BRZE RRFERBRRA

2017 Top 10 Hong Kong Listed Domestic Property

28 Zhong An Real Estate Limited

Index Academy
Bl %k R XA OB ERER  FERE
FEHERRTAT - R EIE SR %

Hong Kong renowned financial magazine “China
Financial Market”

ERELIEREA(PERE)

China Real Estate Research Association, China Real

Estate Industry Association

TEFEHERTNRE  TEFSHEERHAE

)3

China Index Academy, China Real Estate Top
10 Research Team
BB IR - B EIEE Top 10H15T A

Real Estate and Property Committee of China
Optimization Society of Capital Construction

PEELAERECHACRERNEXZES

Health Service Promotion Association in
Zhejiang Province
WLERERBRES

Department of Housing and Urban-Rural
Development of Anhui Province

ZHEEF R RRE

Companies With Financial Stability
2017 REEEH F A R R BSR4 Top
10

2017 Top 10 China Real Estate Integrated

Development Expert Pioneer Brand Value-Worthy of

Investment By City
2017 R EIEHER AL X ELREEE
Top 10— WM EBER

“Best Investment Value Award” in the 2017 China
Financial Market Listed Companies Awards

2017 PEIRE LM ARAEL [RAKREBER]

2017 Commercial Property with Greatest
Investment Value

017 RBREEBERELE

2017 China Top 100 Property Management
Companies

2017 PRI ERE B R

Innovative Design Project for Real Estate (i
ERFEFIER)
FHiERETBIRIEE

Outstanding Members for the year 2017
017 FEEFGEEM

“Huangshan Cup” Award ([&IL#F | #) of
2017 Anhui Province Construction Projects
2017 FRBEERTIZ [ &I ] 5
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China New City Commercial
Development Limited
BT T R R B R AR DA

“Zhong An Jiarun Mansion” of
Henlly Enterprise Management
(Hangzhou) Co., Ltd.
BREEER(RM) BRQA
[REmREAE]

Zhejiang Zhong An Property
Co.,Ltd.
IR ERBERAR

The Four Seasons Youyuan Project
of Jade Mansion, Zhong An (FR%
EREENEAGIER)
REREREENFTERIER

Zhongan Jiankang Chanye
Development Co., Ltd
REEREXERERAA

Times Apartment (BFRAE)
of Phase VI of Vancouver City,
Zhong An

S S AN I AWNE



HUMAN RESOURCES

As at 31 December 2017, the Group employed a total of 3,115 staff (2016:
2,610 staff). In 2017, the staff cost of the Group was about RMB221.0
million (2016: about RMB197.9 million), representing an increase of about
11.7% (2016: 13.8%). The increase was mainly due to the increase in
quality staff recruited during the year under review following the continuous
development of the business. The employees’ remuneration policy was
determined by reference to factors such as remuneration information
in respect of the local market, the overall remuneration standard in the
industry, inflation level, corporate operating efficiency and performance of
the employees. The Group conducts performance appraisal on a yearly
basis for its employees, the results of which are taken into account of the
annual salary review and promotion assessment. The Group’s employees
are considered for the entitlement of annual discretionary bonus according
to certain performance conditions and appraisal results. To attract
high calibre people and solidify the management of the Group, eligible
participants (including employees of the Group) may be granted options
to subscribe for shares in the Company pursuant to the share option
scheme adopted by the Company. The Group also provides continuous
learning and training programs to its employees to enhance their skills and
knowledge, so as to maintain the attraction of the Company for talents and
their competitiveness in the market.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board determines the dividend policy of the Company according to
financial condition, operating results, capital requirements, shareholders’
equity, contractual restraint and other factors as considered relevant by the
Board.

FINANCIAL ANALYSIS

Gross profit

For the year ended 31 December 2017, the Group recorded gross profit
of about RMB1,009.9 million, representing an increase of about 61.6%
as compared to that of about RMB625.0 million in the previous year. The
increase in gross profit is the net effect of (i) the increase in recognised
revenue from the properties sold and delivered; and (i) the relatively higher
unit costs of the properties sold and delivered in the year under review.
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Other income and gains

Other income and gains increased by about 261.9% to about RMB109.3
million in 2017 from about RMB30.2 million in 2016. The increase was
primarily attributable to (i) the substantial increase in gains from sale of
investment properties with an amount of RMB62.0 million; and (i) the
increase in interest income in the year under review.

Selling and distribution expenses

Owing to the recovery of the market in 2017 and the more stringent cost
control, selling and distribution expenses increased by about 43.8% to
about RMB269.6 million in 2017 from about RMB187.5 million in 2016.
The amount of contracted sales achieved for 2017 increased by 100.8%
from that of 2016.

Administrative expenses

Administrative expenses were reduced by about 3% to about RMB302.1
million in 2017 from about RMB311.6 million in 2016, which was
substantially the same as compared with 2016.

Other expenses

Other expenses increased by about 34.2% to about RMB25.5 million in
2017 from about RMB19.0 million in 2016.

Finance costs

Finance costs increased by about 253.8% to about RMB41.4 million in
2017 from about RMB11.7 million in 2016. This increase was mainly due
to the decrease in capitalised interest of projects under construction in the
year under review.

Income tax expenses

Income tax expenses increased by about 459.0% to about RMB493.6
million in 2017 from about RMB88.3 million in 2016. The primary reasons
for the increase are: (i) there is an increase in the amount of PRC land
appreciation tax accounted for in the year under review and (ii) there is
a deferred tax expense resulted from the increase in fair value gain of
completed properties to investment properties in the year under review.
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Capital structure

As at 31 December 2017, 5,836,596,800 shares in the Company were in
issue (31 December 2016: 2,348,582,400 shares).

As at 31 December 2017, the Group had total assets of approximately
RMB22,597.7 million (2016: approximately RMB20,270.4 million) which
were financed by current liabilities of approximately RMB9,479.4 million
(2016: approximately RMB8,393.9 million), non-current liabilities of
approximately RMB4,059.1 million (2016: approximately RMB4,165.4
million) and shareholders’ equity of approximately RMB9,059.2 million
(2016: approximately RMB7,711.1 million).

As at 31 December 2017, the Group had aggregate cash and cash
equivalents and restricted cash of about RMB3,433.0 million (2016:
RMB1,442.1 million).

As at 31 December 2017, the Group’s interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings amounted to approximately RMB4,559.4 million (2016:
approximately RMB5,268.3 million). The decrease was mainly due to the
increase in repayment of bank loans and borrowings by the Group with
sufficient self-owned funds during the year under review.

The maturity profile of the borrowings was as follows:
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As at As at

31 December 31 December

2017 2016

R2017F #2016 F

12A31H 12 A31H

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T T ARETTT

Within 1 year or on demand —FRYIRENK 1,627,419 2,131,739
Over 1 year but within 2 years ZR—FELRME 2,275,000 1,439,609
Over 2 years but within 5 years ZRMEELRAF 487,000 1,247,000
Over 5 years HEFE 170,000 450,000
4,559,419 5,268,348

Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings bear interest at fixed rates and
floating rates. As at 31 December 2017, the Group’s interest-bearing bank
and other borrowings bore effective interest rates ranging from 0.90% to
8.2% per annum (2016: 2.11% to 12.00% per annum).
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The denominated amounts of the borrowings were as follows:

BRERNE2FEE BN

As at As at

31 December 31 December

2017 2016

R2017 4 #2016 F

12A31H 12 H31H

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥F T ARETTT

Renminbi AR 4,239,070 4,905,220
Canadian dollars MEXRTT - 15,422
Hong Kong dollars T - 45,097
United States dollars ETT 282,784 302,609
Japanese Yen Hot 37,565 -
4,559,419 5,268,348

For the year under review, the total cost of borrowings of the Group was
approximately RMB325.6 million (2016: approximately RMB373.6 million),
and interests with an amount of approximately RMB284.2 million (2016:
approximately RMB361.9 million) were capitalized.

The Group maintained a healthy liquidity position. The current ratio, being
a ratio of total current assets to total current liabilities, was approximately
1.30 (2016: approximately 1.26). The ratio of interest-bearing bank and
other borrowings to total assets was 0.20 (2016: 0.26). The net gearing
ratio of the Group (defined as net debt divided by total equity) was 0.12
(2016: 0.50) (net debt is defined as total interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings less cash and cash equivalent and total restricted cash).
The Group always adopts a prudent financial policy in its operation and
business development.

Capital commitments

As at 31 December 2017, the Group had capital commitments of about
RMB1,234.2 million (2016: RMB1,058.4 million) in respect of property
development expenditure. It is expected that the Group will finance such
commitments from its own funds, cash proceeds from sales and external
financing (such as bank loans).
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Contingent liabilities

As at 31 December 2017, the contingent liabilities of the Group was about
RMB3,205.4 million (2016: RMB4,124.4 million), which were guarantees
provided by the Group in favour of certain banks for the grant of mortgage
loans to buyers of the Group’s properties.

Pledge of assets

As at 31 December 2017, investment properties of the Group with carrying
value of about RMB1,732.8 million (2016: RMB2,355.7 million), properties
under development of about RMB1,577.5 milion (2016: RMB2,599.5
million), completed properties held for sale of about RMB1,899.2 million
(2016: RMB2,947.3 million), property and equipment of about RMB90.7
million (2016: RMB132.5 million), restricted cash of about RMB183.9
million (2016: RMB141.7 million) were pledged to secure the banking
facilities and other borrowings for the Group.

Foreign exchange risk

As the sales, purchase and bank borrowings of the Group in 2017 and
2016 were made mainly in Renminbi, the foreign exchange risk exposed
to the Group was relatively minor. The Group did not use foreign exchange
hedging instruments to hedge foreign exchange risks in 2017 and 2016.

Interest rate risk

The interest rates for certain portion of the Group’s loans were floating.
Upward fluctuations in interest rates will increase the interest cost of new
loans and existing loans. Having considered that certain portion of loans
are RMB loans and the stable domestic economic situation, the Group
currently does not use derivative instruments to hedge its interest rate
risks.
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Event(s) after the reporting period

On 18 March 2018, the Company, through its non-wholly owned
subsidiary (TR EERE AR AR (Hangzhou Zhongjia Investment
Management Co., Ltd.”)) (the “Purchaser”), entered into an equity transfer
agreement with an independent third party (AN B AR EZEBR A A
(Hangzhou Pengbo Daxiang Enterprise Co., Ltd.*)) (the “Vendor”) for the
acquisition from the Vendor of the entire equity interest in ¥ L H#RIREH
fRA 7] (Zhejiang Shangtuo Investment Co., Ltd.) (the “Target Co”) at the
cash consideration of RMB360 million with the ultimate aim of pursuing the
implementation of the construction and development of a project on a plot
of land (held by the wholly owned subsidiary of the Target Co) located at &
BT AN T RIUE A A% (Bl (Yu Hang Town, Shanghu
Village, Pengyu Highway (West Side)*) with a total site area of 121,894
square meters and a plot ratio of 2.18, subject to and upon the terms
contained in the equity transfer agreement. The acquisition constituted a
discloseable transaction for the Company under the Listing Rules. Details
of the acquisition were set out in the Company’s announcement dated 18
March 2018.

Save as disclosed above, there was no matter occurred that bears
significant effect to the Group between the year end date and the date of
this announcement.

Environmental, Social and Governance Aspects

The Group is always committed to maintaining the highest environmental
and social standards to ensure sustainable development of its business.
A report on the environmental, social and governance aspects is being
prepared with reference to Appendix 27 (Environmental, Social and
Governance Reporting Guide) to the Listing Rules and will be published
respectively on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange in
due course.

PROSPECTS

Looking forward to 2018, the global economy will continue toward full-
scale recovery, with the Chinese economy maintaining a stable and
upward trend under the ‘new normal’ conditions. It is believed that the
PRC government will continue to facilitate housing system reform by
combining short-term adjustment and control with long-term systems, and
by directing the classification, adjustment and control of “implementation of
policies based on a city’s situations” and “various policies for one city” to
improve the multi-layered housing supply system.
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In the current unfavorable development environment, mergers and
acquisitions may become the industry mainstream, and the concentration
in the real estate industry continue to increase. For third and fourth tiers
cities with more inventory, destocking remains the main task, though
substantially lowering prices may be difficult as first and second tiers cities
have less inventory. The Group’s major development area is the Yangtze
River Delta Region, which boasts a strong economic base and a low-cost
land bank. Benefiting from the PRC’s “One Belt One Road” and “Yangtze
River Economic Zone” strategies, it is believed that the real estate market
will remain the trend of stable development.

The Group will continue to promote its business model of ‘acquiring land
and selling products at a fair price; developing projects and collecting
sales proceeds in a quick process’. To accelerate asset turnover, it will
develop more quick-sale products targeting end-users and high value-
added, low-density residential units. It will continue to fully leverage our
strong brand name and optimise our marketing approaches and channels
to achieve rapid growth in sales. Meanwhile, we will expand our business
in first and second tiers cities as well as third and fourth tiers cities with
healthy market development by means of cooperation and acquisition,
in-depth study of regional economic markets and real estate policies, and
exploration of valuable low-lying land. The Group will also carefully analyse
consumer demand and preferences to enhance its ability to innovate and
improve existing products, progressively building mature product lines of
full competitiveness.

* For idnetification purposes only

* BT
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Corporate Governance Report
BEERRE

The board of directors (the “Board”) of the Company is committed to
maintaining good corporate governance in safeguarding the interests of
the shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”) and enhancing
Shareholders’ value.

(A) CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
PRACTICES

The Company has adopted, in so far as they are applicable, the code
provisions (the “code provisions”) of the Corporate Governance
Code (the “CG Code”) contained in Appendix 14 to the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

During the year ended 31 December 2017 (“2017”), the Board
had applied the principles of the code provisions contained in, and
complied with, the CG Code, save for the deviation from code
provision A.2.1 of the CG Code. Code provision A.2.1 states that the
responsibilities between the chairman and the chief executive officer
should be segregated and should not be performed by the same
individual. During 1 January 2017 to 1 July 2017, Mr Shi Kancheng
served as the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer of the
Company. The Board considers that the taking of the roles of both
chairman and chief executive officer by the same individual provides
the Company with consistent leadership and enables the Company
to carry out the planning and implementation of business plans and
decisions efficiently. Nevertheless, to enhance the level of corporate
governance, Mr Shi Kancheng ceased to be the Chief Executive
Officer with effect from 2 July 2017, and Ms Wang Shuiyun, an
executive Director of the Company, was appointed as the Chief
Executive Officer. As a result, the Company has complied with code
provision A.2.1 of the CG Code upon the change of the above Chief
Executive Officer.

The Board will review the management structure of the Group
from time to time and will adopt appropriate measures as may
be desirable for future development of the operating activities or
business of the Group.
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(B) DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES

TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by directors of the Company (the “Directors”) on terms
no less exacting than the required standard set out in the Model
Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers set
out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules (the “Model Code”).

Following specific enquiries by the Company, all Directors confirmed
with the Company that they had complied with the required standard
set out in the Model Code and the Company’s code of conduct
regarding Directors’ securities transactions during 2017.

(C) BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Directors during 2017 were as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr Shi Kancheng (alias Shi Zhongan)
(Chairman)

Ms Wang Shuiyun (Chief Executive Officer)
(appointed on 2 July 2017)

Ms Shen Tiaojuan

Mr Zhang Jiangang

Mr Jin Jianrong

Non-executive Director
Ms Shen Li (appointed on 22 June 2017)

Independent non-executive Directors

Professor Pei Ker Wei

Dr Loke Yu (with professional qualification in accordance
with Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules)

Mr Zhang Huagiao

During 2017, the Board had at all times met the requirements
of Rules 3.10(1) and 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules relating to the
appointment of at least three independent non-executive Directors
with at least one independent non-executive Director possessing
appropriate professional qualifications, or accounting or related
financial management expertise.
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The three independent non-executive Directors represent more than
one-third of the Board, the proportion of which is higher than what
is required by Rule 3.10A of the Listing Rules. The Board believes
there is sufficient independence element in the Board to safeguard
the interests of Shareholders.

The Board meets regularly throughout 2017 to discuss the overall
strategy, the operational and financial performance of the Group.
The Directors can attend meetings in person or through other
electronic means of communication in accordance with the articles
of association of the Company (the “Articles”).

A total of 15 Board meetings were held during 2017. The individual
attendance of each Director was as follows:
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Number of attendance

HERE
Mr Shi Kancheng FERAX 55 15
Ms Wang Shuiyun ERELZ L 5
Ms Shen Tiaojuan IARIB X+ 15
Mr Zhang Jiangang SR EX 8 SE A 12
Mr Jin Jianrong SREEEE 12
Ms Shen Li LB+ 6
Professor Pei Ker Wei BREHE 15
Dr Loke Yu R ARIE L 13
Mr Zhang Huagjiao SRIEB A 12
* Ms Wang Shuiyun and Ms Shen Li had attended all the Board meetings - EARER T RILBZENFIA201747 A2

during their tenures as Directors since their appointments as Directors with
effect from 2 July 2017 and 22 June 2017 respectively.

All Directors at that time had attended the annual general meeting of
the Company (the “AGM”) held on 8 June 2017.

The Board operates and exercises its power in accordance with the
Articles. In addition, the Board has also specifically resolved that all
transactions/contracts/other matters of the Group that are subject
to the disclosure requirement in accordance with the Listing Rules
should be approved by the Board in advance.

The Company has received from each of its independent non-
executive Directors an annual confirmation of his independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Board considers
that all the independent non-executive Directors are independent
in accordance with the guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules.
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All Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous
professional development to develop and refresh their knowledge
and skills. During 2017, each of Mr Shi Kancheng, Ms Wang
Shuiyun, Ms Shen Tiaojuan, Mr Zhang Jiangang, Mr Jin Jianrong,
Ms Shen Li, Professor Pei Ker Wei and Dr Loke Yu had attended
seminars and/or training sessions. Mr Zhang Huagiao had read
materials and updates relating to the latest development of the
Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory requirements. The
Board considered the continuous professional development
participated and undertaken by the Directors are sufficient to
discharge their duties.

The Company had arranged liability insurance for Directors and
senior management officers of the Company with appropriate
coverage in respect of legal action against them arising from their
duties performed.

Save as disclosed in the section of “Biographical Details of Directors
and Senior Management” in this annual report, there are no
relationships (including financial, business, family or other material/
relevant relationships) among members of the Board.

Functions of the Board and the Senior
Management

The Board is responsible for providing effective and responsible
leadership for the Group. The Board is responsible for formulating
the Group’s overall objectives and strategies, monitoring and
evaluating its operating and financial performance and reviewing
the corporate governance standard of the Group. It also decides
on matters such as annual and interim results, accounting
policies, proposal of declaration of dividends, major transactions,
appointment or re-appointment of directors after considering,
when necessary and appropriate, the recommendations from the
committees established by the Board.

Senior management is delegated by the Board with the responsibility
for the execution of the business plans and strategies adopted by
the Board, assisting the Board in the preparation of the financial
statements for approval by the Board, the implementation of
adequate procedures put forward by the Board and/or the
committees established by the Board and reporting regularly to and
seeking approval from the Board on important matters from time to
time.
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Appointment, re-election and removal of
Directors

The Articles provide that any Director appointed by the Board to fill
a casual vacancy in the Board or as an additional member of the
Board shall hold office only until the next following general meeting
of the members of the Company and shall then be eligible for re-
election at such meeting.

In accordance with the Articles, at each AGM, one third of the
Directors for the time being, shall retire from office by rotation
provided that every Director (including those appointed for a specific
term) shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every
three years and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election. The
members of the Company may, at any general meetings convened
and held in accordance with the Articles, remove a Director by
ordinary resolution at any time before the expiration of his/her period
of office notwithstanding anything contrary in the Articles or in any
agreement between the Company and such Director and may by
ordinary resolution elect another person in his/her stead.

Board Committees

The Board has established four committees and has delegated
various responsibilities to the committees, including the
remuneration committee (the “Remuneration Committee”), the
nomination committee (the “Nomination Committee”), the audit
committee (the “Audit Committee”) and the governance committee
(the “Governance Committee”). All the Board committees perform
their distinct roles in accordance with their respective terms of
reference which are available for inspection by Shareholders on
the Company’s website. The Board committees are provided with
sufficient resources to discharge their duties and, upon reasonable
request, are able to seek independent professional advice in
appropriate circumstances, at the Company’s expense.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE
OFFICER

During 2017, the role of the Chairman of the Company was
performed by Mr Shi Kancheng and he ceased to be the Chief
Executive Officer since 2 July 2017. Ms Wang Shuiyun was
appointed as the Chief Executive Officer of the Company, with effect
from 2 July 2017.

The Chairman had held a meeting with all independent non-
executive Directors in the absence of executive Directors. No
specific or other issues had been raised or discussed as it had
been concluded that all issues which would be discussed had been
properly dealt with in the meetings of the Board.
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(E) INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE

(F)

DIRECTORS

The independent non-executive Directors have been appointed for a
specific term of office of two years.

All independent non-executive Directors possess extensive
academic, professional and industry expertise and management
experience and have provided their professional advice to the
Board.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The chairman of the Remuneration Committee is Professor Pei Ker
Wei (an independent non-executive Director) and the members
are Ms Shen Tiaojuan (an executive Director) and Dr Loke Yu (an
independent non-executive Director).

The Company has adopted written terms of reference for
the Remuneration Committee. The role and function of the
Remuneration Committee of the Company include the following:

(@ to make recommendations to the Board on the Company’s
policy and structure for all remuneration of Directors and
senior management and on the establishment of a formal and
transparent procedure for developing remuneration policy;

(b)  to have the delegated responsibility to determine the specific
remuneration packages of all executive Directors and senior
management, including benefits in kind, pension rights
and compensation payments, including any compensation
payable for loss or termination of their office or appointment,
and make recommendations to the Board of the remuneration
of non-executive Directors;

(c) to review and approve performance-based remuneration by
reference to corporate goals and objectives resolved by the
Board from time to time;

(d)  toreview and approve the compensation payable to executive
Directors and senior management in connection with any loss
or termination of their office or appointment to ensure that
such compensation is determined in accordance with relevant
contractual terms and that such compensation is otherwise
fair and not excessive for the Company;
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(e)  to review and approve compensation arrangements relating
to dismissal or removal of Directors for misconduct to ensure
that such arrangements are determined in accordance
with relevant contractual terms and that any compensation
payment is otherwise reasonable and appropriate;

) to ensure that no Director or any of his/her associates is
involved in deciding his/her own remuneration; and

(9  toreview and approve the remuneration report of the Group, if
any.

The basis of the emolument payable to the Directors (including
independent non-executive Directors) is determined with reference
to the range of prevailing directors’ fee for director of listed
companies in Hong Kong and is subject to the approval of the
Remuneration Committee. The Remuneration Committee will
consider factors such as salaries paid by comparable companies,
time commitment, experience and responsibilities of the Directors,
employment conditions elsewhere in the Group and desirability of
performance-based remuneration.

Three meetings of the Remuneration Committee were held during
2017. The Remuneration Committee had reviewed the remuneration
policy of the Group, assessed the performance of all Directors and
their terms of employment under their respective service contracts
and (if applicable) their renewal. In fulfilling its roles and functions, the
Remuneration Committee had ensured that no Director or any of his
associates was involved in deciding his/her own remuneration. The
individual attendance of each member was as follows:
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Number of attendance

HERE
Professor Pei Ker Wei BREHE 3
Dr Loke Yu B MIEL 3
Ms Shen Tiaojuan RS Rt 3
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(G) NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The chairman of the Nomination Committee is Mr Shi Kancheng (an

executive Director) and the members are Professor Pei Ker Wei, Dr

Loke Yu and Mr Zhang Huagiao (all are independent non- executive

Directors).

The Company has adopted written terms of reference for the

Nomination Committee. The role and function of the Nomination

Committee are as follows:

(@)

to review the structure, size and composition (including
the skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board at least
annually;

to identify individuals suitably qualified to become members
of the Board and may select individuals nominated for
directorship;

to review the board diversity policy of the Company (the
“Diversity Policy”) and the progress on achieving the
objectives set for implementing the Diversity Policy, and
to make disclosure of its review results in the corporate
governance report of the Company’s annual report;

to assess the independence of the independent non-
executive Directors;

to make recommendations to the Board on relevant matters
relating to, among others, the appointment or re-appointment
of directors and succession planning for directors (in
particular, the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer of the
Company);

to give full consideration to, among others, the skills and
expertise required from members of the Board and the
relevant requirements of the Listing Rules with regard to
Directors and such like in the discharge of the Nomination
Committee’s duties;
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in respect of any proposed service contracts to be entered
into by any members of the Group with its director or
proposed director, which require the prior approval of the
shareholders of the Company at general meeting under
Rule 13.68 of the Listing Rules, to review and provide
recommendations to the shareholders of the Company (other
than shareholders who are directors with a material interest in
the relevant service contracts and their respective associates)
as to whether the terms of the service contracts are fair and
reasonable and whether such service contracts are in the
interests of the Company and the shareholders as a whole,
and to advise shareholders on how to vote;

to ensure that on appointment to the Board, non-executive
Directors (including independent non-executive Directors)
receive a formal letter of appointment setting out what is
expected of them in terms of time commitment, committee
service and involvement outside meetings of the Board;

to conduct exit interviews with any Director upon his/her
resignation in order to ascertain the reasons for his/her
departure; and

to consider other matters, as defined or assigned by the
Board from time to time.

determination and review by the Board during 2017 of the

Diversity Policy involved the consideration of various elements

including gender, age, culture, qualification, ability, work experience,

leadership and professional ethics of the candidates and against

the objective criteria set out by the Board. The Board recognizes

the importance of having a diverse Board and considers the above

esse

ntial elements (which have been taken into account when

determining the existing composition of the Board) in maintaining

a competitive advantage and achieving sustainable growth for the

Group.
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The nomination procedures are as follows: candidates for
directorship are selected by the Nomination Committee subject to
the review and approval of the Board in accordance with the Articles.
The criteria adopted by the Nomination Committee in selecting and
approving candidates for directorship are based on the Diversity
Policy including whether the candidates are appropriate in terms
of experience and the potential contribution to the Group and with
reference to the candidates’ professional knowledge, industry
experience, personal ethics, integrity and skills.

Four meetings of the Nomination Committee were held during
2017. The Nomination Committee nominated, and the Board
recommended the directors to be re-elected at the annual general
meeting in 2017 and reviewed the structure, size and composition of
the Board.

The individual attendance of each member of the Nomination
Committee was as follows:
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Number of attendance

HERE
Mr Shi Kancheng FERAX 55 4
Professor Pei Ker Wei BREHR 4
Dr Loke Yu R /g iE + 4
Mr Zhang Huagjiao SRIEFE S 4

(H) AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the Group was charged
RMB2,320,000 for the services provided by the Company’s
Independent Auditor, Ernst & Young. Details of the services and their
relevant fees are as follows:

For audit of annual results for the RMB1,900,000
year ended 31 December 2017

For review of interim results for the
six months ended 30 June 2017

RMB420,000
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() AUDIT COMMITTEE

The

chairman of the Audit Committee is Dr Loke Yu and the

members are Professor Pei Ker Wei and Mr Zhang Huagiao. All

members of the Audit Committee are independent non-executive

Directors.

The role and functions of the Audit Committee include the following:

(@)

48 “hong An Real Estate Limited

to be primarily responsible for making recommendations to
the Board on the appointment, reappointment and removal
of the external auditor, and to approve the remuneration and
other terms of engagement of the external auditor, and any
questions of resignation or dismissal of the external auditor;

to review and monitor the external auditor’s independence
and objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit process in
accordance with applicable standards;

to discuss before the audit commences, with the external
auditors the nature and scope of the audit and reporting
obligations and ensure co-ordination where more than one
audit firm is involved;

to develop and implement policy on engaging an
external auditor to supply non-audit services. The Audit
Committee should report to the Board, identify and make
recommendations any matters where action or improvement
is needed. The Audit Committee should also review the non-
auditor services provided by the external auditor on an annual
basis, to ensure that the independence of such external
auditor will not be affected;

to monitor integrity, accuracy and fairness of the Company’s
financial statements and annual report and accounts, half-year
report and, if prepared for publication, quarterly reports, and
to review significant financial reporting judgments contained in
them;
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to review, in draft form and before submission to the Board,

the Company’s annual report and accounts, half-year report

and, if prepared for publication, quarterly report, focus

particularly on:

vi.

vii.

Viii.

X.

any changes in accounting policies and practices;
major judgmental areas;

significant adjustments resulting from the audit;

the going concern assumptions and any qualifications;

compliance with accounting standards;

compliance with the Listing Rules and other legal
requirements in relation to financial reporting;

the fairness and reasonableness of any connected
transaction and the impact of such transaction
on the profitability of the Group and whether such
connected transactions (if any) have been carried out in
accordance with the terms of the agreement governing
such transactions;

whether all relevant items have been adequately
disclosed in the Group’s financial statements and
whether the disclosures give a fair view of the Group’s
financial conditions;

any significant or unusual items that are, or may need to
be, reflected in such reports and accounts; and

the cashflow position of the Group;

and to provide advice and comments thereon to the Board;

in regard to (e) and (f) above:

M

(i)

members of the Audit Committee should liaise with the
Board and the senior management of the Group and
the Audit Committee must meet, at least twice a year,
with the Company’s auditors; and

the Audit Committee should consider any significant
or unusual items that are, or may need to be, reflected
in such reports and accounts. It should give due
consideration to any matters that have been raised by
the Company’s staff responsible for the accounting,
the financial reporting and internal audit functions,
compliance officer or auditors;
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HE

to discuss problems and reservations arising from the interim
and final audits, and any matters the auditors may wish to
discuss (in the absence of management where necessary);

to review the Company’s financial controls and, unless
expressly addressed by a separate board risk committee, or
by the Board itself, to review the Company’s internal control
and risk management systems;

to discuss the internal control and risk management systems
with management to ensure that management has performed
its duty to have effective systems. This discussion should
include the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications
and experience, training programmes and budget of the
Company’s accounting and financial reporting function;

to review the Company’s statement on internal control
systems (where one is included in the annual report) prior to
endorsement by the Board;

to consider major investigations findings on internal control
matters as delegated by the Board or on its own initiative and
management’s response to these findings;

where an internal audit function exists, to review the internal
audit programmes, to ensure co-ordination between the
internal and external auditors, and to ensure that the internal
audit function is adequately resourced and has appropriate
standing within the Company and to review and monitor the
effectiveness;

to review the Group’s financial and accounting policies and
practices;

to conduct exit interviews with any director, manager, financial
controller or internal audit manager upon their resignation in
order to ascertain the reasons for his departure;

to prepare work reports for presentation to the Board and to

prepare summary of work reports for inclusion in the Group’s
interim and annual reports;
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to consider the appointment of any person to be an Audit
Committee member, a company secretary, auditors and
accounting staff either to fill a casual vacancy or as an
additional Audit Committee member, company secretary,
auditors and accounting staff or dismissal of any of them;

to consider the major findings of internal investigations and
management’s response;

to review the external auditor’'s management letter, any
material queries raised by the auditor to management about
the accounting records, financial accounts or systems of
control and management’s response;

to ensure that the Board will provide a timely response to the
issues raised in the external auditor’'s management letter;

to report to the Board on the matters in the code provisions
contained in the Corporate Governance Code set out in
Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules (as amended from time to
time) and/or any of the matters set out above as well as the
Audit Committee’s decisions or recommendations, unless
there are legal or regulatory restrictions on their ability to
do so (such as restriction on disclosure due to regulatory
requirements);

to review arrangements employees of the Company can use,
in confidence, to raise concerns about possible improprieties
in financial reporting, internal control or other matters. The
Audit Committee should ensure that proper arrangements are
in place for fair and independent investigation of these matters
and for appropriate follow-up action;

to act as the key representative body for overseeing the
Company’s relations with the external auditor; and

to consider other matters, as defined or assigned by the
Board from time to time.
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SREARE
A total of three meetings of the Audit Committee were held during 20174 BEREEGHBITZREE -
2017. The work performed by the Audit Committee during 2017 BEZZEER2017T FETHNIIEBRENT
included the following: BIE
- reviewed the annual report and results announcement of the —  FEEARFEZ2016F12A31HIE
Company for the year ended 31 December 2016; FENTREEENE
- reviewed the interim report and interim results announcement — EEAQAREZE2017F6 A30H IE/N
of the Company for the six months ended 30 June 2017; A AR EIRE R EEE RS
- reviewed the accounting principles and practices adopted by - BHAEEMMEAND TR KBS
the Group and other financial reporting matters; MEMPERRET
- reviewed the results of external audit and had discussion with — EHINPEEAER - W E (I ERE
external auditors on any significant findings and audit issues; BRBEFTEEEINDIZEENEIT
ol
- reviewed the results of internal audit and had discussion with —  EFRIBEZOER  WTHEMAEKR
internal auditors on any significant findings and internal control IR N2 A Bt = B A P AR K
issues; AT TET R
- discussed with the external auditors before the audit —  REZHREREINEZ A R E R
commenced, the nature and scope of the audit and the MNEERSEARSEBER &
respective relevant issues; and
- considered and approved the service contract of the external —  ZEERIEHZ2017F12 831 H1E
auditors for the year ended 31 December 2017. FEMINEZERIREEL -
The individual attendance of each member of the Audit Committee ERZEeKKENEREFERNT
was as follows:
Number of attendance
HERE
Dr Loke Yu FEEME L 3
Professor Pei Ker Wei BREHR 3
Mr Zhang Huagiao RACRB L 3
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(J) GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE

The Company has set up a governance committee (the
“Governance Committee”) and the terms of reference adopted
complied with the requirement of the Listing Rules.

The chairman of the Governance Committee is Mr Shi Kancheng (an
executive Director). The remaining members are Ms Shen Tiaojuan
(an executive Director), Mr Zhang Jiangang (an executive Director),
Professor Pei Ker Wei (an independent non-executive Director) and
Mr Zhang Huagiao (an independent non-executive Director).

The role and functions of the Governance Committee include the
following:

(@)  to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices
on corporate governance and make recommendations to the
Board;

(b)  to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of directors and senior management;

(c)  to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices
on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(d) to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and
directors; and

(e)  toreview the Company’s compliance with the code provisions
under the CG Code and the disclosure in the Corporate
Governance Report.

Two meetings of the Governance Committee were held during
2017. The Governance Committee had reviewed the effectiveness of
the policies and practices on corporate governance for the Group,
discussed and reviewed the Board’s and the Group’s compliance
with the code provisions under the CG Code and the prevailing
Listing Rules during 2017.

W)
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ERWE

The individual attendance of each member of the Governance
Committee was as follows:

ERREEEKEBNERHFERMT

Number of attendance

HERE
Mr Shi Kancheng FERAX 55 2
Ms Shen Tiaojuan IARIB 2+ 2
Mr Zhang Jiangang ok BR8] S A 2
Professor Pei Ker Wei BREHE 2
Mr Zhang Huagjiao R AL 2

The terms of reference of the Governance Committee are available
on the Company’s website.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY IN
PREPARING THE ACCOUNTS

The Directors acknowledge that they are responsible for the
preparation of accounts which give a true and fair view of the
Company and the Group.

The statement of the auditors of the Company about their reporting
responsibilities on the accounts of the Group is set out in the section
headed “Independent Auditors’ Report” in this annual report.

INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK
MANAGEMENT

The Board is responsible for maintaining sound and effective
internal control and risk management systems over the Group’s
asset and shareholders’ interests, as well as for reviewing such
systems’ effectiveness on an annual basis. Such systems are
designed to provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against
misstatement or loss, and to manage risks of failure in the Group’s
operational systems. The systems include a well-established
organisational structure with clearly defined lines of responsibility
and authority, which is designed to safeguard assets from
inappropriate use, maintain proper accounts and ensure compliance
with applicable laws and regulations. Regular reviews and internal
audits are carried out to monitor compliance with internal control
procedures focusing on those areas of the Group’s activities with the
greatest perceived risk.
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For the year ended 31 December 2017, the Board along with the
audit committee have reviewed the effectiveness of the Group’s
internal control and risk management systems and was of the view
that the Group’s internal control and risk management systems
were effective and adequate. Such review had covered all material
controls including financial, operational and compliance controls and
risk management functions.

The Board and the audit committee have also reviewed the
adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and experience, training
programmes and budget of its accounting, internal audit and
financial reporting functions for 2017 and are satisfied with the
results.

The Group also adopts procedures to manage the handling and
dissemination of inside information, so as to ensure that inside
information remains confidential until the disclosure of such
information is appropriately approved, and the dissemination of such
information is efficiently and consistently made.

(M) COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr Chan Hon Hung was company secretary of the Company (the
“Company Secretary”) for the year ended 31 December 2017,
Mr Chan had taken no less than 15 hours of relevant professional
training. Mr Chan resigned from the position of Company Secretary
with effect from 8 January 2018.

As at the date of this report, Ms Wong Sau Ping was the new
Company Secretary and has remained to hold the position since
the date of such appointment on 21 March 2018. The biography of
Ms Wong is set out in the section headed “Biographical Details of
Directors and Senior Management” of this annual report. Ms Wong
is currently a senior manager of the Listing Services Department of
TMF Hong Kong Limited (a global corporate services provider). The
primary contact of Ms Wong in the Company is Mr You Defeng, the
chief financial officer of the Group.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Convening extraordinary general meeting and putting
forward proposals at Shareholders’ meetings

There are no provisions allowing Shareholders to propose new
resolutions at the extraordinary general meetings under the Cayman
Islands Companies Law (2012 Revision). Pursuant to article 64 of the
Articles, an extraordinary general meeting shall be convened on the
written requisition of one or more Shareholders made to Directors
or the Secretary specifying the objects of the meeting, provided that
such requisitionists held as at the date of deposit of the requisition
not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company which
carries the right of voting at general meetings of the Company. Such
meeting shall be held within 2 months after the deposit of such
requisition. If the Board does not within 21 days from the date of
deposit of the requisition proceed duly to convene the meeting, the
requisitionist(s) themselves may convene the extraordinary general
meeting in the same manner and all reasonable expenses incurred
by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be
reimbursed to them by the Company.

Pursuant to article 113 of the Articles, if a shareholder, who is
entitled to attend and vote at the relevant general meeting, wishes to
nominate a person (not being the nominating shareholder) to stand
for election as a Director, he or she should lodge to the Secretary
notice in writing of the intention to propose a person for election as a
Director and notice in writing by that person of his or her willingness
to be so elected at least 7 clear days before the date of such
general meeting and the period for lodgement of such notices shall
commence no earlier than the day after the despatch of the notice
of such general meeting appointed for such election and shall be at
least 7 clear days in length.

Detailed procedures for shareholders to propose a person for
election as a Director are available on the Company’s website.

The Company welcomes enquiries from its Shareholders. The Board
or designated senior management or the Company Secretary will
review Shareholders’ enquiries on a regular basis. Specific enquiries
and suggestions by Shareholders can be sent in writing to the
Board or the Company Secretary by e-mail at ir@zafc.com or at the
address of the Company’s head office in the PRC or principal place
of business in Hong Kong.
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(O) CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

On 27 September 2017, the Company had amended and restated
its memorandum of association to reflect the increase of the
Company’s authorised share capital to HK$1,000 million. Saved
as disclosed, no amendments were made to the constitutional
documents of the Company in 2017.

(P) INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company attaches great importance to communication with
the Shareholders. A number of means are used to promote greater
understanding and dialogue with the Shareholders. The means
of access includes the release by the Company of the various
corporate communication of the Company via the website of the
Stock Exchange and the website of the Company (http://www.
zafc.com). Shareholders are encouraged by the Company to
attend general meetings of the Company where the Chairman of
the Company and other members of the Board and (if appropriate)
the auditors of the Company are available to answer questions.
Shareholders are encouraged to commmunicate with the Company
for any enquiries in relation to the affairs of the Group. Shareholders
may contact the Company in writing to the Company’s head office in
the PRC or principal place of business in Hong Kong or by e-mail at
ir@zafc.com.

For and on behalf of the Board
Zhong An Real Estate Limited

Shi Kancheng
Chairman

The People’s Republic of China, 21 March 2018
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EERGREEAEBERE

DIRECTORS
Executive Directors

Shi Kancheng (alias Shi Zhongan), aged 55, is the Chairman and an
executive Director of Zhong An Real Estate Limited (the “Company”). He
has also been the Chief Executive Officer of the Company until 1 July 2017.
He also serves as the chairman of the nomination committee and the
governance committee of the Company. Mr Shi is also the Chairman and
the non-executive director of China New City Commercial Development
Limited (“China New City”), a subsidiary of the Company, whose shares are
listed on the Stock Exchange. Mr Shi also holds directorships in certain of
the Company’s subsidiaries. Mr Shi is primarily responsible for the strategic
and development planning of the Group. He also supervises project
planning and the overall business operation. Mr Shi joined the Group since
the establishment of the first member of the Group, Zhong An Group Co.,
Ltd. (formerly known as Zhejiang Zhong’an Property Development Co.,
Ltd.) (“Zhong An Group”). Mr Shi served as a tax officer in the finance
and revenue bureau of Xiaoshan District of Hangzhou (formerly known as
Xiaoshan City) and the general manager of Hangzhou Xiaoshan Milkyway
Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. (“Milkyway Real Estate”). Mr Shi
graduated from an Executive Master of Business Administration program
co-organized by the State University of Arizona and Shanghai National
Accounting College in June 2007. From 2005 to 2006, Mr Shi completed
a program for executive officers, focusing on globalization and real estate
developers, co-organized by Harvard University, Tsinghua University, The
University of Hong Kong and the United States Military Academy. In the
same period, Mr Shi completed a program for presidents of real estate
companies organized by Zhejiang University. Mr Shi obtained a doctorate
degree in business administration jointly offered by Shanghai Advanced
Institute of Finance (SAIF) and the W. P. Carey School of Business of
Arizona State University (ASU), United States of America in May 2017. Mr
Shi has over 25 years of experience in property development and property
investment. Mr Shi is the sole director and the sole shareholder of Whole
Good Management Limited, which is the controlling shareholder of the
Company.

Wang Shuiyun, aged 52, was appointed as an executive Director and
Chief Executive Officer of the Company on 2 July 2017. She graduated
from the Zhejiang Agricultural University (1T 23 KX2) (now known as
the Zhejiang University (/T A2)), with a master degree in agriculture
in 1989. She holds a certificate of senior economist (B ARXALERT). Ms
Wang started working at the Zhejiang Province branch of the Agricultural
Bank of China (‘ABC”) (FF Bl & ZIRITHTTE 577) (“Zhejiang Branch”) in
November 1989. She had served successively as a deputy director of the
General Office (##/2ZE&IE1E), a deputy director of the General Office of
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

the Community Party Committee (2 Z it /A = &l = 1T), a deputy director (in
charge) of the international business department (B8 S 74282 £ (T (X4
T %)) and a director of the international business department (85 3 #4520
F{E) at the Zhejiang Branch, and as a secretary of the Communist Party
Committee (£Z £ 70) and the Chief Executive (174 at the Taizhou City
branch of the ABC in the Zhejiang Province (Bl & 2RI E &N H
317) since September 1998. Ms Wang had worked successively as an
assistant to the Chief Executive (7 E)#2 ), a member of the Communist
Party Committee (2% Z ) and the Alternate Chief Executive (gl77X) at
the Shanghai City branch of the ABC (FF B 223817 E/&M £ 77), and as a
member of the Communist Party Committee (2% Z &) and the Alternate
Chief Executive (8]7T71) at the Zhejiang Branch since July 2007. She was
the head (#1) of the preparatory group (£{#%4H) of the Vancouver branch
of the ABC (R EI 2 2 R1TREEEH17) from January 2015 to June 2017.

Shen Tiaojuan, aged 55, is an executive Director of the Company
and also holds directorships in certain of its subsidiaries. Ms Shen also
serves as a member of the remuneration committee and the governance
committee of the Company and previously served as the vice president of
the Company for many years. She is primarily responsible for the financial
operation and financial management of the Group. She joined the Group
in December 1997. Prior to joining the Group, Ms Shen was the chief
accountant of White Swan Industry Co., Ltd. from 1995 to 1997, the chief
accountant of Hangzhou Hualing Electrics Co., Ltd. in 1994, and the chief
accountant and finance manager of Hangzhou Guanghua Chemical Fibres
Factory from 1980 to 1993. Ms Shen has 36 years of experience in the
financial operation of property development.

Zhang Jiangang, aged 48, is an executive Director and a member of the
governance committee of the Company. He is also the general manager
of Hangzhou Zhong’an Service Holding Co., Ltd. (a subsidiary of the
Company) and also holds directorship in a subsidiary of the Company.
He is primarily in charge of strategy implementation and operation
management. Mr Zhang joined the Group in March 2003. He served
as the general manager and vice president of Zhong An Group and the
general manager and assistant to the Chairman of Anhui Zhong An Real
Estate Co., Ltd. (a subsidiary of the Company). From 1995 to 2003, Mr
Zhang served as the office manager, assistant to general manager and
vice general manager of Milkkyway Real Estate. Mr Zhang has 23 years of
experience in construction and property development.

Jin Jianrong, aged 49, has been appointed as an executive Director with
effect from 1 June 2016 and is the co-president of the Company. He is
also the director of certain subsidiaries of the Company in the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC”). He is in charge of engineering management
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of the projects of the Group. He joined the Group in September 2004.
Prior to joining the Group, he was the deputy general manager in charge of
construction matters of Zhejiang Lvdu Real Estate Development Company
from 20083 to 2004, and a construction manager of Zhejiang Wanxiang
Real Estate Company from 1997 to 2002. He was responsible for project
management of Hangzhou Xiaoshan Milkyway Real Estate Development
Co., Ltd. from 1995 to 1997, and was a project manager and worker
of Xuxian Construction Co., Ltd. from 1987 to 1994. Mr Jin received a
bachelor’s degree in civil engineering and management from the Sichuan
University in 2006. He has about 30 years of experience in operation and
management of property companies.

Shen Li, aged 45, was appointed as a non-executive Director of the
Company on 22 June 2017. She graduated from the International Business
School of the Shanghai University (/& X2 BB 7 £365 ), with a bachelor
degree in science (L224) in 1995. Ms Shen had worked as a staff
accountant and an audit senior at Price Waterhouse Da Hua CPAs, as
a manager at General Motors (China) Investment Co. Ltd., and as the
Controller of Asia Operations at Chrysler Asia Operations. She was the
chief executive officer of Credit China Holdings Limited (“Credit China”)
(now known as Credit China FinTech Holdings Limited, a company
listed on the GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Stock
Exchange”) (Stock Code: 8207)) from January 2010 to July 2014. She was
an executive director of Credit China from January 2010 to June 2015. Ms
Shen has been working as the president of corporate strategic investment
of CVP Financial Group Limited since April 2016. Ms Shen serves as an
executive director of Value Convergence Holdings Limited, a company
listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 821) since March
2018.

Independent non-executive Directors

Pei Ker Wei (PhD), aged 61, was appointed an independent non-
executive Director in October 2007. He also serves as the chairman of
the remuneration committee and a member of the audit committee, the
nomination committee and the governance committee of the Company. Dr
Pei worked as assistant professor, associate professor and professor at
Arizona State University, chairman of North America Chinese Accounting
Professors Academy and chairman of global commission of American
Accounting Academy. He is currently the Executive Dean of China at the
W.P. Carey School of Business of Arizona State University, the U.S. and a
member of the American Accounting Academy. Dr Pei is also serving as an
independent non-executive director of Want Want China Holdings Limited
and Zhejiang Expressway Co., Ltd., both companies whose shares are
listed on the Stock Exchange, and a director of Baoshan Iron & Steel Co.,
Ltd., a company whose shares are listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange.
Dr Pei received his MBA from the Southern lllinois University, the U.S. in
1981 and PhD from the University of North Texas, the U.S. in 1986.
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Dr Loke Yu (alias Loke Hoi Lam), aged 68, was appointed an independent
non-executive Director on 30 June 2009. He also serves as the chairman
of the audit committee and a member of the remuneration committee
and the nomination committee of the Company. Dr Loke is currently the
company secretary of Minth Group Limited, and serves as an independent
non-executive director of Chiho Environmental Group Limited, China Fire
Safety Enterprise Group Limited, Lamtex Holdings Limited (formerly known
as China New Energy Power Group Limited), China Household Holdings
Limited, Matrix Holdings Limited, SCUD Group Limited, China Beidahuang
Industry Group Holdings Limited (formerly hnown as Sino Distillery
Group Limited and as Bio-Dynamic Group Limited), Tianjin Development
Holdings Limited, Tianhe Chemicals Group Limited, V1 Group Limited
(formerly known Vodone Limited), Forebase International Holdings
Limited, Hang Sang (Siu Po) International Holding Company Limited,
Hong Kong Resources Holdings Company Limited and Zhenro Properties
Group Limited, the shares of which companies are all listed on the Stock
Exchange. He had also served as an independent non-executive director
of Winfair Investment Company Limited during April 2007 to April 2018. He
is a fellow of The Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales,
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, The Hong Kong
Institute of Directors and The Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries
and Administrators. He holds MBA from the University Teknologi Malaysia
and DBA from the University of South Australia. He has over 42 years of
experience in accounting and auditing for private and public companies,
financial consultancy and corporate management.

Zhang Huagqiao, aged 55, was appointed an independent non-executive
Director on 1 January 2013. He also serves as a member of the audit
committee, the nomination committee and the governance committee
of the Company. Mr Zhang is the Chairman and executive director of
China Smartpay Group Holdings Limited (formerly known as Oriental City
Group Holdings Limited), a company whose shares are listed on the Stock
Exchange. He is currently an independent non-executive director of China
Huirong Financial Holdings Limited, Fosun International Limited, Logan
Property Holdings Company Limited, Luye Pharma Group Ltd. and Wanda
Hotel Development Company Limited, and a non-executive director of
Boer Power Holdings Limited, the shares of which companies are all listed
on the Stock Exchange, and an independent non-executive director of
China Rapid Finance Limited (CRFL), its American Depositary Shares are
listed on the New York Stock Exchange. He was also an independent non-
executive director of Yancoal Australia Limited (a company listed on the
Australian Stock Exchange) during the period from May 2014 to January
2018, and served as an independent non-executive director of Sinopec
Qilfield Service Corporation (formerly known as Sinopec Yizheng Chemical
Fibre Company Limited) during February 2015 to March 2018. He was
the Chairman of Guangzhou Wansui Micro Credit Co., Ltd. between June
2011 and July 2012 and an executive director and chief executive officer
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of Man Sang International Limited, a company whose shares are listed
on the Stock Exchange, between September 2011 and April 2012. From
June 1999 to April 2006, Mr Zhang had worked with UBS Securities Asia
Limited and served as a managing director and the co-head and head of
its China research team. Prior to this, Mr Zhang had worked as a principal
staff member with the People’s Bank of China in Beijing between July
1986 and January 1989. Mr Zhang graduated from the Graduate School
of the People’s Bank of China with a master’s degree in economics in
1986 and from the Australian National University with a master’s degree in
economics in January 1991. Mr Zhang has about 27 years of experience in
the financial sector.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

You Defeng, aged 42, was appointed as the chief financial officer of the
Group on 28 March 2018. He has about 20 years of experience in the
real estate and construction industry, and is historically responsible for the
matters relating to capital markets of listed companies and accumulates
extensive experience of financial management and operation of capital
markets in the industry. Mr You worked at the headquarters of Central
China of China Poly Group from August 1998 to March 2001. Since joining
Greenland Hong Kong Holdings Limited (Stock code:337, formerly known
as SPG Land) in March 2001, he held the positions of the finance manager
and finance director of the subsidiaries of such company and financial
controller, chief financial officer and executive director of such group. Mr
You graduated from Shanghai University of Finance and Economics and
obtained a master’s degree in business administration from China Europe
International Business School. He is a member of the Institute of Financial
Accountants, United Kingdom (AFA), a member of Australia Institute of
Public Accountants (MIPA) and a qualified accountant in the PRC.

Sun Zhihua, aged 39, is the chief operating officer of the Group and the
officer of the president office of the Group. He is in charge of the operation
management of the Group. Mr Sun joined the Group in July 2001 and had
held various administrative posts of various subsidiaries of the Company.
Mr Sun received a bachelor degree in technological economy from
College of Business Administration of Zhejiang University of Technology
in 2001. He has 16 years of experience in property administration
and management, and is proficient in the whole process of project
management and the establishment of structure, authority, systems and
procedure at company level as well as the planning of strategies, proposals
and incentive system.

Pan Lei, aged 34, is the chief marketing officer of the Group. He is in

charge of the marketing of the Group. Mr Pan joined the Group in June
2014. Prior to joining the Group, he was the sales director of a property
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developer in Jiangsu Province from March 2012 to May 2014. He had been
the planning director of subsidiaries of Top Spring International Holdings
Limited, a company whose shares are listed on the Stock Exchange,
from May 2010 to February 2012 and Shenzhen World Union Property
Consultant Co., Ltd., a company whose shares are listed on the Shenzhen
Stock Exchange, from March 2008 to March 2010. Mr Pan received a
bachelor degree in management from Qingdao University in 2005. He has
11 years of experience in property marketing.

Dong Shuixiao, aged 53, is the executive director and chief executive
officer of China New City. Mr Dong holds directorships of certain
subsidiaries of China New City. He is responsible for administration and
general project management of China New City and its subsidiaries. He
joined the Group since 1997. He served as the deputy general manager
(in charge of finance) in Anhui Zhong An Real Estate Development Co.,
Ltd. in January 2003. He was responsible for the on-site technology
supervision, construction and cost control of the project in Yisheng in
February 2004. In March 2006, he was promoted as the deputy manager
of Zhong An Group, and in charge of financial operation. From 2007 to
November 2012, he served as the general manager of Anhui Zhong An
Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. and certain subsidiaries of the Group in
Anhui Province. From December 2012 to June 2015, he had been serving
as vice president and holding directorships of certain subsidiaries of the
Company until he joined China New City. Prior to joining the Group, he was
the accountant and deputy finance manager of Xiaoshan Material Bureau
from 1985 to 1993. From 1994 to 1996, he was the manager of Hangzhou
Xiaoshan Hongsen Material Co., Ltd. and responsible for operational
management. Mr Dong received his college diploma in industrial and civil
construction from the China University of Geosciences. He has over 21
years of experience in property operation and management.

Jin Ni, aged 42, is the executive director and vice chairlady of the board
of directors of China New City. She also holds directorships of certain
subsidiaries of China New City. She is responsible for overall strategic
development, and leading the business development of China New City.
She was appointed as an executive director of China New City on 30
September 2013. Ms Jin resigned from her position as the vice president of
the Group in May 2014 and ceased to have any directorial and/or executive
roles in the Group, except for those of China New City and its subsidiaries.
She joined the Group in December 1997. She has been the general
manager of Zhejiang Zhong An Commercial Investment Management Co.,
Ltd. since August 2011 and Yuyao Zhong An Times Square Commercial
Management Co., Ltd. since December 2011 and is mainly responsible
for managing commercial operations and our development project in
Yuyao. She was the vice president of the Group from July 2011 to May
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2014, the assistant to the president of the Group from January 2010 to
November 2010, the general manager of Hangzhou Zhong An Highlong
Commercial Buildings Co., Ltd. from March 2006 to January 2010, the
deputy general manager from March 2006 to October 2010 and office
manager and deputy sales manager from August 1999 to March 2006
of Zhong An Group. Ms Jin obtained a bachelor degree in administrative
management from the Zhejiang University of Technology in July 2003 and
obtained a diploma in financial accounting from the Oriental Institute of
the Zhejiang University* (currently known as Oriental Institute of Finance
and Economics* (NI RERFERT)) in July 1997. Ms Jin has
over 19 years of experience in sales, and operation and management of
commercial projects.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms Wong Sau Ping is the company secretary of the Company. She is an
associate member of The Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries
and The Institute of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators in the United
Kingdom. She has over 15 years of experience in company secretarial field.
Ms. Wong is currently a senior manager of the Listing Services Department
of TMF Hong Kong Limited (a global corporate services provider).

* For idnetification purposes only

* BT
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The directors (the “Directors”) of Zhong An Real Estate Limited (the
“Company”) are pleased to present their annual report to shareholders of
the Company (the “Shareholders”) and the audited financial statements
of the Company and its subsidiaries (hereinafter collectively referred to
as the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2017 (the “year under

review”).

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company’s principal activity is investment holding. The principal
activities of the Group are property development, leasing and hotel
operation. The nature of the principal activities has not changed during the
year under review.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The Group’s profit for the year ended 31 December 2017 and the state
of affairs of the Company and the Group at that date are set out in the
financial statements on pages 100 to 106.

The board of Directors (the “Board”) does not recommend the payment of
final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2017 (2016: nil).

SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL
INFORMATION

A summary of the published results and assets, liabilities and non-
controlling interests of the Group for the last five financial years, as
extracted from the audited financial statements and restated/reclassified
as appropriate, is set out on page 262. This summary does not form part
of the audited financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW, FINANCIAL KEY
PERFORMANCE INDICATORS AND
FUTURE DEVELOPMENT

A discussion on the business review of the Group and an analysis of the
performance of the Group based on certain financial key performance
indicators for the year under review are set out in the section headed
“Management Discussion and Analysis” of this annual report.
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PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT AND
INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Details of movements in the property and equipment and investment
properties of the Group and the Company during the year under review are
set out in note 12 and 13 to the financial statements respectively. Further
details of the Group’s investment properties are set out on pages 255 and
257.

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTIONS

Details of the movements in the ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each in
the Company (the “Shares”) and share options of the Company during
the year under review are set out respectively in notes 30 and 31 to the
financial statements.

RESERVES

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Group and the Company
during the year under review are set out in the consolidated statement of
changes in equity and note 32 to the financial statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2017, the Company’s accumulated losses amounted
to RMB258,581,000 and the Company’s share premium amounted to
RMB3,022,503,000. By passing an ordinary resolution of the Company,
dividends may also be declared and paid out of share premium account
or any other fund or account which can be authorized for this purpose in
accordance with the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

(A) Zhong An Real Estate Limited - the Scheme

On 15 May 2009, the shareholders of the Company approved the

adoption of a share option scheme (the “Scheme”) of the Company

pursuant to and in compliance with the requirements of Chapter

17 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock

Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”). The salient

terms of the rules of the Scheme are set out below:

1. Purpose of the Scheme:

As incentives or rewards to the eligible participants under the

Scheme for their contribution to the Group.

2. Participants of the Scheme:

@)

any employee (whether full time or part time, including
any executive Director but excluding any non-executive
Director) of the Company or any of its subsidiaries or
any equity entity (the “Invested Entity”) in which any
members of the Group holds an equity interest;

any non-executive Directors (including independent
non-executive Directors) of the Company or any of its
subsidiaries or any Invested Entity;

any supplier of goods or services to any member of the
Group or any Invested Entity;

any customer of any member of the Group or any
Invested Entity;

any person or entity that provides research,
development or other technological support to any
member of the Group or any Invested Entity;

any shareholder of any member of the Group or any
Invested Entity or any holder of any securities issued by
any member of the Group or any Invested Entity;
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(@  any adviser (professional or otherwise) or consultant to
any area of business or business development of any
member of the Group or any Invested Entity; and

(h)  any other group or classes of participants who have
contributed or may contribute by way of joint venture,
business alliance or other business arrangement to the
development and growth of the Group.

Maximum number of Shares available for subscription:

The maximum number of Shares which may be allotted and
issued upon exercise of all outstanding options granted and
yet to be exercised under the Scheme and any other share
option schemes adopted by the Group shall not exceed 30
per cent. of the share capital of the Company in issue from
time to time.

Subject to the rules of the Scheme, the Company may seek
approval of its shareholders in general meeting to refresh the
General Scheme Limit (as referred to in paragraph 4 below)
provided that the total number of Shares which may be
allotted and issued upon exercise of all options to be granted
under the Scheme and any other share option scheme(s) of
the Group must not exceed 10% of the Shares in issue as at
the date of approval of the refreshed limit. For the purpose of
calculating the refreshed limit, such options (including those
outstanding, cancelled, lapsed or exercised in accordance
with the Scheme and any other share option scheme of the
Group) previously granted under the Scheme and any other
share option scheme(s) of the Group will not be counted.

Total number of Shares available for issue under the Scheme:

The total number of Shares which may be allotted and issued
upon the exercise of all options (excluding such options which
have lapsed in accordance with the terms of the Scheme
and any other share option scheme(s) of the Group) to be
granted under the Scheme and any other share option
scheme(s) of the Group must not in aggregate exceed 10%
of the Shares in issue on the date of approval of the Scheme
(the “General Scheme Limit”) or upon the date of approval
of the refreshment of the General Scheme Limit (and, in the
case of the Company, not exceeding 236,763,540 Shares
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(the “Refreshed General Scheme Limit"), representing
10% of the total issued share capital of the Company as at 23
September 2013). As at 31 December 2017, the number of
Shares that remained available for issue under the Refreshed
General Scheme Limit was 236,763,540.

As disclosed in the announcement dated 12 October 2017,
the Bonus Issue (details of which are contained in the
Company'’s circular dated 8 September 2017) was made on
the basis of one Bonus Share for every one existing Share held
by Qualifying Shareholders whose names are on the register
of members of the Company on the Record Date (that is, 4
October 2017). As at the Record Date, the Company had
2,918,298,400 Shares in issue and, accordingly, an aggregate
of 2,918,298,400 Bonus Shares were issued under the Bonus
Issue on 12 October 2017 on the above basis. As a result
of the Bonus Issue, the exercise price of such outstanding
Share Options and the number of Shares to be allotted and
issued upon full exercise of the subscription rights attaching
thereto were adjusted pursuant to the terms of the Share
Option Scheme. On 12 October 2017, the adjusted number
of Shares that can be subscribed for upon exercise of the
outstanding Share Options in full immediately after the Bonus
Issue was 360,933,322 Shares.

Maximum entitlement of each participant under the Scheme:

The total number of Shares issued and which may fall to be
issued upon the exercise of the options granted under the
Scheme and other share option scheme(s) of the Group (if
any) (including both exercised or outstanding options) to
each participant in any 12-month period shall not exceed
1 per cent of the issued share capital of the Company for
the time being (the “Individual Limit”). Any further grant
of options, which would result in the Shares issued and to
be issued upon exercise of all options granted and to be
granted to such participant (including exercised, cancelled
and outstanding options) under the Scheme and other share
option schemes of the Group (if any), in any 12-month period
up to and including the date of such further grant in excess of
the Individual Limit shall be subject to Shareholders’ approval
in general meeting of the Company with such participant and
his associates abstaining from voting.

Amount payable on acceptance of option:

A nominal amount of HK$1 is payable upon acceptance of the
grant of an option.
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Minimum period for which an option must be held before it can
be exercised and the exercise period of the option:

Unless otherwise determined by the Directors and stated
in the offer to a grantee, there is no minimum period under
the Scheme for the holding of an option before it can be
exercised. An option may be exercised in accordance with
the terms of the Scheme at any time during a period to be
determined and notified by the Directors to the relevant
grantee, which period may commence on a day after the date
upon which the offer for the grant of options is made but shall
end in any event not later than 10 years from the date of grant
of the option subject to the provisions of early termination
thereof.

Basis of determining the exercise price of an option:

The exercise price shall be determined by the Directors but
shall not be less than the highest of the nominal value of the
Shares; the closing price of the Shares on the Stock Exchange
on the date of grant; and the average closing price of the
Shares on the Stock Exchange for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of the offer for the grant.

Performance targets

Unless the Directors otherwise determined and stated in the
offer for the grant of the options to a grantee, a grantee is
not required to achieve any performance targets before any
options granted under the Scheme can be exercised.

Life of the Scheme:

The Scheme will expire on 14 May 2019.
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OUTSTANDING OPTIONS UNDER THE BT ERIZ AR 1T ERY SRR 4E
SCHEME

Details of options (the “Options”) granted under the Scheme and REIEFEY RERBEZAECHEE M ARITE
outstanding at the beginning and at the end of the year under review are as ~ FBERSAE ([ BBIRFE ) SHI50T -
follows:

Number of

Shares that can

be subscribed for
upon exercise of  Exercise price
the outstanding of Option

Number of Number of Number of Number of  Outstanding at Options ~~ HKS per share
Outstanding at Options Options Options Options 31 December Date of Evercise  RBHATERR
Name of participants 1 January 2017 granted exercised cancelled [apsed 2017 Options granted period  BEGEATF  EREGEE
HatE RurE EL Pl v
1818 BRA B B B4R 12318 Mote4) Motz 4)
Ve RAGE  BREHA BlrEsE BREsE LI EE WA RHA% fikaE Wit (Hit4)
Category 1: Directors
E1E: 83
Shi Kancheng 2883720 - - - - 2,883,720 9.July 2009 (Note 1) 5,767,440 129
it 200957498 (Hit1)
2300000 - - - R 2300000 2January 2011 22 January 2014 o 4600000 09
N11E1 A28 21 January 2021
D4F1ANAE
W1EI A
(Note 2)
5,183,720 - - - - 5,183,720 10,367,440
Shen Tiaojuan 1,441,860 - - - - 1,441,860 9.July 2009 (Note 1) 2,883,720 129
b 200957498 (Hit1)
1,200,000 R - - R 1200000 2Januay 2011 22 Janvay 201410 2400000 093
N11E1 A28 21 January 2021
N4FIARAZ
MNE1A2A
Note )

2,641,860 2,641,860 5,283,720
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Number of
Shares that can
be subscribed for
upon exercise of  Exercise price
the outstanding of Option
Number of Number of Numberof  Outstanding at Options  HKS per share
Outstanding at Options Options Options 31 December Date of Exercise  EHHATERR
Name of participants 1 January 2017 granted exercised [apsed 2017 Options granted period  EEGEATF  BREGEE
Haone Hoonr B PEOEE §hEn
1818 B Bfiff BAH 128318 Mote4) Mote4)
SEERS R BhiEsR EhRHA EhEsR AT RHAH fream Wy (Hit4)
Zhang Jangeng 1,321,706 - - - 1,321,705 9.July 2009 (Note 1) 2643410 129
R24 0957798 (1)
1,100,000 - - - 1100000 22 Janvary 2011 22 January 2014 1o 2,00,00 093
N1E1 A28 21 January 2021
NUEIRNEE
M1EIA2A
(Note 2)
x//’///*/ff/y
242,705 2421105 4813410
Jim Janrong® 961,240 961,240 9July 2009 (Note 1) 1,922,480 129
Sk 0957798 (1)
900,000 900000 2Janvary 2011 22 January 2014 1o 1,800,000 093
Ni1E1A2A 21 January 2021
NUEIRNEE
W1E1A21A
(Note 2)
WEZY
1861,240 1861240 3722480
Professor Pei Ker Wei 360,465 360,465 9July 2009 (Note 1) 120930 129
EREHR 0957798 (1)
300,000 300000 2Janvary 2011 22 January 2014 1o 600,000 093
N11E1 A28 21 January 2021
NUE1ARAE
NIE1R2A
(Note 2)
(o)
660,466 660,465 1320930
72 Zhong An Real Estate Limited 2017 Annual Report
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Number of

Shares that can

be subscribed for
upon exercise of  Exercise price
the outstanding of Option

Number of Number of Number of Numberof  Outstanding at Options ~ HKS per share
Outstanding at Options Options Options Options 31 December Date of Exercise  EHHATERR
Name of participants 1 January 2017 granted exercised cancelled lapsed 2017 Options granted period  EEGEATF  BREGEE
JRPANIE: Hoonr B PLVEE §hin
1818 B Bfiff B BAH 128318 Mote4) Mote4)
bRt WA v EE BhREEE BRERE v EE HAfTE RHAg fiksm Wy (i)
Dr. Loke Yu 360,465 - - - - 360,465 9.July 2009 (Note 1) 720930 129
BT 00957 A9H (1)
300,000 - - - - 300000 2Januay 201t 22 January 2014 o 600,000 09
N11E1 A28 21 January 2021
NUEIRNEE
NNE1R2A
(Note 2)
W)
660,465 660,465 1320930
13429435 1342945 26858910
Category 2: Employess 10453495 (1.922.490) 8,531,005 9July 2009 (Note 1) 17,062,010 129
205 B8 W09%7 798 (1)
10,600,000 2000,000) 8600000 22January 2011 22 January 2014 o 17,200,000 09
WHETARE 21 Janvay 2021
NUEIANAZ
MIE1A21A
(Note 2)
W22
21,0634% (3922.4%0) 17,131,005 34,262,010
Category 3: Supplers of 2,403,100 2,403,100 9 duly 2009 (Note 1) 4806,200 19
Q00ds or senices A09%7 AR (1)
238 ERapkEtE 37,000,000 37,000,000 2 Janvay 2011 22 Januay 2014 o 74,000,000 093
Ni1E1A2H 21 January 2021
N4FIARAZ
NIE1R2A
Note )

39,403,100

30,403,100

78,806,200
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Number of
Shares that can
be subscribed for
upon exercise of  Exercise price
the outstanding of Option
Number of Number of Number of Numberof  Outstanding at Options  HKS per share
Outstanding at Options Options Options Options 31 December Date of Exercise  EHHATERR
Name of participants 1 January 2017 granted exercised cancelled [apsed 2017 Options granted period  EEGEATF  BREGEE
Haone Hoonr B PEOEE §hEn
1818 B Bfiff Bt BAH 128318 Mote4) Mote4)
SEERS R BhiEsR EhRHA Bhige EhEsR AT RHAH fream W) (Hit4)
Category 4: Others 19,024,806 - - - (1,321,709) 17,903,101 9 July 2009 (Note 1) 35,806,202 129
£45: B 0957798 (1)
15,700,000 - - - (1,100,000) 14600000 22January 2011 22 January 2014 1o 29,200,000 093
N1E1 20 21 January 2021
NUEIRNEE
W1EIA2A
(Note 2)
(/’//752'
78,000,000 (61,000,000 27,000,000 10 iy 2013 10Juy 201310 54,000,000 073
N18ETAI0A 9 July 2023
N18ETAI0AZ
ABETAIA
(Note 3)
(it3)
112,924,806 (51,000,000) 2421709 50,503,101 119,006,202
Totdl 186,610,856 (51,000,000) (6,344,19) 129,466,661 258,933322
=
* Options to subscribe for 51,000,000 shares (adjusted to 102,000,000 shares after the bonus issue on 12 October 2017) were cancelled in 2017.

* AI{T{E 5288 51,000,000 A% A0 BE AAE (74 2017 8210 A 12 HAT IR 31714 J9%E 2 102,000,000 f% ) 7£ 2017 G4 7E S ©
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Notes:

The Options may be exercisable at any time during the period from 9 July 2009 to
8 July 2019 (the “Option Period”) provided that the maximum number of Options
which each Grantee is entitled to exercise shall not exceed:

(a) 20 per cent. of the total number of Options during the period from the expiry
of the first anniversary of the date of grant to the date immediately before
the second anniversary of the date of grant;

(b) 20 per cent. of the total number of Options during the period from the
second anniversary of the date of grant to the date immediately before the
third anniversary of the date of grant;

(c) 20 per cent. of the total number of Options during the period from the third
anniversary of the date of grant to the date immediately before the fourth
anniversary of the date of grant;

(d) 20 per cent. of the total number of Options during the period from the fourth
anniversary of the date of grant to the date immediately before the fifth
anniversary of the date of grant; and

(e) 20 per cent. of the total number of Options during the period from the fifth
anniversary of the date of grant to the date immediately before the sixth
anniversary of the date of grant.

On 22 January 2011, the Company had granted 80,000,000 Options which may be
exercisable after three years from the date of grant (the “Lock-in Period”) provided
that the Grantee has achieved the prescribed performance target during the Lock-
in Period and has passed the Company’s assessment, and be exercisable before
the expiry of the Option Period on 21 January 2021. The closing price of the Share
immediately before the date of granting the Options was HK$1.85 per share.

On 10 July 2013, the Company had granted 78,000,000 Options which may be
exercisable between 10 July 2013 and 9 July 2023. The closing price of the Share
immediately before the date of granting the Options was HK$1.43 per share.

The exercise price of the Options is subject to adjustment in the case of rights or
bonus issues, or other similar changes in the Company’s share capital. As such,
such adjustments were made as a result of the bonus issue completed on 12
October 2017. Details of the bonus issue were disclosed in the circular dated 8
September 2017 and the adjustments made to the outstanding Options were
disclosed in the announcement dated 12 October 2017 of the Company.

Other details of the Scheme are set out in the section “Directors’ and Chief

Executives’ interests in securities of the Company” and note 31 to the

financial statements.

Wit
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(B) China New City Commercial Development
Limited — the CNC Scheme

On 20 May 2015, the shareholders of the Company approved the

adoption of a share option scheme (the “CNC Scheme”) of China

New City Commercial Development Limited (“CNC”, together
with its subsidiaries, the “CNC Group”)), a non-wholly owned

subsidiary of the Company incorporated in the Cayman Islands

whose issued shares are listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code:
1321). The adoption of the CNC Scheme was also approved by the
shareholders of CNC on 20 May 2015. The salient terms of the rules

of the CNC Scheme are set out below:

1.

Purpose of the CNC Scheme

As incentives or rewards to the eligible participants under the
CNC Scheme for their contribution to the CNC Group.

Participants of the CNC Scheme

@

76 Zhong An Real Estate Limited

any employee (whether full-time or part-time, including
any executive director but excluding any non-executive
director) of CNC, any of CNC’s subsidiaries or any entity
(the “CNC Invested Entity”) in which any member
of the CNC Group holds an equity interest (the “CNC
Eligible Employees”);

any non-executive directors (including independent
non-executive directors) of CNC, any of the CNC'’s
subsidiaries or any CNC Invested Entity;

any supplier of goods or services to any member of the
CNC Group or any CNC Invested Entity;

any customer of any member of the CNC Group or any
CNC Invested Entity;

any person or entity that provides research,
development or other technological support to any
member of the CNC Group or any CNC Invested Entity;
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) any adviser (professional or otherwise) or consultant to
any area of business or business development of any
member of the CNC Group or any CNC Invested Entity;

(@ any other group or classes of participants who have
contributed or may contribute by way of joint venture,
business alliance or other business arrangement to the
development and growth of the CNC Group;

and, for the purposes of the CNC Scheme, the offer for the
grant of CNC option may be made to any company wholly
owned by one or more persons belonging to any of the above
classes of participants.

Maximum number of CNC Shares available for subscription

The maximum number of CNC Shares which may be issued
upon the exercise of all outstanding CNC options granted and
yet to be exercised under the CNC Scheme and any other
share option scheme(s) adopted by the CNC Group must not
in aggregate exceed 30% of the share capital of CNC in issue
from time to time.

Subject to the rules of the CNC Scheme, CNC may seek
approval of its shareholders in general meeting to refresh the
CNC General Scheme Limit (as referred to in paragraph 4
below) provided that the total number of CNC Shares which
may be allotted and issued upon exercise of all CNC options
to be granted under the CNC Scheme and any other share
option scheme(s) of the CNC Group must not exceed 10%
of the CNC Shares in issue as at the date of approval of the
refreshed limit. For the purpose of calculating the refreshed
limit, such CNC options (including those outstanding,
cancelled, lapsed or exercised in accordance with the CNC
Scheme and any other share option scheme of the CNC
Group) previously granted under the CNC Scheme and any
other share option scheme(s) of the CNC Group will not be
counted.

Directors’ Report

EEERE

®  FEFETHEBETAKE AR
FAERI R EFIR T AR E B 5
ERAEFAEKEHTERNE
] B 5 B EL A 77 TED ) JR o B
SRR

0 CREIAEEBAZLE X
BHENEMER Y P E
BT EEERIERELE
BRE (R AT A Ab 4B B S AR Bl B 2
B

R (i B A EImE) - HRE
Al —H& sk — B LB i EmE R
SEEZANLTZERANEFAR]
15 R] 2R ) A M R B O T B AR
1 e

AERBENT BT RO RS EE

R TTE AR 35 A B ¥ ok 77 &t B e b B
PR T SR B TR AR 2 A (] B A B B b =t
IR P W R T P BT
FE A 1 A% T 32T RO R BT T A )
KA A A TFBEBTEHET T
2 B TTAA R 30% ©

FERBEFUMmEABHRANZHRT - &
BHHTmASRERRERRKE
EHOEFE R P BT —REHE L
RIZTAFAR) - ERITERES
BTk T 5t & Ko o BT T SR B (]
Hib Rt 818 T RO A T E
R T R AR T AT BEAC 38 S BT RO AR
BT TR D AT S BB ERLE
MEREADETHREFWTRD Z
10% ° BLat HEEH LRME - 5TAl
BB BT R B m &
EECEEE e g ke dea=okicl Ry
B mELRE(BRZSRETE
FTER T ET 81 K p B R T SR B E T A
R ERT EIRTTE - Bl - K
M DITEMBEE) N e HER -

BrEEARAE —T—+agE® 1T



Directors’ Report

EEEWE

Total number of CNC Shares available for issue under the
CNC Scheme

The total number of CNC Shares which may be allotted and
issued upon the exercise of all CNC options (excluding such
CNC options which have lapsed in accordance with the terms
of the CNC Scheme and any other share option scheme(s) of
the CNC Group) to be granted under the CNC Scheme and
any other share option scheme(s) of the CNC Group must not
in aggregate exceed 10% of the CNC Shares in issue on the
date of approval of the CNC Scheme on 20 May 2015 (that is,
not exceeding 173,800,000 CNC Shares, representing 10%
of the total issued share capital of CNC as at that date) (the
“CNC General Scheme Limit"). As at 31 December 2017,
the number of CNC Shares that remained available for issue
under the CNC Scheme was 173,800,000.

Maximum entitlement of each participant under the CNC
Scheme

The total number of CNC Shares issued and which may fall
to be issued upon the exercise of the options granted under
the CNC Scheme and any other share option scheme(s) of
the CNC Group (including both exercised or outstanding
options) to each grantee in any 12-month period shall not
exceed 1% of the issued share capital of CNC for the time
being (the “CNC Individual Limit”). Any further grant of CNC
options in excess of the CNC Individual Limit in any 12-month
period up to and including the date of such further grant must
be separately approved by the CNC shareholders in general
meeting with such grantee and his associates abstaining from
voting.

Amount payable on acceptance of CNC Option

A nominal consideration of HK$1 is payable on acceptance of
the grant of a CNC option.
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7.

10.

Minimum period for which a CNC option must be held before
it can be exercised and the exercise period of a CNC option

Unless otherwise determined by the CNC directors and stated
in the offer to a grantee, there is no minimum period under the
CNC Scheme for the holding of a CNC option before it can
be exercised. A CNC option may be exercised in accordance
with the terms of the CNC Scheme at any time during a period
to be determined and notified by the CNC directors to the
relevant grantee, which period may commence on a day after
the date upon which the offer for the grant of CNC options is
made but shall end in any event not later than 10 years from
the date of grant of the CNC option subject to the provisions
of early termination thereof.

Performance targets

Unless the CNC directors otherwise determined and stated in
the offer for the grant of CNC options to a grantee, a grantee
is not required to achieve any performance targets before
any CNC options granted under the CNC Scheme can be
exercised.

Basis of determining the exercise price of a CNC option

The exercise price shall be a price determined by the CNC
directors but shall not be less than the highest of the nominal
value of a CNC Share; the closing price of the CNC Shares on
the Stock Exchange; and the average closing price of CNC
Shares on the Stock Exchange for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of the offer for the grant.

Life of the CNC Scheme

The CNC Scheme will expire on 19 May 2025.

10.
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OUTSTANDING OPTIONS UNDER THE
CNC SCHEME

CNC had not granted any options under the CNC Scheme during the year
under review.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
articles of association or the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands, which
would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to
existing shareholders.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

Aggregate sales attributable to the five largest customers of the Group
accounted for less than 30% of the Group’s total revenue for the year
under review.

Aggregate purchases attributable to the five largest suppliers of the Group

accounted for less than 30% of the Group’s total purchases for the year
under review.
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DIRECTORS AND DIRECTORS’ SERVICE
CONTRACTS

The Directors during the year under review and up to the date of this report
were as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr Shi Kancheng (alias Shi Zhongan)

Ms Wang Shuiyun (appointed on 2 July 2017)
Ms Shen Tiaojuan

Mr Zhang Jiangang

Mr Jin Jianrong

Non-executive Director
Ms Shen Li (appointed on 22 June 2017)

Independent non-executive Directors
Professor Pei Ker Wei

Dr Loke Yu (alias Loke Hoi Lam)

Mr Zhang Huagiao

In accordance with article 108 (A) of the Company’s articles of association,
(the “Articles”), Mr. Zhang Jiangang, Dr Loke Yu and Mr Zhang Huagiao
will retire by rotation, and being eligible and will offer themselves for re-
election at the forthcoming annual general meeting (the “AGM”). In
accordance with article 112 of the Articles, Ms Wang Shuiyun who was
appointed on 2 July 2017 and Ms Shen Li who was appointed on 22 June
2017 shall hold office until the AGM and, being eligible, offer themselves for
re-election at the AGM.

No Director (including the Directors proposed to be re-elected at the AGM)
has a service contract with the Company which is not determinable by the
Company within one year without payment of compensation, other than
statutory compensation.

The Company has received, from each of the independent non-executive
Directors, an annual confirmation of his independence pursuant to
Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and the Company still considers all of the
independent non-executive Directors to be independent.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS
AND CONTRACTS

There was no transaction, arrangement or contract of significance
subsisting during or at the end of the year under review in which a Director
(or an entity connected with a Director) either directly or indirectly, is or was
materially interested.
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DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT’S BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors and senior management of the Group
are set out in the section headed “Biographical Details of Directors and
Senior Management” of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

Details of the Directors’ emoluments on a named basis are set out in note
8 to the financial statements.

Remuneration for each of the Directors are determined based on, among
others, emoluments paid by comparable companies, his/her time of
commitment and responsibilities towards the Company and whether
the remuneration package is competitively attractive to retain him/her as
director.

The Company and China New City has each maintained a share option
scheme for the purpose of providing incentives and rewards to the eligible
participants for their contributions to the Group.

There were no compensation paid during the financial year or receivable by
directors or past directors for the loss of office as a director of any member
of the Group or of any other office in connection with the management of
the affairs of any member of the Group distinguishing between contractual
and other payments.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS IN SECURITIES OF THE
COMPANY

As at 31 December 2017 and the date of this report, to the best knowledge
of the Company, the interests and short positions of the Directors and
chief executives of the Company in the Shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company or any associated corporation (within the
meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”))
as recorded in the register required to be kept under Section 352 of the
SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of
Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing
Rules, were as follows:
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EEeHs
Long positions in Shares of the Company (1) REQXTIRGBOEFRE
Number of Shares held and nature of interest in the Company: RARNBEFEMRMDER MED S -
Number and Approximate
Capacity and class of percentage Long/Short
Name of Director nature of interest securities held of interest position
BEEgE SO REEME s A RER ERBAESL #%RE
Mr. Shi Kancheng Interest of controlled 3,262,411,200 shares of HK$0.1 55.90% Long
MR ST A corporation (Note) each in the capital of the e
Ry EE R (M) Company
RRREARGREMEO0NETZ
3,262,411,200 I& i1
Note: These shares are held by Whole Good Management Limited, the entire Hiat - 1t B B Whole Good Management Limited
issued share capital of which is solely and beneficially owned by Mr e H2HERTRATE2HMEMKE
Shi Kancheng. Mr Shi Kancheng is the sole director of Whole Good S EmBA o HBATK 5% & ZBWhole Good
Management Limited. Management Limited #Mff — 2= -

Long positions in underlying shares of the (2) RAAREBERGOIER :
Company:

Number of Approximate

Capacity and underlying percentage of

Name of Director nature of interest Shares held the Company’s

(Note) issued share capital

PR RO & A HAELDTE BT

BEnE S RERENE (H15%) RABAE D

Mr Shi Kancheng Beneficial owner 10,367,440 0.18
MR 5T A BB A

Ms Shen Tiaojuan Beneficial owner 5,283,720 0.09
AgIB 2t E=EBA

Mr Zhang Jiangang Beneficial owner 4,843,410 0.08
R BRH S A E=EBA

Mr Jin Jianrong Beneficial owner 3,722,480 0.06
DRERKE E=BAA

Professor Pei Ker Wei Beneficial owner 1,320,930 0.02
BRREHE E=EAA

Dr Loke Yu Beneficial owner 1,320,930 0.02
P e iE+ EmEA A

Note: These represent the number of Shares which will be allotted and issued Mt - AREREBEARQ RN 20094 5 A 15 AERANE)

to the respective Directors upon the exercise of the share options granted BREENSESREOBREETER

to each of them pursuant to the share option scheme adopted by the RS ERRERETHORMNER -

Company on 15 May 2009.
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EEEWE

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2017 and the date
of this report, none of the Directors and chief executives of the
Company had or were deemed under the SFO to have any interests
or short positions in the Shares, underlying shares and debentures
of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of SFO) as recorded in the register required to be
kept under Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

(3) Long positions in shares of the associated
corporation

Number of shares held and nature of interest in China New City
Commercial Development Limited (“CNC”), a non-wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company, whose shares are listed on the Stock

Br_EXFTHRERESN - 2017612 A31 H R
ABEBH  AREEMEERFETHA
B ENAA R REARE AR (R FH R
EIRBIE XV EFTIE 2 W) 2k - R
1 R EHEBRA ATDARE S LS ED
FEI2 B 2B M TS SAR
PAKARIZESTRIE BTG A A A R P
Z AR R

(3) REEELTRHBNER

WA RRIFEREMN B A B BT 3
EARAR ([HEHHED ) (ERORBER
P BT ) FTESR D 8B R 1L

Exchange:
Number and Approximate
Capacity and class of percentage Long/Short
Name of Director nature of interest securities held of interest position
FifsES
BEEfE SO RESENE HE REH BB #ORE
Mr. Shi Kancheng Interest of controlled 31,308,594 shares of HK$0.1 1.70% Long
WA ST corporation (Note) each in the capital of CNC e

Bk b s (AaE) R BT T AR AN R AR A
0.17%870,2 31,308,594 BEA% 1D

Note: These shares are held by Whole Good Management Limited, the entire
issued share capital of which is solely and beneficialy owned by Mr
Shi Kancheng. Mr Shi Kancheng is the sole director of Whole Good

Management Limited.

CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

No contracts of significance in relation to the Group’s business in which the
Company, any of its subsidiaries, fellow subsidiaries or its parent company
was a party and in which a Director of the Company had a material interest,
whether directly or indirectly, subsisted during or at the end of the year
under review.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’
INTEREST IN THE SECURITIES OF THE
COMPANY

As at 31 December 2017 and the date of this report, to the best knowledge

of the Company, the following parties (other than Directors or chief

executives of the Company) were recorded in the register required to be

kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO, or as otherwise

notified to the Company, as being directly or indirectly interested or

deemed to be interested in 5% or more of the issued share capital of the

Directors’ Report
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Company:
Percentage of the
Number of Company’s issued Long/Short
Name Capacity shares held share capital Position
AARCRT
=t 56 FiERGEE BRAEBNE DL 5873
Whole Good Management Limited Beneficial owner 3,262,411,200 55.90% Long
(“Whole Good") (Note 1) (ff&£ 1) EmEAA 5=
Haitong International Credit Company Person having a 3,025,052,960 51.83% Long
Limited security interest S5=)
(Note 2) (H17#2) in Shares
FAEEMES AL
Notes: Hist -

Whole Good is wholly and beneficially owned by Mr Shi Kancheng, its sole director.
Mr Shi is the the Chairman, an executive director and the chief executive officer of
the Company. Mr Shi is deemed or taken to be interested in the 3,262,411,200
Shares held by Whole Good by virtue of Part XV of the SFO

The 3,025,052,960 Shares were pledged by Whole Good to Haitong International
Credit Company Limited (“HTICC”). HTICC is wholly held or controlled by
Haitong International Finance Company Limited (“‘HTIFC”), which is wholly held
or controlled by Haitong International (BVI) Limited (“HTIBVI”) and, in turn, wholly
held or controlled by Haitong International Securities Group Limited (‘HTISG”).
HTISG is 61.74% owned or controlled by Haitong International Holdings Limited
(“HTIH") which, in turn, is wholly owned or controlled by Haitong Securities Co.,
Ltd. (“HTSC”). HTIFC, HTIBVI, HTISG, HTIH and HTSC are deemed or taken to be
interested in the security interest in the 3,025,052,960 Shares held by HTICC by
virtue of Part XV of the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2017 and the date of this

report, no person, other than a Director or chief executive of the Company,

had interests or short positions in the Shares and underlying shares of the

Company as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company
under Section 336 of the SFO.

(1) Whole Good REM —EEHMKLELERERSHE
B o MR EEAERARER RITESTREFHRT
B BEEHFRIEEGIEXVED - ML EWE Ak
B ERWhole Good ##5#)3,262,411,2000% 1% 15 7
Bt o

2) Whole Good [A] Haitong International Credit Company
Limited ((HTICCJ) #& #3,025,052,960f% f% 1 °
HTICC F Haitong International Finance Company
Limited ([HTIFC ) & & #§4 5%l - HTIFC & Haitong
International (BVI) Limited ([HTIBVI]) &&#H3k{%
#l + HTIBVI f4 Haitong International Securities Group
Limited([HTISG J) & & #54 5% | - HTISGH Haitong
International Holdings Limited ([HTIH ) #4&61.74%3k
#24 » HTIH f1 Haitong Securities Co., Ltd. (THTSCJ)
2EAFALES - BRIBEEHFREEGROIEXVE
HTIFC ~ HTIBVI ~ HTISG ~ HTIH &2 HTSC#i Ak &
YERAHTICC#55 #9 3,025,052,960 I& A% 1/ 2 &G Hf i
AR
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RELATED PARTY AND CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS

Details of significant related party transactions of the Group are set out in
note 34 to the financial statements.

None of the related party transactions constituted non-exempt connected
transactions or non-exempt continuing connected transactions in
accordance with the Listing Rules during the year ended 31 December
2017.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and within
the knowledge of the Directors, as at the latest practicable date prior to the
issue of this annual report, the Company has maintained the prescribed
public float under the Listing Rules.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
LISTED SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the year ended 31
December 2017.

DIRECTORS’ INDEMNITIES

The Company has arranged liability insurance for Directors and senior
management officers of the Company with appropriate coverage to
indemnify them from and against any legal actions arising from the
execution of their duties, and such insurance and indemnity was in force
during the year ended 31 December 2017 and remain effective as at the
date of this annual report.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

During the year under review, the Group made charitable donations
amounting to approximately RMB6,070,991 (2016: RMB4,007,000).

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND
UNCERTAINTIES

The Group’s principal risks and uncertainties are set out in the paragraphs
under “Principal Risks and Uncertainties” in the section headed
“Management Discussion and Analysis” of this annual report.
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ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCE

The Company strives to balance business growth with environmental
protection.

As the major businesses of the Group are property development, leasing
and hotel operation in China, we evaluate, manage and mitigate from
time to time environmental issues within the context of the Group’s
business activities and objectives for the conservation of energy and other
natural resources; (i) devise environmental policies and measures for the
Group so as to keep them in line with the standards required under the
applicable laws, rules and regulations to the extent practicable; and (iii)
apply our philosophy on environment protection to our supply chain and
operations. These include but not limited to the scrutiny in the selection
of our business partners or services providers and award the bids of
construction and other projects of which the Group is involved to reputable
and environmentally-conscientious corporations and contractors with
good compliant and environmental records.

Several hotels as operated by the Group have been promoting
environmental protection policies for energy management, water
management and waste management to minimize the ecological footprint
of the hotel operation for years. To name a few, all lightings and appliances
will be replaced in phases by energy saving ones. Guest rooms have room
card insert energy saving switches and reduction in paper usage in the
office and promote storage of files in electronic forms instead of in paper
files. On the front of our leasing business, we are careful in the selection of
our lessees and implemented environmental policies and measures in the
operation of leasing business, including the management of the properties
leased by the Group.

The Group has also implemented energy saving practices in the workplace
through (i) appropriately designing, constructing, maintaining and, if
required, modifying facilities wherever applicable; (i) using or to replacing
gradually existing appliances with more energy efficient appliances for
lighting, heating and ventilation systems to reduce energy consumption
and (jii) raising awareness of environmental protection at workplace..

During the year under review, there had been no record of material
breach or violation by the Group of applicable environmental laws, rules or
regulations.
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COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

The Group has kept itself abreast with the development of laws, rules and
regulations which have or may have an impact on, and has been abiding
the laws, rules and regulations applicable to, the operation of its business.

The Group has implemented procedures and policies, employed
suitable personnel and engaged professional advisers to ensure that (i)
such approvals, permits and licences necessary for the operation of its
businesses are obtained; and (i) its operations are being run in line with the
applicable laws, rules and regulations. During the year under review, there
had been no material violation of the applicable laws, rules and regulations
by the Group.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES,
CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The Company is committed to maintaining, and has maintained good
relationships with, its employees, customers and suppliers with a view to
fostering better mutual understanding and/or a sense of belonging towards
the Company. This is conducive to implementing the Group’s strategies
and business objectives, as well as the Group’s business development and
sustainability in the long run.

The Group believes that our people are critical success factors to the
Group’s competitiveness in the market. To attract high calibre people
and solidify the management of the Group, eligible participants (including
employees of the Group) may be granted options to subscribe for shares
in the Company pursuant to the share option scheme adopted by the
Company. The Group also provides continuous learning and training
programs to its employees to enhance their skills and knowledge, so as to
maintain their competitiveness.

Customer satisfaction with our services and products has a profound
effects on our profitability. Our dedicated team of sales people are in
constant communication with our customers and potential customers to
uncover and create customer needs and help customers make informed
decisions. To grasp the market trend is critical for the Group to timely
adjust our operating strategies to fit the market requirement.
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Collaborative and mutual beneficial business relationship with our strategic
suppliers and contractors is of important to achieve higher levels of
efficiency and competitive advantage. The Group evaluate the capabilities
of our supplier and contractors to determine if they are able to meet the

requirement and needs of the Group from time to time.

Developing and maintaining good relationship with various commercial
banks and financial institutions always are our main tasks because our
capital-intensive projects require on-going funding to maintain continuous

growth.

ISSUE OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Save as disclosed below, the Company did not carry out any fund raising
activities in respect of issue of equity securities for the year ended 31

December 2017:

Events
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Net proceeds from fund raising/
intended use of net proceeds
EEMSRETE
FISREFHENERE AR

Used amount and actual use of net
proceeds as at 31 December 2017
B£2017F12A31H
LEEASERAERIEFEEN

BERAR

The placing of an aggregate of
469,716,000 shares at the placing price
of HK$0.556 each was completed on
12 June 2017 (details are disclosed in
the announcements of the Company
dated 3 and 12 June 2017)

R2017%6 A 12 Bk IZ &M 0.55678
B & A 469,716,000 B 17 (F£ 1B
WHENARBIHEA2017F6 A3H X
12 HRA%)

The placing and top-up subscription of
an aggregate of 100,000,000 shares
at the placing/subscription price of
HK$1.50 each were completed on 6
and 12 July 2017 respectively (details
are disclosed in the announcements of
the Company dated 3 and 12 July 2017)

R2017F7 A6 B X128 DRI LEE
FHATRIEER 508 T s, R
4 #100,000,000 f% A% 19 (¥ 1B E R
NABIHEA2017F7 A3ER12EBH

nE)

Net proceeds of approximately
HK$257.58 million were raised and
intended to be used for investment in
property development should suitable
opportunities arise and (to the extent
that the net proceeds are not applied for
investment purposes) general working
capital of the Group

E R FREN 25T B8 EE ST - WA
EREMERE(RERBEERSI) &
(WETEFIEFBIE A BERERR) A
EREBE—REEBEES

Net proceeds of approximately
HK$146.64 million were raised and
intended to be used for investment in
property development should suitable
opportunities arise and (to the extent
that the net proceeds are not applied for
investment purposes) general working
capital of the Group

SEFEN14664BEET - LHB
FREMERBE(NEREEREE) &
(AT IR F L AR RERERE) A
EREE—REEES

As at 31 December 2017, approximately
HK$198.33 million of the proceeds raised
were used for general working capital of the
Group

HE2017TF12A31HIE - £&EFEDE
F+34198.33 B8 &80 FAIEAEE—
REFEES

As at 31 December 2017, the proceeds
raised were not yet used
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Directors’ Report

Ezegs

CHANGE IN DIRECTORS’ INFORMATION

Pursuant to Rule 13.51B of the Listing Rules, the changes in Directors’
information are set out below:

1. Mr Shi Kancheng, an executive Director, Chairman and Chief
Executive Officer of the Company, ceased to be the Chief Executive
Officer, with effect from 2 July 2017;

2. Ms Wang Shuiyun was appointed as an executive Director and Chief
Executive Officer, with effect from 2 July 2017;

3. Ms Shen Li was appointed as a non-executive Director, with effect
from 22 June 2017;

4, Dr Loke Yu, an independent non-executive Director, was appointed
as an independent non-executive director of Zhenro Properties
Group Limited, a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange, with effect from 15 December 2017; and resigned as an
independent non-executive director of Winfair Investment Company
Limited, with effect from 3 April 2018; and

5. Mr Zhang Huagiao, an independent non-executive Director,
resigned as an independent non-executive director of Yancoal
Australia Limited, a company listed on the ASX, with effect from
30 January 2017; and resigned as an independent non-executive
Director of Sinopec Qilfield Service Corporation, with effect from 28
March 2018.

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Details of the matters that occurred and bore significant effect to the Group
between the year end date and the date of this report are set out in the
section headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” of this annual
report.
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CHANGE OF FINANCIAL CONTROLLER
AND COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr Chan Hon Hung resigned as the financial controller, company secretary
and authorized representative of the Company under the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Authorized Representative”) to pursue his personal career
development, with effect from 8 January 2018.

Mr You Defeng was appointed as the chief financial officer of the Company,
with effect from 28 March 2018.

Ms Wong Sau Ping was appointed as the company secretary and
Authorized Representative, with effect from 21 March 2018.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The Register of Members will be closed from Thursday, 31 May 2018
to Tuesday, 5 June 2018 (both days inclusive), during which period no
transfer of shares can be registered. In order to qualify for attending and
voting at the forthcoming annual general meeting to be held on Tuesday,
5 June 2018, all transfers accompanied by the relevant share certificates
must be lodged with the Company’s Hong Kong branch share registrar
and transfer office, Tricor Investor Services Limited at Level 22, Hopewell
Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong, not later than 4:30 p.m. on
Wednesday, 30 May 2018.

AUDITORS

Ernst & Young will retire and a resolution for their re-appointment as
auditors of the Company will be proposed at the forthcoming annual
general meeting.

On behalf of the Board
Zhong An Real Estate Limited
Shi Kancheng

Chairman

The People’s Republic of China, 21 March 2018
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92 “hong An Real Estate Limited

Independent Auditors’ Report
¥ 3 A% B A R

EY zx

To the shareholders of Zhong An Real Estate Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted company with limited
liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Zhong An Real
Estate Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out
on pages 100 to 254, which comprise the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 31 December 2017, and the consolidated statement
of profit or loss, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income,
the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant
accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December
2017, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) issued by the International
Accounting Standards Board (the “IASB”), and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSASs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”). Our responsibilities under those standards
are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of
the consolidated financial statements section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA'’s Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion.
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To the shareholders of Zhong An Real Estate Limited (continued)

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters. For each matter below, our description of how
our audit addressed the matter is provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
section of our report, including in relation to these matters. Accordingly,
our audit included the performance of procedures designed to respond to
our assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements. The results of our audit procedures, including the
procedures performed to address the matters below, provide the basis for
our audit opinion on the accompanying consolidated financial statements.

Independent Auditors’ Report
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Independent Auditors’ Report

B ZBE R E

Key audit matter

Classification and valuation of
investment properties

As at 31 December 2017, the Group’s
investment properties amounted to
RMB5,679 million which represents 25%
of the Group’s total assets. Management is
required to exercise significant judgment in
determining the classification and valuation
of investment properties as disclosed in note
3 to the consolidated financial statements.

The Group determines whether completed
properties held for sales and properties
under development should be transferred
to investment properties based on various
criteria, which include the business plan to
hold the properties for rental income and
appreciation, the Group’s resources to hold
and manage the investment properties and
the approval from the Board of Directors
for the change of use. Properties under
development of RMB1,080 million were
transferred to investment properties in
the current year. The Group engaged
an external valuation expert to perform
the valuation of investment properties.
The valuation methods applied included
the direct comparison approach and
income approach which involved various
assumptions, such as estimated rental
revenues, discount rates, occupancy
rates, historical transactions and market
knowledge.

The related disclosures are included in notes
2.4, 3 and 13 to the consolidated financial
statements.

How our audit addressed the key audit
matter

For the transfer between properties under
development and investment properties, we
obtained and reviewed the approval from the
Board of Directors and the business plans of
these investment properties and compared
them with the Group’s related accounting

policy.

For the valuation of investment properties,
our audit procedures included verifying
those signed rental contracts, comparing
unit price of adjacent similar properties
that was benchmarked in the valuation
process, assessing assumptions related to
future market rents, the discount rates and
future maintenance costs applied based on
historical experiences with the involvement
of our internal valuation specialists, who
focused on term yield, reversionary yield
and market unit rent. We also assessed
the adequacy of the disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements.
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Key audit matter

Net realisable value of completed
properties held for sale and properties
under development

As at 31 December 2017, the Group’s
properties under development and
completed properties held for sale
amounted to RMB9,802 million which
represents 43% of the Group’s total assets.
These properties were stated at the lower
of cost and net realisable value. The net
realisable value was estimated by the
management based on expected selling
prices, the cost of completion of properties
under development, and the costs to be
incurred in selling the properties based on
prevailing market condition. The estimation
of the net realisable value involved significant
judgment.

The related disclosures are included in notes
3, 14 and 21 to the consolidated financial
statements.

How our audit addressed the key audit
matter

We reviewed the Group’s net realisable value
estimation, checked the expected selling
prices to the Group’s similar properties
presold recently or the prices of adjacent
properties sold. For cost of completion
of properties under development and the
cost to be incurred in selling the properties,
we evaluated management’s estimation
methodology, which has been updated to
reflect the latest historical information and the
refined construction and selling costs budget
process.
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Independent Auditors’ Report
B ZBENERE

To the shareholders of Zhong An Real Estate Limited (continued)

Other information included in the Annual
Report

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises the information included in the Annual
Report, other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s
report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the
other information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion
thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we
have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the directors for the
consolidated financial statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with IFRSs issued by the IASB and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors of
the Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations or
have no realistic alternative but to do so.
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To the shareholders of Zhong An Real Estate Limited (continued)

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in
discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. Our report is made solely to you, as a
body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud
or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.
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Independent Auditors’ Report
B ZBENERE

To the shareholders of Zhong An Real Estate Limited (continued)

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.

° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.
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To the shareholders of Zhong An Real Estate Limited (continued)

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report
unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should
not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest
benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Philip Leung, Wai Lap.

Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

21 March 2018
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100 Zhong An Real Estate Limited

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

BOHERR

Year ended 31 December 2017  £Z 20174 12 A31 HIFFE

2017 2016
2017 & 2016 4
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
iz AR®TT AREBT T
Revenue WA 5 4,395,117 5,007,148
Cost of sales SHE A (3,385,190) (4,382,170)
Gross profit EF 1,009,927 624,978
Other income and gains E A YA R i m 5 109,276 30,193
Selling and distribution expenses HE RO HEFX (269,631) (187,495)
Administrative expenses THRAZ (302,104) (311,611)
Other expenses Hithfix (25,517) (19,029)
Fair value gain upon transfer to ER SR EYEN
investment properties N EEKE 13 523 -
Changes in fair value of REMENRR
investment properties BEZH) 13 825,362 123,908
Finance costs WIFER 7 (41,426) (11,717)
Share of loss of joint ventures DIhEEREREIE 17 (4,371) (19)
Profit before tax BRFE A A 5F5 6 1,302,039 249,212
Income tax expense FiSHi R < 10 (493,635) (88,250)
Profit for the year FRFE 808,404 160,962
Attributable to: AR A -
Owners of the parent NEIEZ 2 =N 547,435 125,272
Non-controlling interests IR A A 260,969 35,690
808,404 160,962
Earnings per share attributable to BATEEREEA
ordinary equity holders of the parent EEERER 11
Basic FHR RMB10 cents RMB3 cents
AR¥105 AR 3D
Diluted e RMB10 cents RMB3 cents
AR¥105 AR 35
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

SOtEERER

Year ended 31 December 2017 £ Z 20174 12 A31 HIFFE

2017 2016
2017 & 2016 4
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T ARBT T
Profit for the year FRFHE 808,404 160,962
Other comprehensive income Hib2mksa=
Other comprehensive income REZIBEEFN DR
to be reclassified to profit or FiERNEMEE
loss in subsequent periods: s
Exchange differences on translation of BEFINER
foreign operations EAECENERE (2,545) 4,070
Net other comprehensive income REZBPBEEN DR
to be reclassified to profit or loss EESEWEMEE
in subsequent periods lgaye:cl (2,545) 4,070
Total comprehensive income FRARENEAR
for the year 805,859 165,032
Attributable to: AR FEA -
Owners of the parent [SYNCIET =N 541,870 131,540
Non-controlling interests FEPERR A 263,989 33,492
805,859 165,032
zrEEsRAs —E—+FF# 101



Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

B OB AR R

31 December 2017 2017412 A 31 H

2017 2016
2017 2016 4
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
Kz AR®T T ARETTT
Non-current assets kRBEE
Property and equipment BE L& E 12 2,059,812 1,362,070
Investment properties "B 13 5,475,911 5,129,937
Properties under development EEEGERES 14 1,857,179 2,285,929
Restricted cash SRR & 25 139,927 141,351
Available-for-sale investments A SR E 15 367,653 28,300
Long term prepayments RHIFE R 16 236,665 409,958
Investment in joint ventures REEBENRE 17 629 759
Loans and receivables from RE—BELDENER
a joint venture K el FIE 18 - 173,246
Deferred tax assets RIEFIBE EE 19 101,062 168,779
Total non-current assets BIERBEE 10,238,838 9,700,329
Current assets REEE
Completed properties held for sale FEHE D SR 21 3,528,806 5,506,562
Properties under development el 14 4,416,081 2,931,314
Inventories PER 17,431 16,158
Trade and bills receivables FEUR B SRR R % 23 64,239 78,321
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables FB[I X ~ 2% R H b EUWRIE 24 764,020 479,164
Equity investments at fair value through BRAREBE
profit or loss FFABEAERIEE 22 72,298 491
Restricted cash 2R 3R 5 25 790,733 354,138
Cash and cash equivalents R EIREEEY 25 2,502,367 946,651
Investment properties classified DEARFIELENIREME
as held for sale 13 202,889 257,313
Total current assets BB EE 12,358,864 10,570,112
Current liabilities nEBE
Advance from joint venture BEPEENR 108,520 -
Trade payables JERTE SRR 26 1,747,904 1,938,978
Other payables and accruals E At pE S 5E K e AT & A 27 636,930 603,226
Advances from customers ZEIEN 28 4,573,014 3,051,080
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings &t/ 88847 & 5% [ Eqth (& 5% 29 1,627,419 2,131,739
Tax payable FEfTIR 10 785,661 668,900
Total current liabilities wREEE 9,479,448 8,393,923
Net current assets REEEFE 2,879,416 2,176,189
Total assets less current liabilities BEERABAR 13,118,254 11,876,518
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

SO BR R R

31 December 2017 2017412 A31 H

2017 2016
2017 2016 F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
HiaE AR¥T T ARETTT
Non-current liabilities FEREEE
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings =t/ $R1TE 7% & B fth 3k 29 2,932,000 3,136,609
Deferred tax liabilities EEFREAE 19 1,127,090 1,028,774
Total non-current liabilities HIERBAE 4,059,090 4,165,383
Net assets BEE 9,059,164 7,711,135
Equity R
Equity attributable to owners of the parent R A &S AFE(LHEZS
Share capital A% A 30 516,469 220,811
Reserves Ee] 32 6,934,889 6,318,091
7,451,358 6,538,902
Non-controlling interests FEiERR R 1,607,806 1,172,233
Total equity R 9,059,164 7,711,135
Shi Kancheng Shen Tiaojuan £ EE
Director Director HEAR AR AR 1B
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
BB R

Year ended 31 December 2017  £Z 20174 12 A31 HIFFE

Attributable to owners of the parent

BOTEEARE
Share Share  Stafutoy  Statutory  Exchange Proposed Non-
Share  premium  Contributed Capital opion suplus reseve fluctuation  Retained final controlling Total
captal ~accont  sumplus  reserve  reseve resene fid  resene profits  dividend Total  interests equity
B iEEs i EdiE | F2R
Br RREE  EEER  ReREe  EgE MRE BERE EEE REEW  AERS it B4
RWBOOD  RMBOOD  RMBOOD  RMBUDO  RMBOIO  RMBODO  RMBODD  RMBOMD  RWBOMD  RWBOOO  RVBOW  RWBOW  RVBOO
MRETT  ARETT  ARRTR  ARETR ARETR  ARETn ARETn  ARETR  ARETn  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR
Notes 30
Note 30 §30a)  MNoiedb)  Noteddc)  MNoie2d  Noted2d  Note32)
iRH)]
=2 Nt I 521 I 7 T 7 1 I/
At 1 January 2016 D16%1 718 20811 2966202 30318 212,161 10275 206978 8259 (110772 2605483 - 6410223 1142543 7562766
Proft o theyear ERilE - - - - - - - - B - M B 10
Other comprehensiie ERERRENG
income for the year
Eichange iferences reied fo nEEhEE
foregn operations LEREE - - - - - - - 6,268 - - 6,268 2.199) 4010
Tota comprehensive ncome ERRENGES
forthe year - - - - - - - 6208 15012 - 130 B4R 1650
Ao of oncontolingmeests REFEERER - - - - - - - - SN I B¢
Share optons e Rk - - - = ) - - - 8 - - - -
StatutorySupls rsene HERBLES - - = = = 2 - - B - - = =
At 31 December 2016 N6FERAIIE 20811 20620  N3M8*  29N0* 1419t 20839* 82%0% (104504 2779216" - 052 11228 T
Prot forthe year il - - - - - - - - - WIA% O %0060 808404
Other comprehensiie income ERERAENG
forthe year:
Bichangs diferences elted o BERsREE
foregn opertions JERER - - - - - - - (5,365 - - (5,365 300 (2545)
Tota comprehensive ncore ERRENEEE
forthe year - - - - - - - (5565 54743 -GS0 23080 805850
Addton of non-controling rterests  FE kR ER - - - - - - - - - - - 10261 190260
Issueof s Hikh W 562 - - - - - - - - B - B
Snare optons foreure ERERR - - - - (8349 - - - 3419 - - - -
Diton due o ssuence of newsheres ~ RFBAGIEFT
byasibsdy ifkinEs - - S i - - - . . - fBeT (86T -
StatutorySupls resene HERBMES - - - - - 5048 - - M - - . .
At31 December 2017 NTERANE  Gi6469 3022803+ M8 81Ot 184t 23407t 820* (110069 3302 - 45138 1607806 9,069,164
* These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated other reserves of  * ZEREREREASHMBRARAEG 6
RMB6,934,889,000 (2016: RMB6,318,091,000) in the consolidated statement of H A % 15 A R %5 6,934,889,000 7T (2016 4F : AR#E

financial position.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

EHEETRER

Year ended 31 December 2017 £ Z 20174 12 A31 HIFFE

2017 2016
20175 20166
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
izt AT ARETT
Cash flows from operating activities REEBNRLRE
Profit before tax G IR 1,302,039 249,212
Adjustments for: AR
Depreciation e 12 31,866 20,958
Fair value gain upon transfer to BRERENFEN (523) -
investment properties
Changes in fair value of investment properties REMENDRB 13 (825,362) (123,908)
Equity investments at fair value BAREE (1,825) 67
through profit or loss STABRNERRE
Realise of properties under development SRR ET I FE 14 (1,213) (71,611)
to net realisable value
Share of profit and loss of a joint venture DERELENRZ 4,371 15
Loss/(gain) on disposal of investment properties HEREMENER/( uﬂzﬁﬁ 6 (61,991) 5,684
Finance costs BsER 7 41,426 11,717
488,788 92,134
(Increase)/decrease in properties under development  BIZEH ¥ (3210) /FiL (482,112) 3,392,418
Increase in investment properties and investment BEMERIERIEDEEM (858,814) =
properties under construction
Decrease/(increase) in completed properties held for sale 1R EME R E{EHERENE 1,977,756 (1,000,263)
WD/ ()
Decrease/(increase) in trade and bills receivables EUE FEREZERD,/(E10) 14,082 (6,123)
(Increase)/decrease in prepayments, B - ke REMERIR (284,856) 58,808
deposits and other receivables (&m),/FD
Decrease/(increase) in long term prepayments REBAFRD/(3810) 173,293 (60,637)
Increase in inventories FEEM (1,273) (5,530)
Increase in restricted cash for pre-sale proceeds TBEMBRERBHIRSEM (348,028) (221,312)
Decreasg in trade payables ERE ZRZRD (191,074) (381,501)
Increase/(decrease) in other payables and accruals HiENZERESEREM () 139,953 (185,705)
Increase/(decrease) in advances from customers REREM LM,/ Cid) 1,521,934 (665,002)
Cash generated from operations REERELNRS 2,149,649 1,027,287
Interest paid BERFE (309,466) (391,340)
Income tax and land appreciation tax paid EAEH R LIS ET (210,841) (44,737)
BLEEHRAF —+###% 105



106 Zhong An Real Estate Limited

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

AHRERER

Year ended 31 December 2017  EZ 20174 12 A31 HIFFE

2017 2016
2017 20164
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
Kzt ARETT ARETT
Net cash flows generated from operating activities SE£BELNRLHERE 1,629,342 591,210
Cash flows generated from/(used in) REEKEE /(BB WBELHE
investing activities
Repayment from a joint venture RE—HEEEEER 173,246 =
Acquisition of a new joint venture TE-HAERE (5,000) (25,000)
Loans to a joint venture RIET-—HAELEER - (173,246)
Increase in investment properties and TEERAMERDBARELEN (169,506) (60,794)
investment properties classified as held for sale REMELM
Proceeds from disposal of investment properties HEREMEREHE 927,647 212,604
Purchases of items of property and equipment BAREREEEE (308,434) (130,929)
Advance from a joint venture BECERTR 108,520 =
Purchase of available-for-sale BA-HAHEERE (409,335) -
Proceeds from disposal of items of property HERERZXEERFE30E (858) 5,143
and equipment
Proceeds from disposal of a joint venture HE—MEECEMBEHE 759 =
Increase in restricted cash X HZR S 1 (87,143) (21,863)
Net cash flows generated from/(used in) REEKEL/(KR) 229,895 (194,085)
investing activities NELREFE
Cash flows used in financing activities RETHEANRSRE
Proceeds from issue of shares BIROKEEHE 351,909 -
New interest-bearing bank and other borrowings AT ERTERREMER 2,104,967 2,929,949
Repayment of interest-bearing bank BEHBRITENREMER (2,813,896) (3,856,444)
and other borrowings
Acquisition of non-controling interests WS R 190,261 (6,663)
Dilution due to issuance of new shares by a subsidiary BB A BB/ TH R D A0S - =
(Increase)/decrease in an amount due to JE R AR AR SR 5 E 27 (124,864) 20,000
a non-controling shareholder (&), Fd
Net cash flows used in financing activities RETHHEANASRETE (291,623) (913,158)
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and ReRBLEENEN/(HD) F4E 1,567,614 (516,033)
cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year FNRERBLEEY 946,651 1,454,458
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net EXZHNZE - FH (11,898) 8,226
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year EREERAEEEY 2,502,367 946,651
Analysis of balances of cash and cash equivalents H&RBEZENELRIHN
Cash and bank balances HE RRTES 25 2,502,367 946,651
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1.

Notes to Financial Statements

CORPORATE AND GROUP
INFORMATION

Zhong An Real Estate Limited (the “Company”) is a limited liability
company incorporated as an exempted company in the Cayman
Islands on 13 March 2007 under the Companies Law (revised) of
the Cayman Islands. The registered office address of the Company
is Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman
KY1-1111, Cayman Islands.

The Company and its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) are
principally engaged in property development, leasing and hotel
operations. The Group’s property development projects during the
year were all located in Zhejiang, Anhui and Jiangsu provinces, the
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”). There were no significant
changes in the nature of the Group’s principal activities during the
year.

The Company has listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “HKSE”) with stock code “00672” on 13
November 2007 and raised capital amounted to HKD3,621 million
from the market.

In the opinion of the Company’s directors (the “Directors”), the
holding company and the ultimate holding company of the Company
is Whole Good Management Limited, a company incorporated in
the British Virgin Islands on 3 May 2007. Whole Good Management
Limited is wholly owned by Mr. Shi Kancheng, Chairman of the
Company.

B R ¥R R Y o

LAFREKERH

REFEERRAR(ARATF)E2007F3 A
1I3EREBEFEHE R GNA(KER)ERS
HETMR L REREERATF - KAFH
S0 9% =5 B2 3 31E 4 Cricket Square, Hutchins
Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-
1111, Cayman Islands °

AREREMBAR (G ARE D) EER/R
EWERE HERBELE - FR - A%
B33 IE B X P AR AR ([
BT - KBIOTE#HE - FARKENE

AARR2007F11 B1ISEREBHAER S
FTEMRA R ([ EEHRAT)ER LT - &K
K5k & [00672]) - HTIBAEE A 53,621
BEAT -

KARREEF(EEDRR - ARAH
TR A A R E AR YE R A 7l A Whole Good
Management Limited © —Z 2007 55 A
SHEABHRESHMNIANAR - XA
RIESREIMKEEZERES Whole Good
Management Limited
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Notes to Financial Statements

B R R R B B
1. CORPORATE AND GROUP 1. AFIREEEHE (§)
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
Information about subsidiaries EBEMBARNER
Particulars of the subsidiaries are as follows: B ARFEFIT
Place and date Issued ordinary/ Percentage of equity
of incorporation/ registered  attributable to the Group
registration and capital as at asat
place of business 31 December 2017 ARBEEREADL Principal
Name of company SR/ RILR 20175128318 2017 2016 activities
INCER EBHER AN BRTLE/FMEsR 20175 0168  IEBEH
MIREEERL PRC/Mainland China RMB2,000,000 55.7% 50.2%  Property leasing
FREERAF 3 April 1997 ARE2,000,00070 NEHE
Zhejiang Zhong An HE/FERH,
Property Development 1997464 A3H
Xiaoshan Co., Ltd. @
RRERERAA PRC/Mainland China RMB500,000,000 90% 90%  Property development
Zhong An Group Co., Ltd. @ 26 December 1997 AR 500,000,0007 and leasing
E /R MEREREE
199712 A 268
MIRZNE BB ER AT PRG/Mainland China RMB10,000,000 90% 90%  Property service
Zhejiang Zhong An Property 18 November 1998 AR%10,000,0007C ESo s
Co,, Ltd. # HEl/ B
199811 A18H
CYREEHEREARAF PRC/Mainland China 1US$5,000,000 100% 100%  Property development
Anhui Zhong An Real Estate 9 August 2001 5,000,000 7 NEFRE
Development Co,, Ltd. ! BB/ ERH
20018 A9H
MNESEHEREERAR PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000,000 61.9% 65.8%  Property development
Hangzhou White Horse Property 27 June 2002 AR 50,000,000 7T MERE
Development Co., Ltd. ¥ HE/ B
20026 4278
THRREEARAR PRC/Mainland China RMB57,000,000 84.2% 84.2%  Property development
Anhui Zhong An Real Estate 17 January 2003 AR 57,000,000 VESE
Co., Ltd. e/
2003517178
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Notes to Financial Statements

B SRR AL

CORPORATE AND GROUP
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

1. RFRKEEH(]&)

Information about subsidiaries (continued) ERMBARNER (&)

Particulars of the subsidiaries are as follows: (continued) WEBARFEBNT : (8)

Place and date Issued ordinary/ Percentage of equity
of incorporation/ registered  attributable to the Group
registration and capital as at asat
place of business 31 December 2017 ARBEEREES L Principal
Name of company MR/ B K 20175128318 2017 2016 activities
nAER $BHBRAH BRTER/HMEX 201745 165  IEEH
MMERIESERAR PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000,000 92.6% 92.6%  Property development
Hangzhou Danube Real Estate 7 March 2003 AR 50,000,000 MERE
Co, Ltd, ®4@ HE /AR
20033 A7H
BRREREEXERAR PRC/Mainland China RMB8,000,000 68.8% 731%  Property development
Chunan Minfu Property 24 Qctober 2003 AK%6,000,00070 VRS
Co,, Ltd. ®@ i/ HER
200310 A 248
ZRRZNEERERAT PRC/Mainland China RMB3,000,000 90% 90%  Property management
Anhui Zhong An Property 24 November 2003 ARKE3,000,0007C NEEER
Management Co., Ltd. “ HE /R E R
2003F11 A 248
HERZEHEREERAR PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000,000 61.9% 658%  Property leasing
Shanghai Zhong An Property 19 January 2004 AE10,000,0007 NENE
Development Co., Ltd. © g /R E R
200441 A 198
HLESREXERAR PRC/Mainland China US$77,600,000 68.6% 72.9%  Property development
Zhejiang Huijun Real Estate 1 April 2005 77,600,000% 7T MERE
Co,, Ltd. @ hE /R
2005F4 A1R
MR L EEREARAR PRC/Mainland China RMB2,000,000 61.9% 65.8%  Property management
Hangzhou Zhong An Highlong 20 September 2005 AR#2,000,00070 NEER
Commercial Buildings Co., Ltd. ¥ HE /R
2005F9 f20H
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Notes to Financial Statements

B R AR AE

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

1. DFRKEEH(]&)

Information about subsidiaries (continued) EBRMBARNER (&)

Particulars of the subsidiaries are as follows: (continued) WEBARFEBNT : (8)

Place and date Issued ordinary/ Percentage of equity
of incorporation/ registered  attributable to the Group
registration and capital as at asat
place of business 31 December 2017 ARBEERERS L Principal
Name of company MR/ B K 20175128318 2017 2016 activities
nAER $BHBRAH BRTER/HMEX 20174 168  IEEE
Hind%EE (M) BRAT PRC/Mainland China US$14,900,000 100% 100%  Investment holding
Qirui Enterprise Management 21 November 2005 14,900,000% 7T RAER
(Hangzhou Co., Ltd. BB /B
200511 218
MNEIESEREERAR PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000,000 63.6% 67.6%  Property development
Hangzhou Zneng Jiang Real Estate 16 March 2006 ARH50,000,0007T VEE
Development Co., Ltd. ¥ R E /R ERH
20063 A 16H
EFICEER (M) BRAR PRC/Mainland China US$149,061,280 68.8% 73.1%  Property development
Henlly Enterprise Management 4 December 2006 149,061,280 T RS
(Hangzhou) Co., Ltd. thE /hE R
200612 A4 A
HMNBLRZRABEEBR AR PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000,000 61.9% 65.8%  Hotel management
Hangzhou Xiaoshan Zhong'an 28 May 2007 AK%10,000,0007C BEER
Holiday Inn Co., Ltd. @ /R
20075 28 A
AEGERENFEEERAR PRC/Mainland China RMB500,000 90% 90%  Property management
HeFei Green Bay Property 1 August 2007 AR%500,0007T NEER
Management Co., Ltd., e/ RN
20078 A1H
MMBEAREERERAA PRC/Mainland China 1US$29,990,000 100% 100%  Investment management
Hangzhou Junjie Investment 4 December 2007 29,990,000 7T RAER
Co., Ltd. ® /B
200712 A48
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1.

Notes to Financial Statements

B SRR AL

CORPORATE AND GROUP
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

1. RFRKEEH (&)

Information about subsidiaries (continued) ERMBARNER (&)

Particulars of the subsidiaries are as follows: (continued) WEBAREBNT : (8)

Place and date Issued ordinary/ Percentage of equity
of incorporation/ registered  attributable to the Group
registration and capital as at asat
place of business 31 December 2017 ARBEERERS Principal
Name of company SR/ BLK 20175128318 2017 2016 activities
RS EBHERAH BRTEE/ZRELR 20175 016F  TEEK
HMERESRNERAT PRC/Meainland China US$59,700,000 100% 100%  Consultation
Hangzhou Huijun Information 5 December 2007 59,700,000 T management
Technology Co., Ltd. ! E/FERH FHER
200712 A58
MNERH RN BB AR PRC/Mainland China 1US$29,900,000 68.8% 781%  Manufacture of
Hangzhou Dehong New 1 February 2008 29,900,000 7T construction materials
Constructions Materials HE/HERH BEMBAEE
Management Co., Ltd. 20082710
MNERREERER AR PRC/Mainland China 1US$49,990,000 68.8% 731%  Investment management
Hangzhou Huihong Investment 19 February 2008 49,990,000t RAER
Management Co., Ltd. HE/HE R
2008%2A198
AERZREBBEERAR PRC/Mainland China RMB350,000,000 68.8% 73.1%  Hotel management
Hefei Zhong'an 18 March 2008 A 350,000,000 BEEE
Holiday Inn Co., Ltd. ® el /Bl
20083 A 18H
ESEIMAZS (M) BRAF PRC/Mainland China US$12,000,000 68.8% 731%  Material trading
Huijun Construction Materials 16 July 2008 12,000,000% 7T Vet
Trading (Hangzhou) Co., Ltd. BB /R ERH
20087 A 168
IR EEEREER AR PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000,000 90% 90%  Agriculture development
Zhejiang Anyuan Agriculture 11 June 2009 AR%10,000,0007 BERE
Development Co., Ltd. e /hE R
20096 A 11 A
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Notes to Financial Statements

B R AR YA

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

1. DFRKEEH(]&)

Information about subsidiaries (continued) EBREMBARNER (&)

Particulars of the subsidiaries are as follows: (continued) WEBARFEBOT : (8)

Place and date Issued ordinary/ Percentage of equity
of incorporation/ registered  attributable to the Group
registration and capital as at asat
place of business 31 December 2017 ARBEERERS T Principal
Name of company SR/ BLK 2017E12A31H 2017 2016 activities
GRS EXHERAH BRITEE/TRER 20175 016F  TBEK
FEREEREEERAR PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000,000 90% 90%  Investment holding
Zhong'an Service 13 August 2009 AR 50,000,000 REER
Holding Group Co., Ltd. mEl/hENit
2009F8 A 138
IR FE T BES L BRAR PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000,000 90% 90%  Real estate agency
Zhejiang Anyuan Real 30 October 2009 AK#10,000,0007T FHERE
Estate Agent Co., Ltd. e /hE R
200910 A 308
L ERF RSB RAR PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000,000 90% 90%  Housekeeping service
Zhejiang Anyuan Housekeeping 30 October 2009 AK%10,000,0007C FEMR
Senvice Co., Ltd. ¥ e/ Bl
2009104308
MMRZADREEIERERAR  PRC/Mainland China RMB1,000,000 45.9% 459%  Construction design
Hangzhou Zhong An Image 10 December 2009 AR#1,000,00070 BERE
Construction Design Co., Ltd. e/
200912 4108
MNRREZBRAR PRC/Mainland China RMB200,000,000 90% 90%  Property development
Hangzhou Znong An Property 1 February 2010 AR 200,000,007 NERE
Co,, Ltd. @ /B
20102 A1H
RREFHEREERAR PRC/Mainland China RMB100,000,000 90% 90%  Property development
Yuyao Zhong An Property 5 March 2010 AE#100,000,0007C RS
Development Co., Ltd. e /hE R
20103450
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1.

Notes to Financial Statements

B SRR EE

CORPORATE AND GROUP
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

1. RFRKEEH(]&)

Information about subsidiaries (continued) EBRMBARNER (&)

Particulars of the subsidiaries are as follows: (continued) WEBARFEBNT : (8)

Place and date Issued ordinary/ Percentage of equity
of incorporation/ registered  attributable to the Group
registration and capital as at asat
place of business 31 December 2017 ARBEEREES L Principal
Name of company MR/ B R 20175128318 2017 2016 activities
NAER EBHERAM BRTER/HEX 20174 165  TEEH
MIZREITHARAT PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000,000 90% 90%  Travel agency
Zhejiang Anyuan Travel Agency 17 August 2010 AK%10,000,0007C HRATAL
Co,, Ltd. ¥ /R
2010F8 4178
MNREHEREERAT PRC/Meainland China RMB100,000,000 45.9% 45.9%  Property development
Hangzhou Anyuan Property 14 September 2010 AR 100,000,00070 RS
Development Co., Ltd. mEl/hERt
2010F9 A 148
RRZEZERAF PRC/Mainland China US$150,000,000 93% 93%  Property development
Yuyao Zhong An Property 10 December 2010 150,000,000 7T MERE
Co, Ltd. ® /RN
201012108
HNENREERERAT PRC/Mainland China RMB500,000 61.9% 65.8%  Property management
Hangzhou Fukai Management 2 March 2011 ARH500,0007C NEER
e/ B
2011E3A2H
MIeREXRABRAR PRC/Mainland China RMB100,000,000 90% 90%  Investment holding
Zhejiang Jinnong Investment 15 March 2011 AR#100,000,0007C RAER
Co,, Ltd. ¥ /R
2011%F3 A 158
MR R XFEERAT PRC/Meainland China RMBS3,000,000 90% 90%  Agriculture development
Hangzhou Xingidian Agriculture 22 June 2011 ARH3,000,00070 BERE
Development Co., Ltd. mEl/hERt
2011F6H228
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B IR AR EE

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

1. RFRKEEH(]&)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

Particulars of the subsidiaries are as follows: (continued)

MBARENT : (&)

TENEARNER (&)

Place and date Issued ordinary/ Percentage of equity
of incorporation/ registered  attributable to the Group
registration and capital as at asat
place of business 31 December 2017 ARBEEREES L Principal
Name of company MR/ B R 20175128318 2017 2016 activities
nAER EBHERAM BRTER/HMEL 20174 16F  TEEH
MIRZEEREERERAT PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000,000 61.9% 65.8% Investment holding
Zhejiang Zhong An Commercial 1 August 2011 AR10,000,0007 RAER
Investment Management Co,, Ltd. B /s Bk,
2011E8A1R
MIRZEHEREERAT PRC/Meainland China RMB20,000,000 90% 90%  Property development
Zhejiang Zhong An Property 4 August 2011 AR%20,000,0007C RS
Development Co., Ltd. ¥ BB /R EAH
2011F8 4R
MNRRRERAERER AR PRC/Meainland China RMB1,000,000 62.8% 57.7%  Investment holding
Hangzhou Zhong An Changhong 26 August 2011 AK%1,000,00070 RAER
Investment Management Co., Ltd. ®  #E /B &3
20118526 A
RERZRERZEEBR AR PRC/Mainland China RMB20,000,000 90% 90%  Agriculture development
Yuyao Zhong An Agriculture 9 November 2011 AR®20,000,0007 RERE
Development Co., Ltd. @ fE /R E R
2011611 A9R
FRRSNESAEEEERAR  PRC/Mainland China RMB2,000,000 61.9% 65.8%  Property management
Yuyao Zhong An Time Square 6 December 2011 AR%2,000,0007C NEER
Commercial Management e/
Co., Ltd. ¢ 201112 A 68
MMNRRRERHERAT PRC/Meainland China RMB5,000,000 90% 90%  Construction design
Hangzhou Zhong An 28 November 2011 ARE5,000,00070 e i)
Construction Design Co., Ltd. ® E/FERH
201111 288
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BA SRR AL

CORPORATE AND GROUP
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

1. DFRKEEH(§&)

Information about subsidiaries (continued) EBRMBARNER (&)

Particulars of the subsidiaries are as follows: (continued) WEBARFEBNT : (8)

Place and date Issued ordinary/ Percentage of equity
of incorporation/ registered  attributable to the Group
registration and capital as at asat
place of business 31 December 2017 ARBEEREADL Principal
Name of company SMARYL/RILR 20175128318 2017 2016 activities
NAER EBHERAH BRITER/ZER 20175 016F  EEEK
MR EELZBRBERAE PRC/Mainland China RMB3,000,000 72% 72%  Housekeeping service
Hangzhou Jia Ju Le Housekeeping 15 October 2012 AR 3,000,0007C KR
Senice Co., Ltd. E/FER
201210A 158
MmN LRI EE R AR AR PRC/Mainland China RMB37,500,000 92.7% 90% Investment management
Hangzhou Pulotos Investment 4 February 2013 AR 37,500,000 REER
Management Co., Ltd. “ HE /R E R
2013F2 A4H
LERZEHEREBRAR PRC/Mainland China RMB100,000,000 90% 90%  Property management
Cixi Zhong An Real Estate 28 February 2013 AR 100,000,00070 NEER
Development Co., Ltd. ¥ e /R E R
2013528288
A REEREEREER AR PRC/Mainland China RMB100,000,000 61.9% 65.8%  Property management
Yuyao Zhong An Time Souare 5 August 2013 AR 100,000,00070 NEER
Development Co., Ltd. el /Bl
20138 A5H
AURERREZEFER AT PRC/Mainland China US$16,000,000 64.0% 68.0% Property management
Yuyao Zhong An Time Square 13 August 2013 16,000,000% 7T NEER
Property Co., Ltd. @ mEl/hERit
2013F8 A 134
REZNRREXBHBRAR PRC/Mainland China RMB10,204,100 90% 90%  Property management
Tianjing San Jiu Zhong An 5 September 2013 AR%10,204,1007 MEER
Property Consuiting Co., Ltd. HE /AR
2013F9A5H
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B R AR YA

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

1. DFRKEEH(]&)

Information about subsidiaries (continued) EBEMBARNER (&)

Particulars of the subsidiaries are as follows: (continued) WEBARFEBOT : (8)

Place and date Issued ordinary/ Percentage of equity
of incorporation/ registered  attributable to the Group
registration and capital as at asat
place of business 31 December 2017 ARBEEREA DL Principal
Name of company SMARYL/ BRI 20175128318 2017 2016 activities
GRS EXHERAH BRITEE/ZRER 0175 0165  TEEE
IR EREREERAT PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000,000 61.9% 658%  Property management
Zhejiang Zhong An Sheng Long 9 September 2013 ARH50,000,0007T NEER
Commercial Co., Ltd. E/FE R
2013F9A9H
HnrEEE (M) BRAR PRC/Mainland China US$14,900,000 68.8% 73.1%  Investment holding
Qirui Commercial (Hangzhou) 18 October 2013 14,900,000% 7T RAER
Management Co., Ltd. HE /R R
2013107 188
BERREXERAT PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000,000 61.9% 65.8%  Property management
Cixi Zhong An Property Co., Ltd. @ 6 December 2013 AR 50,000,000 NEER
e/ Bl
20131268
MMERREERER AT PRC/Mainland China RMB1,000,000 90% 90%  Investment management
Hangzhou Juntuo Investment 6 December 2013 AK%1,000,00070 RAER
Management Co., Ltd. ¢ e/ RN
2013F12A6A
I8 RE MR R A ERAR PRC/Mainland China RMB100,000,000 61.9% 65.8% Investment holding
Zhejiang Zhong An City 17 December 2013 ARH100,000,0007 RERK
Construction investment Co., Ltd. B /HE Rk
2013%12R178
ENELEEREREERAR PRC/Mainland China RMB100,000,000 52.6% 559%  Property management
Tonglu Xiaoyuanshan Wellness 31 March 2014 AR 100,000,00070 MEER
Investment Development Co., Ltd. @ fE /FE A3
2014F 331 A
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B SRR EE

CORPORATE AND GROUP
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

1. RFRKEEH(]&)

Information about subsidiaries (continued) ERMBARNER (&)

Particulars of the subsidiaries are as follows: (continued) WEBARFEBNT : (8)

Place and date Issued ordinary/ Percentage of equity
of incorporation/ registered  attributable to the Group
registration and capital as at asat
place of business 31 December 2017 ARBEEREAL Principal
Name of company SMARYL/RILR 20175128318 2017 2016 activities
GRS ERHURAH BRITEE/TRELR 20178 016F  TEEK
MNRREHEREERAR PRC/Mainland China RMB200,000,000 90% 90%  Property development
Hangzhou Zhong An Property 18 April 2014 AR 200,000,000 VEEE
Co,, Litd. ¥ i/ HER
20144 F188
MNREEERANEEERAR PRC/Mainland China RMB20,000,000 61.9% 65.8%  Property development
Hangzhou Zhong An Sheng Long 21 April 2014 AR#20,000,0007 VEE
Liyumen Property Co., Ltd. ¢ R /RN
201448218
RERHBRAR PRC/Mainland China RMB100,000,000 90% 90%  Consultation
Happy days Co., Ltd, @ 25 June 2014 AR 100,000,000 7 management
e/ B FAER
2014F6 5258
BALEEEERAR PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000,000 61.9% 65.8%  Property management
Taoranshan Wellness Co., Ltd. @ 19 August 2014 ARH#50,000,0007C NEER
i/ PER
2014%F8 194
BN L) BEERERAR PRC/Mainland China 1S$2,000,000 68.8% 73.1%  Hotel management
Runzhou (Zhejiang) Hotel 27 November 2014 2,000,000%7T BEER
Management Limited ! mEl/hERt
2014511 R 278
RIMEER R R PRC/Mainland China RMB100,000,000 49.5% 52.6%  Property management
BRURBBAT 11 December 2014 AR 100,000,007 NEER
Yuyao Lubu Zhong An Small Towns e /hER

Developments Co., Ltd. @

2014%12A11H

RLFERRAA]

—z=—+#FER 117



Notes to Financial Statements

B R AR YA

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

1. DFRKEEH(]&)

Information about subsidiaries (continued) EBREMBARNER (&)

Particulars of the subsidiaries are as follows: (continued) WEBARFEBOT : (8)

Place and date Issued ordinary/ Percentage of equity
of incorporation/ registered  attributable to the Group
registration and capital as at asat
place of business 31 December 2017 ARBEEREADL Principal
Name of company SMARYL/RILR 20175128318 2017 2016 activities
NRER EBERAH BRITEE/TRER 20175 0165  TBEE
MR X —BRE PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000,000 68.8% 781%  Hotel Management
REAERBRAR 26 December 2014 AR#10,000,00070 ERER
Hangzhou Lin'an Youyicun Homestay BB /R EAH
Investment Management Co., Ltd. @9 2014412 A 26 B
RERMARAT] PRC/Mainland China RMB100,000,000 61.9% 65.8% Investment management
Zhong An Tiandi Co., Ltd. @ 23 March 2015 AR 100,000,00070 REER
R/ RE R
2015F 3523 A
FRREEZERARAR PRC/Mainland China RMB100,000,000 61.9% 65.8%  Property management
Zhong An Homestay Development 26 October 2015 AR%100,000,00070 NEER
Co,, Ltd. ¥ G
20154107 268
mNERELEXERAR PRC/Mainland China UUS$50,000,000 68.8% 73.1%  Property development
Hangzhou Xixi Huiin Property 18 November 2015 50,000,000 ESE
Co., Ltd. ® /R
201511 A 18H
MIRZF R ERBR AR PRC/Meainland China RMB100,000,000 61.9% 658%  Movieand TV culture
Zhejiang Zhongan Movie and TV 15 December 2015 ARH100,000,0007 At
Culture Development Co., Ltd, @ mEl/hENt
2015F12 A 158
HNTEHRERFERAT PRC/Meainland China US$30,000,000 731% 731%  Health development
Hangzhou Qiandao Lake 29 December 2015 30,000,000 ERER
Zhongchuang Health Co., Ltd., 11 /B
201512 A29H
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B SRR EE

CORPORATE AND GROUP
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

1. RFRKEEH(]&)

Information about subsidiaries (continued) ERMBARNER (&)

Particulars of the subsidiaries are as follows: (continued) WEBARFEBNT : (8)

Place and date Issued ordinary/ Percentage of equity
of incorporation/ registered  attributable to the Group
registration and capital as at asat
place of business 31 December 2017 ARBEEREADL Principal
Name of company SMARYL/RILR 20175128318 2017 2016 activities
NRER ERHURAH BRITEE/DELR 20178 0165  TEEE
JEE: (BIRR) ERER AR Hong Kong HK$100,000 68.8% 731%  Investment holding
Huijun (International) Holdings 4 March 2005 100,000/ 7T REER
Limited B
20053 A4H
BB RESERAR Hong Kong HK$1 100% 100%  Construction design
Hong Kong Bo Kai Construction 26 February 2008 18T o2 5ie)
Design Limited B
20082 A 268
ERERMEARAR Hong Kong HK$1 100% 100%  Property development
Hong Kong Huiyuan Real Estate 26 February 2008 17T MERE
Limited &b
200852 526 A
FREEME (BE)BRAR Hong Kong HK$780,000 68.8% 729%  Shipping
Zhong An International Shipping 11 November 2011 780,000/ 7T fig
(Hong Kong) Limited ¢ B8
2011E11A118
ERMEERAR Hong Kong HK$1 100% 100%  Investment Holding
Hengyuan Properties Limited ! 27 December 2013 18T REER
Y
2013%12R278
EEEREARAT Hong Kong HK$1 100% 100%  Investment holding
Zerun Management Limited 31 December 2013 1787 RAER
Y

20134124318
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B R AR YA

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

1. DFRKEEH(]&)

Information about subsidiaries (continued) EBREMBARNER (&)

Particulars of the subsidiaries are as follows: (continued) WEBARFEBOT : (8)

Place and date Issued ordinary/ Percentage of equity
of incorporation/ registered  attributable to the Group
registration and capital as at asat
place of business 31 December 2017 ARBEERERS Principal
Name of company MR/ B R 20175128318 2017 2016 activities
nAER EBHERAM BRTEE/ EMEE 20174 16F  TEEH
HEEEGR AT Hong Kong HKS$1 100% 100%  Investment holding
Shengze Management Limited (! 29 February 2014 1787 RAER
&k
2014F2 4298
HEEEERAR Hong Kong HK$1 100% 100%  Investment holding
Glorious Days Management Limited 23 June 2014 18T REER
Bk
20146 H 238
ENERES (B%)ERARA Hong Kong HK$100,000 68.8% 73.1%  Investment holding
Grand Sail Interational Trading 15 September 2014 100,000/ 7 RAER
Limited 9 &b
201459 A 158
FRERZ S (FA) ERA Hong Kong HK$100,000 68.8% 73.1%  Investment holding
Chaoyang International Trading 15 September 2014 100,000/ 7 RAER
Limited @@ &b
20149158
BEREHERRAR Hong Kong HK$10,000 68.8% 73.1%  Investment holding
Hong Kong Time Honour Property 15 September 2014 10,0007 RAER
Limited @@ &B
2014F9 A 158
EHEE (BB ERAR Hong Kong HK$10,000 68.8% 731%  Investment holding
Pannix Industrial (Hong Kong) 15 September 2014 10,0007 REER
Limited @ %
2014F9 A 158
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CORPORATE AND GROUP
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

1. RFRKEEH(]&)

Information about subsidiaries (continued) ERMBARNER (&)

Particulars of the subsidiaries are as follows: (continued) WEBARFEBNT : (8)

Place and date Issued ordinary/ Percentage of equity
of incorporation/ registered  attributable to the Group
registration and capital as at asat
place of business 31 December 2017 ARERGRERS L Principal
Name of company SR/ LK 2017128318 2017 2016 activities
NREH EBHERAH BRTEE/fEx 017§ 0165  IEER
(Rl (B8 BIEE B AR AR Hong Kong HK$10,000 68.8% 73.1%  Investment holding
Bright (Hong Kong) Hotels 15 September 2014 10,00077T RAER
Management Limited ¢ B
20149158
|deal World Investments Limited British Virgin Islands US$1 100% 100%  Investment holding
6 November 2003 1% REER
ABLARES
2003411 A6H
China Bright Management Limited British Virgin Islands US$1 100% 100%  Investment holding
13 November 2007 1%71 RERR
EREARES
2007411 A 138
Esteem High Enterprises Limited British Virgin Islands US$1 100% 100%  Investment holding
13 November 2007 1% RERER
ERERARES
200711 A 138
Everplus Management Limited British Virgin Islands US$1 100% 100%  Investment holding
13 November 2007 1%L RAER
EREBRES
200711 A13H
Gain Large Enterprises Limited ¢ British Virgin Islands US$1 100% 100%  Investment holding
13 November 2007 1% REER
ABLRRES
2007411 A13H
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B R AR YA

CORPORATE AND GROUP
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

1. DFRKEEH(]&)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

Particulars of the subsidiaries are as follows: (continued)

TENEARNER (&)

MBARENT : (&)

Place and date Issued ordinary/ Percentage of equity
of incorporation/ registered  attributable to the Group
registration and capital as at asat
place of business 31 December 2017 ARERGRERS L Principal
Name of company HAMRL/ LK 201712831 H 2017 2016 activities
NRER EBHERAH BRTEE/ EREER 20175 0165  IEER
Plenty Management Limited “ British Virgin Islands US$1 100% 100%  Investment holding
13 November 2007 1% RAER
EEEBRES
200711 A 138
RREE(PE)ERAR British Virgin Islands US$t 100% 100%  Property management
Zhong An Property 20 June 2013 1%7L NEER
(Ching) Ltd. 0 RBERREE
2013F6 520 A
REREBRAR British Virgin Islands US$1 100% 100%  Investment holding
Greenfield Investment Limited 91 19 May 2014 e REER
EBEBRES
201457198
iR BENERNERERAG British Virgin Islands US$1 68.8% 731%  Investment holding
Bright Hotels & Resorts 8 July 2014 1%L REER
Management Limited © LEERARE
2014%7A8H
BARIERAT British Virgin Islands US$1 68.8% 781%  Investment holding
Hui Sheng Global Limited @ 11 July 2014 1% RAER
EREBRES
2014%7A118
KERIBRAR British Virgin Islands US$1 68.8% 731%  Investment holding
Time Honour Global Limited 9 11 July 2014 E RAER
EREBRES
2014%7R118
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B SRR EE

CORPORATE AND GROUP
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

1. RFRKEEH(]&)

Information about subsidiaries (continued) ERMBARNER (&)

Particulars of the subsidiaries are as follows: (continued) WEBARFEBNT : (8)

Place and date Issued ordinary/ Percentage of equity
of incorporation/ registered  attributable to the Group
registration and capital as at asat
place of business 31 December 2017 ARBEERRED L Principal
Name of company SR/ LK 2017128318 2017 2016 activities
NREH EBHERAH BRTER/AER 017 0165  IEER
REEREGRAT British Virgin Islands USS$1 68.8% 73.1%  Investment holding
Shengda Developments Limited 31 July 2014 e REER
SEERARNE
2014%7 318
BERRER AT British Virgin Islands USS$1 68.8% 73.1%  Investment holding
First Achiever Holdings Limited 13 August 2014 ey RAER
ERERRHS
2014F8 A 13 A
Zhong An Real Estate Australia AUS$1 100% 100%  Investment holding
(Australia) Pty Ltd, @1 31 October 2014 18T REER
A
2014104318
Zhong An Real Estate (Canada) Ltd. Canada CA$120 100% 100%  Property development
8 November 2013 12007 NxEF%
mex
2013F11A8H
Zhong An Real Estate Development Canada CA$100 100% 100%  Property management
(Canada) Ltd. 15 January 2014 100707 NEEE
mex
2014%1 158
BT AR RARAR Cayman Islands HK$173,800,000 68.8% 73.4%  Investment holding
China New City Commercial 2 July 2013 173,800,000/ RAER
Development Limited " HEHE
2013%7H28
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B IR AR

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

1. RFRKEEH(]&)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

Particulars of the subsidiaries are as follows: (continued)

TENEARNER (&)

MBARENT : (&)

Place and date Issued ordinary/ Percentage of equity

of incorporation/ registered  attributable to the Group

registration and capital as at asat

place of business 31 December 2017 ARBEERRED L Principal
Name of company SR/ LK 20175128311 2017 2016 activities
nA%ER EBHERAM BRTER/ER 017 0165  IEER
MNBREZERAR PRC/Mainland China RMB100,000,000 90% 90%  Property management
Hangzhou Run'an Property Co., Ltd. © 27 July 2015 AE#100,000,0007C E

hE/ PR

20157 A278
RREBRAREH Japan JPY5,010,000 68.8% 731%  Tourism management
Zhongjiale Tourism Co., Ltd. @11 21 December 2015 5,010,000 BT IREER

B

2015%12A21H
ML ARG EEEERR AR PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000,000 61.9% 65.8%  Hotel management
Zhejiang Bairuite Hotel 19 May 2016 AR 10,000,000 BEER

Management Co. Ltd, @1 e/ B

201657194
IEEEEER AT Hong Kong HK$1 68.8% 781%  Investment holding
Easy Rich Corporation Limited @ 1 April 2016 1871 REER

A

2016F4 A1H
KCJEIRIR A 24t Japan JPY10,000,000 61.9% 73.1%  Property development
KCJ International Co., Ltd. 1 9 May 2016 10,000,000 BT L

=

20165490
FRERREXERAA PRC/Mainland China RMB100,000,000 61.9% 658%  Health development
Zhong An Health Co., Ltd. 0 3May 2016 AR%100,000,00070 ERER

e/

20165430
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CORPORATE AND GROUP
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

1. RFRKEEH(]&)

Information about subsidiaries (continued) EBENBARNESR (&)

Particulars of the subsidiaries are as follows: (continued) B ARFRWT : (&)

Place and date Issued ordinary/ Percentage of equity
of incorporation/ registered  attributable to the Group
registration and capital as at asat
place of business 31 December 2017 ARBEERRED L Principal
Name of company SR/ LK 2017128318 2017 2016 activities
NREH EBHERAH BRTER/ER 0175 0165  IEER
NMEERERAR British Virgin Islands US$1 68.8% 73.1%  Investment holding
Capital Yield Global Limited @/ 1 April 2016 7 REER
EEEBRES
20164 810
SEREBRAR British Virgin Islands USS$1 68.8% 73.1%  Investment holding
Easy Success Investments Limited ©@4 11 April 2016 ey RAER
ERERRHS
2016548118
MM RRERERER AT PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000,000 61.9% 731%  Investment holding
Hangzhou Zhongjia Commercial 18 November 2016 AR 50,000,000 RAER
Management Co., Ltd, @ E /R
201611 A 18R
REEFERAR Hong Kong HK$1 68.8% 731%  Investment holding
Utra Nice International Limited ¢ 7 October 2016 13T REER
BA
2016%F10A 78
IR EREREESERERAR PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000,000 61.9% 73.1%  Investment holding
Zhejiang Shenglong Equity 23 May 2016 AR 50,000,0007C RARR
Investment and Fund Management HE /AR
20165523 A
Verdania Properties Limited Canada 0 100% 100%  Property development
Partnership. (1! 29 July 2016 MERE
mex
2016%7R298
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B IR AR EE

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

1. RFRKEEH(]&)

Information about subsidiaries (continued) EBRMBARNER (&)

Particulars of the subsidiaries are as follows: (continued) WEBAREBNT : (&)

Place and date Issued ordinary/ Percentage of equity
of incorporation/ registered  attributable to the Group
registration and capital as at asat
place of business 31 December 2017 ARBEERRE L Principal
Name of company SR/ LK 20175128311 2017 2016 activities
NR%ER EBHERAH BRTER/fER 017 0165  IEER
AR S e ERARAR PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000,000 61.9% 100%  Theater management
Zhejiang new screen Theater 29 November 2016 AR#10,000,0007 Bl e
Management Co., Ltd. @ HE /R E R
2016411 298
MMk ERREREB AR PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000,000 49.53% 80%  Hospital management
Hangzhou Qiu Eye 12 August 2016 AR 50,000,0007C BRER
Hospital Co., Ltd. ¥ mE /hER,
20168 A 12 A
IEEEXBRAR PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000,000 31.6% 51%  Property development
Zhejiang Hengfa Real 6 June 2014 AR 50,000,000 MERE
Estate Co., Ltd, 04 /B
2014F6 A6H
LR EEERAR PRC/Mainland China RMB6,900,000 61.9% 100%  Hotel management
Huaibei Brilliant Hotel Co., Ltd. ©¢ 16 October 2013 ARE6,900,0007C BEEE
i/ PER
2013%10A 168
RNFEhCeERARAR PRC/Mainland China RMB1,000,000 61.9% NA  Theater management
Laizhou New Screen Theater 2 May 2017 ARE1,000,0007C @R  BhER
Management Co., Ltd. @ HE /R E R
201785720
LREERFEBRAR PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000,000 61.9% NA  Investment holding
Zhejiang Zhong An Longcheng 23 June 2017 AR®50,000,0007C TR REER
Commercial Co., Ltd. @@ mE /hER,
20176523 A
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CORPORATE AND GROUP
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

1. ZFRKEEH(]&)

Information about subsidiaries (continued) EBEMBARNER (&)

Particulars of the subsidiaries are as follows: (continued) WEBARFEBWNT : (8)

Place and date Issued ordinary/ Percentage of equity
of incorporation/ registered  attributable to the Group
registration and capital as at asat
place of business 31 December 2017 ARBEERRED L Principal
Name of company S/ BLK 2017128311 2017 2016 activities
NR%EH EBHERAM BRTER/fER 0175 0165  IEER
BERRERRERERARAH PRC/Mainland China RMB100,000,000 31.6% NA  Property development
Qingdao Zhong An Xifu Investment 4 July 2017 AR 100,000,00070 T™ER  NERE
and Development Co., Ltd, @4 HE/hE R
2017%7 4R
MNRRERREEEARAR PRC/Mainland China RMB1,000,000 61.9% NA  Investment holding
Hangzhou Zhong An Medical Investment 21 June 2017 AR 1,000,00070 TER  REER
Management Co., Ltd. @ mE /R E R
2017F6 521 A
IEZFRARRERAR PRC/Mainland China RMB100,000,000 61.9% NA  Investment holding
Jiangsu Anyuan Investment 27 July 2017 AR#100,000,0007T TER  REER
And development Co., Ltd, @ BB /B
20177 A27R
MR RER R ERER A PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000,000 61.9% NA  Property development
Hangzhou Zhong An Yunyi Tourism 1 August 2017 AR10,000,0007T NER  NERE
Development Co., Ltd. @0 e/ hERit
2017%8A1H
ERNRY R CEEEARAR PRC/Mainland China RMB1,000,000 61.9% NA  Theater management
Kunming New Screen Theater 27 April 2017 AK%1,000,00070 TER  EhRER
Management Co., Ltd., €0 HE/hE R
2017847278
A TBT G EERER AR PRC/Mainland China RMB1,000,000 61.9% NA  Theater management
Yuyao New Screen Theater 26 September 2017 AR 1,000,00070 TER  ERER
Management Co., Ltd. @@ g /R E R
2017F 9726
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1. CORPORATE AND GROUP
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

1. RFRKEEH(]&)

Information about subsidiaries (continued) EBRMBARNER (&)

Particulars of the subsidiaries are as follows: (continued) WEBAREBNT : (&)

Place and date Issued ordinary/ Percentage of equity
of incorporation/ registered  attributable to the Group
registration and capital as at asat
place of business 31 December 2017 ARBEERRE L Principal
Name of company SMRL/ IR 20175128311 2017 2016 activities
NR%ER EBHERAM BRTER/fER 017 0165  IEER
REERIERERAR Hong Kong HK$1 68.8% NA  Investment holding
Zhong An Finance 9 March 2017 17T TER  REER
Holding Co., Ltd. 44 &b
20173 A9H
REBEERBRAA Hong Kong HK$2,000,000 68.8% NA  Asset Management
Zhong An Asset 9 March 2017 2,000,00077C TR EEER
Management Co., Ltd. @ B
201743 A9H
FRHAERAT Hong Kong HK$2,000,000 68.8% NA  Corporate Finance
Zhong An Corporate 9 March 2017 2,000,000/&7C TER  hERE
Finance Co., Ltd. @ &
20173 A9R
RREBER AT Hong Kong HK$2,000,000 68.8% NA  Finance management
Zhong An 9 March 2017 2,000,000/ TER  EEER
Finance Co., Ltd. @ %
20173 A9H
RREFBRAT Hong Kong HK$2,000,000 68.8% NA  Securities Management
Zhong An 10 March 2017 2,000,00077C T™ER  EHER
Securities Co., Ltd. & A
2017F3F10A
BERTEREEEEARAH PRC/Mainland China USD10,000,000 68.8% NA  Hotel management
Qingdao Zhong An 6 December 2017 10,000,000% 7 TER  BEER
Longsheng Commercial e/ B
Development Co., Ltd. @4 2017%12A68
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Notes to Financial Statements

BA SRR AL

1. ZFRKEEH(]&)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

Particulars of the subsidiaries are as follows: (continued)

TENBEARNER (&)

MBARELT : (&)

Place and date Issued ordinary/ Percentage of equity
of incorporation/ registered  attributable to the Group
registration and capital as at asat
place of business 31 December 2017 ARBEERRED L Principal
Name of company S/ BLK 2017128311 2017 2016 activities
NR%EH EBHERAM BRTER/fER 0175 0165  IEER
I REEZBRAR PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000,000 61.9% NA  Property Development
Zhejiang Zhongyao 16 May 2017 AR 50,000,0007C T™ER  EREE
Real Estate B /hE R
Co., Ltd. @4 201755 A 16A
MERRZRRRE LA Canada CAD100 100% NA  Energy Investment
Canada Zhong An Energy 23 January 2017 100707 TER AR
Investment Co., Ltd. @61 mex
201751 R 238
MM EEREERERAT] PRC/Mainland China RMB100,000 90% NA  Investment management
Hangzhou Baoyu Investment 23 January 2017 AR%100,0007T TER  REER
Management Co., Ltd, € ey
2017%1 238
MNXEREERERAA PRC/Mainland China RMB100,000 90% NA  Investment management
Hangzhou Maoting Investment 23 January 2017 AR#100,0007 TER  RERR
Management Co., Ltd., @ e/ hERit
2017%1 A 238
Tk (88 R EERAR PRC/Mainland China RMB100,000,000 75.6% NA  Property development
Zhong An (Hainan) Tourism 13 June 2017 AE#100,000,0007C T™ER  DEREE
Development Co., Ltd, @ HE/hE R
2017F6 A 137
MNTERLEFERNFZEEBAR  PRC/Mainland China RMB20,000,000 90% NA  Property development
Hangzhou Qiaodao Lake Beverly 26 September 2003 AR#20,000,0007 TER  DERE
Resort Development Co., Ltd. @4 e/ RERL
20039 26 A
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1. CORPORATE AND GROUP
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

1. RFRKEEH(]&)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

Particulars of the subsidiaries are as follows: (continued)

TENEARNER (&)

MBARENT : (&)

Place and date Issued ordinary/ Percentage of equity
of incorporation/ registered  attributable to the Group
registration and capital as at asat
place of business 31 December 2017 ARBEERRE L Principal
Name of company SMRL/ IR 2017128311 2017 2016 activities
NR%ER EBHERAM BRTER/fER 017 0165  IEER
MNP R EREERAR PRC/Mainland China RMB20,000,000 90% NA  Property development
Hangzhou Xinxin Real 29 May 2001 AR#20,000,0007 T™ER  NERE
Estate Development Co., Ltd, &% HE /R E R
20016574298
2BEEEBRAR British Virgin Isiands USS$1 100% NA  Investment management
Complete Victory Enterprise Limited @@ 29 September 2017 e TER  REER
EREBRES
2017F9/ 297
Maggie & Rose (Great China) Hong Kong HK$1 50.1% NA  EducationDevelopment
Group Limited @@ 23 October 2017 187 MNER  HRER
BE
201710 A 238
Notes: Bt eE -

N/A  Not yet incorporated/established/acquired or liquidated by the Group TER HARRAEBEMAS Bz, RESE %

v

(@) These subsidiaries were established by the Group in 2017. (a) ZEWNBARIN 2017 FHAEBK
(o) Types of legal entities: (o) EEEEEA

1) Wholly-foreign-owned enterprise (1) INEEERE

@) Sino-foreign equity joint venture ) RINEEREE

) Limited liability company invested by foreign-invested enterprises ) SNIIREBREERAR

(4) Limited liability company (4) BREFAR]
() The capital of these subsidiaries has not been injected in 2017. () ZEMB AR EARIARRK 2017 F5EA ©
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Notes to Financial Statements

BA SRR AL

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND 2. BREERTHEE
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

2.1 Basis of preparation 21 REEE

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance 7R B 755 R 2R 4% BR B B B 7S R 45 #E B
with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”), ([ IR B A R e 2281 |) 4R 3L iy BRR
which comprise standards and interpretations approved by s R B R st IR
the International Accounting Standards Board (the “IASB”), E2 ((HRestLlESEe |) LR
and International Accounting Standards and Standing LA RAREEHRZESHEER
Interpretations Committee interpretations approved by the A ER K i R DA BB A R
International Accounting Standards Committee that remain MIEERT - RIREMERITES R
in effect and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong TENTNXSABERMIEARBE
Companies Ordinance. They have been prepared under the 2N RNEFEIRER TR BRI £ A
historical cost convention, except for investment properties [RAAREL o B AR RIFERRAN - ANEFS
and derivative financial instruments which have been WMERAARKS - WHABEHAA
measured at fair value as explained in the accounting policies FITENL ©

set out below. These financial statements are presented in
RMB and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand
except when otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation EHEE

The consolidated financial statements include the financial AHPBRRBEAAFLEHER
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries for the year AIEZE2017F 12 A 31 HIEFERE
ended 31 December 2017. A subsidiary is an entity (including BmE o [WB AR JTIAARRIEE K
a structured entity), directly or indirectly, controlled by the REiEsnEe (eiEsEEe) -
Company. Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, EAREBRZEREHRATER S
or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the EEZEMEEANAZORB AR
investee and has the ability to affect those returns through FRHERENSRNE N EZS
its power over the investee (i.e., existing rights that give the SR(ENEE FAEBEIB A HIEEIRE
Group the current ability to direct the relevant activities of the R AHEBESNIRERERN)E - B
investee). FRPAAEFIZHILEHR -
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B IR AR EE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than a
majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group
considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing
whether it has power over an investee, including:

(@  the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders
of the investee;

(o)  rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

(c)  the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared
for the same reporting period as the Company, using
consistent accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries
are consolidated from the date on which the Group obtains
control, and continue to be consolidated until the date that
such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the parent of the Group
and to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the
non-controlling interests having a deficit balance. All intra-
group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and
cash flows relating to transactions between members of the
Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee
if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to
one or more of the three elements of control described above.
A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a
loss of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction.
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2.1

2.2

Basis of preparation (continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises (i)
the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary,
(i) the carrying amount of any non-controlling interest and (i)
the cumulative translation differences recorded in equity; and
recognises (i) the fair value of the consideration received, (i)
the fair value of any investment retained and (iii) any resulting
surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The Group’s share of
components previously recognised in other comprehensive
income is reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits, as
appropriate, on the same basis as would be required if the
Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.

Changes in accounting policies and
disclosures

The Group has adopted the following revised IFRSs for the
first time for the current year’s financial statements.

Amendments to IAS 7 Disclosure Initiative

Amendments to IAS 12 Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets for
Unrealised Losses

Amendments to IFRS 12
included in Annual

Disclosure of interests in Other Entities

Improvements 2014-2016
Cycle

None of the above amendments to IFRSs has had a significant
financial effect on these financial statements. Disclosure has
been made in note 33 to the financial statements upon the
adoption of amendments to IAS 7, which require an entity to
provide disclosures that enable users of financial statements
to evaluate changes in liabilities arising from financing
activities, including both changes arising from cash flows and
non-cash changes.

2.2

Notes to Financial Statements

BA SRR AL

2. REBERTEBRK ()

mBREEE ()
AOHEE (R

AN 5= B 2 2K Y B /B8 N R A 15 Il -
AR TER () B A RIMEE (BER
B)REE - (i) EAEEREREA R
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(i) (AR EE 1R B B A 72 (BB K (iii) (1A
FEAE R RS IBREA - REEE
HATEREM 2 E W= AR E 5D
EREASEEELEHBEEERA
BEFRENERELEEN DA RER
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B BREBRHE

REBERAFEM MK B IRRA
TS RT BIRR B 75 S 5 22

Bl S=ppiaill bt )
ETRZEA
Bilos=ppill HREFEERR
F125 2R BEHERE
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Notes to Financial Statements

B IR AR EE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

2.3 Issued but not yet effective
International Financial Reporting

Standards

The Group has not applied the following new and revised
IFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet effective, in these

financial statements.

Amendments to IFRS 2

Amendments to IFRS 4

IFRS 9

Amendments to IFRS 9

Amendments to IFRS 10
and IAS 28

IFRS 15

Amendments to IFRS 15

IFRS 16

Amendments to IAS 40

IFRIC 22

IFRIC 23

Amendments to IFRS
1 included in Annual

Improvements 2014-2016

Cycle

Amendments to IAS 28
included in Annual

Improvements 2014-2016

Cycle

Classification and Measurement of Share-based
Payment Transactions’

Applying IFRS 9 Financial Instruments with IFRS 4
Insurance Contracts’

Financial Instruments'

Prepayment Features with Negative
Compensation?

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor
and its Associate or Joint Venture®

Revenue from Contracts with Customers’

Clarffications to IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts
with Cutomers'

Leases?

Transfers of Investment Property’

Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance
Consideration’

Uncertainty over Income tax Treatment?

First-time Adoption of International Financial
Reporting Standards’

Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures’

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019
9 No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for
adoption
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Notes to Financial Statements

BA SRR AL

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2. REBERTEBRK ()

2.3 Issued but not yet effective 23 CHEMERRERNELRE

International Financial Reporting
Standards (continued)

Further information about those IFRSs that are expected to be
applicable to the Group is as follows:

The IASB issued amendments to IFRS 2 in June 2016 that
address three main areas: the effects of vesting conditions
on the measurement of a cash-settled share-based payment
transaction; the classification of a share-based payment
transaction with net settlement features for withholding a
certain amount in order to meet the employee’s tax obligation
associated with the share-based payment; and accounting
where a modification to the terms and conditions of a share-
based payment transaction changes its classification from
cash-settled to equity-settled. The amendments clarify that
the approach used to account for vesting conditions when
measuring equity-settled share-based payments also applies
to cash-settled share-based payments. The amendments
introduce an exception so that a share-based payment
transaction with net share settlement features for withholding
a certain amount in order to meet the employee’s tax
obligation is classified in its entirety as an equity-settled share-
based payment transaction when certain conditions are met.
Furthermore, the amendments clarify that if the terms and
conditions of a cash-settled share-based payment transaction
are modified, with the result that it becomes an equity-
settled share-based payment transaction, the transaction
is accounted for as an equity-settled transaction from the
date of the modification. The Group expects to adopt the
amendments from 1 January 2018. The amendments are
not expected to have any significant impact on the Group’s
financial statements.
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Notes to Financial Statements

B IR AR EE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2.3 Issued but not yet effective
International Financial Reporting
Standards (continued)

In July 2014, the IASB issued the final version of IFRS 9,
bringing together all phases of the financial instruments

project to replace IAS 39 and all previous versions of IFRS 9.

The standard introduces new requirements for classification

and measurement, impairment and hedge accounting. The

Group expects to adopt IFRS 9 from 1 January 2018. During

2016, the Group performed a high-level assessment of the

impact of the adoption of IFRS 9. This preliminary assessment

is based on currently available information and may be subject

to changes arising from further detailed analyses or additional

reasonable and supportable information being made available

to the Group in the future. The expected impacts arising from

the adoption of IFRS 9 are summarised as follows:

(a)

Classification and measurement

Except for the available-for sales investments, financial
assets held by the Group are measured at amortised
cost. The Group does not expect the new guidance to
significantly affect the classification and measurement
of these financial assets.

The Group expects equity investments currently held as
available for sale will be measured at fair value through
other comprehensive income as the investments are
intended to be held for the foreseeable future and the
Group expects to apply the option to present fair value
changes in other comprehensive income. Gains and
losses recorded in other comprehensive income for the
equity investments cannot be recycled to profit or loss
when the investments are derecognised.

There will be no impact on the Group’s accounting for
financial liabilities, as the new requirements only affect
the accounting for financial liabilities that are designated
at fair value through profit or loss and the Group does
not have any such liabilities.
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Notes to Financial Statements

BA SRR AL

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2. REBERTEBRK ()

2.3 Issued but not yet effective 23 CHEMERRERNELRE

International Financial Reporting
Standards (continued)

(b) Impairment

IFRS 9 requires an impairment on debt instruments
recorded at amortised cost or at fair value through
other comprehensive income, lease receivables,
loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts
that are not accounted for at fair value through profit
or loss under IFRS 9, to be recorded based on an
expected credit loss model either on a twelve-month
basis or a lifetime basis. The Group expects to apply
the simplified approach and record lifetime expected
losses that are estimated based on the present value
of all cash shortfalls over the remaining life of all of its
trade and other receivables. The Group will perform a
more detailed analysis which considers all reasonable
and supportable information, including forward-looking
elements, for estimation of expected credit losses on its
trade and other receivables upon the adoption of IFRS
9.

Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 address an inconsistency
between the requirements in IFRS 10 and in IAS 28 in dealing
with the sale or contribution of assets between an investor and
its associate or joint venture. The amendments require a full
recognition of a gain or loss when the sale or contribution of
assets between an investor and its associate or joint venture
constitutes a business. For a transaction involving assets
that do not constitute a business, a gain or loss resulting
from the transaction is recognised in the investor’s profit or
loss only to the extent of the unrelated investor’s interest in
that associate or joint venture. The amendments are to be
applied prospectively. The previous mandatory effective date
of amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 was removed by the
IASB in January 2016 and a new mandatory effective date
will be determined after the completion of a broader review
of accounting for associates and joint ventures. However, the
amendments are available for application now.
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B IR AR EE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2.3 Issued but not yet effective

International Financial Reporting
Standards (continued)

IFRS 15 establishes a new five-step model to account for
revenue arising from contracts with customers. Under IFRS
15, revenue is recognised at an amount that reflects the
consideration to which an entity expects to be entitled in
exchange for transferring goods or services to a customer.
The principles in IFRS 15 provide a more structured approach
for measuring and recognising revenue. The standard also
introduces extensive qualitative and quantitative disclosure
requirements, including disaggregation of total revenue,
information about performance obligations, changes in
contract asset and liability account balances between
periods and key judgements and estimates. The standard
will supersede all current revenue recognition requirements
under IFRSs. In April 2016, the IASB issued amendments to
IFRS 15 to address the implementation issues on identifying
performance obligations, application guidance on principal
versus agent and licences of intellectual property, and
transition. The amendments are also intended to help ensure a
more consistent application when entities adopt IFRS 15 and
decrease the cost and complexity of applying the standard.
The Group will adopt HKFRS 15 from January 1, 2018 and
plans to adopt the modified retrospective approach.The
Group expects that the transitional adjustment to be made
on 1 January 2018 upon initial adoption of IFRS 15 will not
be material. During 2017,the Group has performed a detail
assessment on the impact of the adoption of IFRS 15.

The Group’s principal activities consist of development and
operations of properties, hotel operations. The expected
impacts arising from the adoption of IFRS 15 are summarised
as follow:
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Notes to Financial Statements

BA SRR AL

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2. REBERTEBRK ()

2.3 Issued but not yet effective 23 CHEMERRERNELRE

International Financial Reporting
Standards (continued)

The costs related directly to obtaining contracts with
customers that would not have been incurred if the contracts
had not been obtained, such as commission, will be eligible
for capitalisation under IFRS 15 and will be amortised on a
systematic basis consistent with the pattern of the transfer of
the properties to which the assets related.

IFRS 16 replaces IAS 17 Leases, IFRIC 4 Determining
whether an Arrangement contains a Lease, SIC-15 Operating
Leases — Incentives and SIC-27 Evaluating the Substance
of Transactions Involving the Legal Form of a Lease.
The standard sets out the principles for the recognition,
measurement, presentation and disclosure of leases and
requires lessees to recognise assets and liabilities for most
leases. The standard includes two recognition exemptions for
lessees — leases of low-value assets and short-term leases.
At the commencement date of a lease, a lessee will recognise
a liability to make lease payments (i.e., the lease liability) and
an asset representing the right to use the underlying asset
during the lease term (i.e., the right-of-use asset). The right-of-
use asset is subsequently measured at cost less accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses unless the right-of-
use asset meets the definition of investment property in IAS
40. The lease liability is subsequently increased to reflect
the interest on the lease liability and reduced for the lease
payments. Lessees will be required to separately recognise
the interest expense on the lease liability and the depreciation
expense on the right-of-use asset. Lessees will also be
required to remeasure the lease liability upon the occurrence
of certain events, such as change in the lease term and
change in future lease payments resulting from a change in
an index or rate used to determine those payments. Lessees
will generally recognise the amount of the remeasurement of
the lease liability as an adjustment to the right-of-use asset.
Lessor accounting under IFRS 16 is substantially unchanged
from the accounting under IAS 17. Lessors will continue to
classify all leases using the same classification principle as in
IAS 17 and distinguish between operating leases and finance
leases.

2R (&)

AR 4R B B B 75 e e ZE RN B 1657 - B2
ERA RBEZBBAOKA - BINRT
B & Rpt & 3 A e AR (512048
) HEERENGEY  BEEH
EEEMEBNMEREBBIETS
Ry -

BRI E LN F 16 R ERES
FHERIFE 17 REE - BRI BHRER
BZEBeREF4VETHEEE
AHE ERREBRZESRE164K
EHE-EBREMREZEERE
F 27 G L REEZREE AR FH]
BE - BRI R FE - 27
RBBERENRE - W RSAETE AR
AREBHERAREENAIE - ZEH
B TAEARNBEERRHA L —
BEEEEEENREHHEE - KHEE
Fsh BH - AR A SRR NE S RE
HHEENRAEECIAERR) RA
RAMERARBEEENENSEE (A
EREREEE) - RIFBEERREEE
HEBEREHENF 0 RIREMEN
EE - BRIBEREEERRRMAA
BRI E REMRERRTE -
SREEREERMEERENSM
gk AEE KD o AEAR
AN PIEREERENN SR RE
ERAEEENTERS - ABEAKT
ARETEHEERENTEEES
& Pl R AEHEE S AREE
ZENRH) — BRI L R #E W 3
BORRIBENREE o AFEA R
BN EHERBENHEERSERE
REEENFE - BRMEREE
165 ARBUS MBI ERIE 1755
WHEBEANSFEE R o HEAR
BEE R EER ST ERIE 7 RAR
MO BRRAEAEEEETOR A
BZoREEHERREMS -

grEEARAE —E—+FF#H 139



Notes to Financial Statements

B IR AR

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2.3 Issued but not yet effective

International Financial Reporting
Standards (continued)

The Group expects to adopt IFRS 16 on 1 January 2019,
IFRS 16 will result in almost all leases being recognised on the
consolidated statement of financial position, as the distinction
between operating and finance leases is removed. Under
the new standard, an asset (the right to use the leased item)
and a financial liability to pay rentals are recognised. The only
exceptions are short-term and low-value leases.

The accounting for lessors will not significantly change.

The standard will affect primarily the accounting for Group’s
operating leases. As at 31 December 2017, the Group
has non-cancellable operating lease commitments of
RMB491,390,000 (31 December 2016: RMB39,870,000)
(Note 36).

IFRIC 23, issued in June 2017, addresses the accounting
for income taxes (current and deferred) when tax treatments
involve uncertainty that affects the application of IAS 12 (often
referred to as “uncertain tax positions”). The interpretation
does not apply to taxes or levies outside the scope of IAS 12,
nor does it specifically include requirements relating to interest
and penalties associated with uncertain tax treatments.
The interpretation specifically addresses (i) whether an
entity considers uncertain tax treatments separately; (ii)
the assumptions an entity makes about the examination
of tax treatments by taxation authorities; (i) how an entity
determines taxable profits or tax losses, tax bases, unused
tax losses, unused tax credits and tax rates; and (iv) how
an entity considers changes in facts and circumstances.
The interpretation is to be applied retrospectively, either fully
retrospectively without the use of hindsight or retrospectively
with the cumulative effect of application as an adjustment to
the opening equity at the date of initial application, without
the restatement of comparative information. The Group
expects to adopt the interpretation from 1 January 2019. The
interpretation is not expected to have any significant impact on
the Group’s financial statements.
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Notes to Financial Statements

B SRR YR

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2. REBERTEHBRK ()

2.4 Summary of significant accounting 24 FESTHERHBE

policies
Investments in joint ventures

An associate is an entity in which the Group has a long term
interest of generally not less than 20% of the equity voting
rights and over which it is in a position to exercise significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in
the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee, but
is not control or joint control over those policies.

A joint venture is a type of joint arrangement whereby the
parties that have joint control of the arrangement have rights
to the net assets of the joint venture. Joint control is the
contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement,
which exists only when decisions about the relevant activities
require the unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.

The Group’s investments in associates and joint ventures
are stated in the consolidated statement of financial position
at the Group’s share of net assets under the equity method
of accounting, less any impairment losses. Adjustments are
made to bring into line any dissimilar accounting policies that
may exist.

The Group’s share of the post-acquisition results and other
comprehensive income of joint ventures is included in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and consolidated
other comprehensive income, respectively. In addition, when
there has been a change recognised directly in the equity
of the joint venture, the Group recognises its share of any
changes, when applicable, in the consolidated statement of
changes in equity. Unrealised gains and losses resulting from
transactions between the Group and its joint ventures are
eliminated to the extent of the Group’s investments in the joint
ventures, except where unrealised losses provide evidence
of an impairment of the assets transferred. Goodwill arising
from the acquisition of joint ventures is included as part of the
Group’s investments in joint ventures.
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Notes to Financial Statements

B R EE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2. REBERFEBRK (&)

2.4 FESTTHERUE (&)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting

policies (continued)

Investments in joint ventures (continued)

If an investment in an associate becomes an investment
in a joint venture or vice versa, the retained interest is
not remeasured. Instead, the investment continues to be
accounted for under the equity method. In all other cases,
upon loss of significant influence over the associate or joint
control over the joint venture, the Group measures and
recognises any retained investment at its fair value. Any
difference between the carrying amount of the associate or
joint venture upon loss of significant influence or joint control
and the fair value of the retained investment and proceeds
from disposal is recognised in profit or loss.

When an investment in joint venture is classified as held for
sale, it is accounted for in accordance with IFRS 5 Non-
current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations.

Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred is
measured at the acquisition date fair value which is the sum
of the acquisition date fair values of assets transferred by
the Group, liabilities assumed by the Group to the former
owners of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by
the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree. For each
business combination, the Group elects whether to measure
the non-controlling interests in the acquiree that are present
ownership interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate
share of net assets in the event of liquidation at fair value or
at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net
assets. All other components of non-controlling interests are
measured at fair value. Acquisition-related costs are expensed
as incurred.
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Notes to Financial Statements

B SRR EE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2. REBEREEBRK ()

2.4 Summary of significant accounting 24 FESTEREE (&)

policies (continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (continued)

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial
assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification
and designation in accordance with the contractual terms,
economic circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the
acquisition date. This includes the separation of embedded
derivatives in host contracts of the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the
previously held equity interest is remeasured at its acquisition
date fair value and any resulting gain or loss is recognised in
profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer
is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Contingent
consideration classified as an asset or liability is measured
at fair value with changes in fair value recognised in profit or
loss. Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is
not remeasured and subsequent settlement is accounted for
within equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of
the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount
recognised for non-controlling interests and any fair value of
the Group’s previously held equity interests in the acquiree
over the identifiable net assets acquired and liabilities
assumed. If the sum of this consideration and other items
is lower than the fair value of the net assets acquired, the
difference is, after reassessment, recognised in profit or loss
as a gain on bargain purchase.
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Notes to Financial Statements

PR ER AR M

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting

policies (continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (continued)

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less
any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for
impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be
impaired. The Group performs its annual impairment test of
goodwill as at 31 December. For the purpose of impairment
testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from
the acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group’s cash-
generating units, or groups of cash-generating units, that are
expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination,
irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the Group
are assigned to those units or groups of units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating
units) to which the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating
units) is less than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is
recognised. An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not
reversed in a subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit
(or group of cash-generating units) and part of the operation
within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the
operation disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the
operation when determining the gain or loss on the disposal.
Goodwill disposed of in these circumstances is measured
based on the relative value of the operation disposed of and
the portion of the cash-generating unit retained.
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Notes to Financial Statements

B ERR M

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2. WEBERTEBRK ()

2.4 Summary of significant accounting 2.4 FESTEREE (E)
policies (continued)
Fair value measurement AREEFE

The Group measures its investment properties, equity
investments for trading and derivative financial instruments at
fair value at the end of each reporting period. Fair value is the
price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer
a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants
at the measurement date. The fair value measurement is
based on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset
or transfer the liability takes place either in the principal market
for the asset or liability, or in the absence of a principal market,
in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability.
The principal or the most advantageous market must be
accessible by the Group. The fair value of an asset or a liability
is measured using the assumptions that market participants
would use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that
market participants act in their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the
asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate
in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are
available to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant
observable inputs and minimising the use of unobservable
inputs.
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Notes to Financial Statements

PR ER AR M

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting

policies (continued)

Fair value measurement (continued)

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or
disclosed in the financial statements are categorised within the
fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a

whole:

Level 1 — based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 — based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is observable, either directly or
indirectly

Level 3 — based on valuation techniques for which the

lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial
statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines
whether transfers have occurred between levels in the
hierarchy by reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a
whole) at the end of each reporting period.
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Notes to Financial Statements

B ERR M

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2. WEBERTEBRK ()

2.4 Summary of significant accounting

24 FESTHEUE (&)

policies (continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than
inventories, deferred tax assets, financial assets, completed
properties held for sale, properties under development,
investment properties, goodwill and non-current assets/
a disposal group classified as held for sale), the asset’s
recoverable amount is estimated. An asset’s recoverable
amount is the higher of the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s
value in use and its fair value less costs of disposal, and is
determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not
generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those
from other assets or groups of assets, in which case the
recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating unit
to which the asset belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount
of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing
value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to
their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money and
the risks specific to the asset. An impairment loss is charged
to the statement of profit or loss in the period in which it arises,
unless the asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case
the impairment loss is accounted for in accordance with the
relevant accounting policy for that revalued asset.
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Notes to Financial Statements

B IR AR

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting
policies (continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets (continued)

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting
period as to whether there is any indication that previously
recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or may
have decreased. If such an indication exists, the recoverable
amount is estimated. A previously recognised impairment
loss of an asset other than goodwill is reversed only if there
has been a change in the estimates used to determine the
recoverable amount of that asset, but not to an amount higher
than the carrying amount that would have been determined
(net of any depreciation/amortisation) had no impairment
loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal
of such an impairment loss is credited to the statement of
profit or loss in the period in which it arises, unless the asset
is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the reversal of
the impairment loss is accounted for in accordance with the
relevant accounting policy for that revalued asset.

Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@)  the party is a person or a close member of that person’s
family and that person

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or
(i) is a member of the key management personnel of

the Group or of a parent of the Group;

or
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting
policies (continued)

Related parties (continued)

(b)

the party is an entity where any of the following
conditions applies:

)

(i

(i)

(iv)

(Vi)

(vii)

(viii)

the entity and the Group are members of the
same group;

one entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow
subsidiary of the other entity);

the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the
same third party;

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or an
entity related to the Group;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a);

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of a
parent of the entity); and

the entity, or any member of a group of which it
is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Group or to the parent of the
Group.
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Notes to Financial Statements

B IR AR

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting

policies (continued)

Property and equipment and depreciation

Property and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses. The cost of an item
of property and equipment comprises its purchase price
and any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its
working condition and location for its intended use. Cost may
also include transfers from equity of any gains or losses on
qualifying cash flow hedges of foreign currency purchases of
property and equipment.

Cost may also include transfer from equity fo any gains or
losses on qualifying cash flow hedges of foreign currency
purchases of property, plant and equipment.

Expenditure incurred after items of property and equipment
have been put into operation, such as repairs and
maintenance, is normally charged to the statement of profit or
loss in the period in which it is incurred. In situations where the
recognition criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for a major
inspection is capitalised in the carrying amount of the asset
as a replacement. Where significant parts of property and
equipment are required to be replaced at intervals, the Group
recognises such parts as individual assets with specific useful
lives and depreciates them accordingly.
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Notes to Financial Statements

B SRR YR

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2. REBERTEHBRK ()

2.4 Summary of significant accounting 24 FESTEREE (F)

policies (continued)

Property and equipment and depreciation (continued)

Valuations are performed frequently enough to ensure that
the fair value of a revalued asset does not differ materially
from its carrying amount. Changes in the values of property,
plant and equipment are dealt with as movements in the asset
revaluation reserve. If the total of this reserve is insufficient
to cover a deficit, on an individual asset basis, the excess of
the deficit is charged to the statement of profit or loss. Any
subsequent revaluation surplus is credited to the statement of
profit or loss to the extent of the deficit previously charged. An
annual transfer from the asset revaluation reserve to retained
profits is made for the difference between the depreciation
based on the revalued carrying amount of an asset and the
depreciation based on the asset’s original cost. On disposal of
a revalued asset, the relevant portion of the asset revaluation
reserve realised in respect of previous valuations is transferred
to retained profits as a movement in reserves.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off
the cost of each item of property and equipment to its residual
value over its estimated useful life. The estimated residual
values and useful lives for this purpose are as follows:

Useful lives Residual values

Properties 20 years 5% to 10%

Machinery 10 years 5%

Office equipment 5 years 5%

Motor vehicles 5 years 5%

Leasehold Shorter of the -
improvements lease terms
and 5 years

Where parts of an item of property and equipment have
different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated
on a reasonable basis among the parts and each part is
depreciated separately.
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Notes to Financial Statements

PR ER AR M

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting

policies (continued)

Property and equipment and depreciation (continued)

Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation method are
reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at each financial
year end.

An item of property and equipment including any significant
part initially recognised is derecognised upon disposal or
when no future economic benefits are expected from its
use or disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or retirement
recognised in the statement of profit or loss in the year the
asset is derecognised is the difference between the net sales
proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant asset.

Construction in progress represents a building under
construction, which is stated at cost less any impairment
losses, and is not depreciated. Cost comprises the direct
costs of construction and capitalised borrowing costs on
related borrowed funds during the period of construction.
Construction in progress is reclassified to the appropriate
category of property, plant and equipment when completed
and ready for use.

Investment properties

Investment properties are interests in land and buildings
(including the leasehold interest under an operating lease for
a property which would otherwise meet the definition of an
investment property) held to earn rental income and/or for
capital appreciation, rather than for use in the production or
supply of goods or services or for administrative purposes;
or for sale in the ordinary course of business. Investment
properties comprise completed investment properties and
investment properties under construction. Such properties
are measured initially at cost, including transaction costs.
Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties are
stated at fair value, which reflects market conditions at the end
of the reporting period.
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Notes to Financial Statements

BA SRR AL

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2. WEBERTEBRK ()

2.4 Summary of significant accounting

24 FESTHEUE (&)

policies (continued)

Investment properties (continued)

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair values of
investment properties are included in the statement of profit or
loss in the year in which they arise.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an
investment property are recognised in the statement for profit
or loss in the year of the retirement or disposal.

For a transfer from investment properties to owner-occupied
properties or investment properties for disposal, the deemed
cost of a property for subsequent accounting is its fair value at
the date of change in use. If a property occupied by the Group
as an owner-occupied property becomes an investment
property, the Group accounts for such property in accordance
with the policy stated under “Property and equipment and
depreciation” up to the date of change in use, and any
difference at that date between the carrying amount and the
fair value of the property is accounted for as a revaluation
in accordance with the policy stated under “Property and
equipment and depreciation” above. For a transfer from
properties under development or completed properties held
for sale to investment properties, any difference between the
fair value of the property at that date and its previous carrying
amount is recognised in profit or loss.

The Group determines whether completed properties held for
sale and properties under development would be transferred
to investment properties when, only when, there is a change
in use, evidenced by the following criteria: (a) the Group has
prepared a business plan that reflects the future rental income
generated by the property and this is supported with evidence
that there is demand for rental space; (b) the Group can
demonstrate that it has the resources, including the necessary
financing or capital, to hold and manage an investment
property; (c) the change in use is legally permissible; (d) if the
property must be further developed for the change in use,
the development has commenced and (e) change in use is
approved by the board.

REM= (F])

REME LA BEESMAELN RS
HEE - REEEFEFFABRR -

Y ) 2 SR o 8 T PR MRS o
IR R SR S W B R

BHRENEEREXT BEMERF
EHEREME  ZVNEHRES
REBERNERAZERZAAE
B - AKREZ AEMEER/RE
M AEBEENERLERAE
RIR [ MR A RITE | Pt 2 R
FIEZMEANTR - MPERE AR
@ﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁ@ZEﬂ%ﬁwmfi
[ e AR A DA AT | Pt 2 BUR
FIVEESG - SLFRBERMEIIFIEHE
ERRMEBREREYE  WER
EAMARBEERLNREENT
MERENEEER -

AEBBEEREHEE SR MERRA
BRYERLTEBEREAE 8
B8 AR TIREE BRI T EEMN
FER (AN EEERI REMER
AW ANESTE - WEHRER
KERESF - (0)ARBIEERESE
BR(BENERERERN)FBERE
BIREME ; (C)ERAMEERR
()mm — BRI REYEA

UEiEﬁ§A$HE§§§E§ R EES
m&“

BrEEERAE —F—+%¥#% 153



Notes to Financial Statements

PR ER AR M

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting

policies (continued)

Properties under development

Properties under development are stated at the lower of cost
and net realisable value and comprise land costs, construction
costs, borrowing costs, professional fees and other costs
directly attributable to such properties incurred during the
development period.

Properties under development which are intended to be held
for sale and expected to be completed beyond 12 months
from the end of the reporting period are classified as non-
current assets.

Completed properties held for sale

Completed properties held for sale are stated at the lower
of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined by
an apportionment of the total costs of land and buildings
attributable to the unsold properties. Net realisable value
takes into account the selling price, less estimated costs to be
incurred in selling the properties based on prevailing market
conditions.
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Notes to Financial Statements

B ERR M

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2. WEBERTEBRK ()

2.4 Summary of significant accounting 2.4 FESTEREE (E)

policies (continued)

Operating leases

Leases where substantially all the rewards and risks of
ownership of assets remain with the lessor are accounted for
as operating leases. Where the Group is the lessor, assets
leased by the Group under operating leases are included in
non-current assets, and rentals receivable under the operating
leases are credited to the statement of profit or loss on the
straight-line basis over the lease terms. Where the Group
is the lessee, rentals payable under operating leases net of
any incentives received from the lessor are charged to the
statement of profit or loss on the straight-line basis over the
lease terms.

Prepaid land lease payments under operating leases are
initially stated at cost and subsequently recognised on the
straight-line basis over the lease terms.

When the lease payments cannot be allocated reliably
between the land and buildings elements, the entire lease
payments are included in the cost of the land and buildings as
a finance lease in property and equipment.
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Notes to Financial Statements

B IR AR

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting
policies (continued)

Investments and other financial assets
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, loans and
receivables, and available-for-sale financial investments, or as
derivatives designated as hedging instruments in an effective
hedge, as appropriate. When financial assets are recognised
initially, they are measured at fair value plus transaction costs
that are attributed to the acquisition of the financial assets,
except in the case of financial assets recorded at fair value
through profit or loss.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases
or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the period generally established by
regulation or convention in the marketplace.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on
their classification as follows:
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Notes to Financial Statements

B SRR YR

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2. REBERTEHBRK ()

2.4 Summary of significant accounting 24 FESTEREE (E)

policies (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include
financial assets held for trading and financial assets
designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through
profit or loss. Financial assets are classified as held for trading
if they are acquired for the purpose of sale in the near term.
Derivatives, including separated embedded derivatives, are
also classified as held for trading unless they are designated
as effective hedging instruments as defined by IAS 39.
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in the statement of financial position at fair value with positive H=NEMEEZR AL BEIAT B
N\ L

net changes in fair value presented as other income and gains
and negative net changes in fair value presented as finance
costs in the statement of profit or loss. These net fair value
changes do not include any dividends or interest earned on
these financial assets, which are recognised in accordance
with the policies set out for “Revenue recognition” below.

Financial assets designated upon initial recognition as at fair
value through profit or loss are designated at the date of initial
recognition and only if the criteria in IAS 39 are satisfied.

Derivatives embedded in host contracts are accounted for
as separate derivatives and recorded at fair value if their
economic characteristics and risks are not closely related to
those of the host contracts and the host contracts are not held
for trading or designated as at fair value through profit or loss.
These embedded derivatives are measured at fair value with
changes in fair value recognised in the statement of profit or
loss. Reassessment only occurs if there is either a change in
the terms of the contract that significantly modifies the cash
flows that would otherwise be required or a reclassification
of a financial asset out of the fair value through profit or loss
category.
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B IR AR

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2. REBERFEBRK ()

24 FESTHERUE (&)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting

policies (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets
with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in
an active market. After initial measurement, such assets are
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest rate method less any allowance for impairment.
Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and includes fees or
costs that are an integral part of the effective interest rate.
The effective interest rate amortisation is included in other
income and gains in the statement of profit or loss. The loss
arising from impairment is recognised in the statement of profit
or loss in finance costs for loans and in other expenses for
receivables.

Available-for-sale financial investments

Available-for-sale financial investments are non-derivative
financial assets in listed and unlisted equity investments and
debt securities. Equity investments classified as available for
sale are those which are neither classified as held for trading
nor designated as at fair value through profit or loss. Debt
securities in this category are those which are intended to be
held for an indefinite period of time and which may be sold in
response to needs for liquidity or in response to changes in
market conditions.
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Notes to Financial Statements

B SRR YR

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2. REBERTEHBRK ()

2.4 Summary of significant accounting

2.4 FESTHERUE(H)

policies (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Available-for-sale financial investments (continued)

After initial recognition, available-for-sale financial investments
are subsequently measured at fair value, with unrealised
gains or losses recognised as other comprehensive income
in the available-for-sale investment revaluation reserve until
the investment is derecognised, at which time the cumulative
gain or loss is recognised in the statement of profit or loss
in other income, or until the investment is determined to be
impaired, when the cumulative gain or loss is reclassified from
the available-for-sale investment revaluation reserve to the
statement of profit or loss in other gains or losses. Interest and
dividends earned whilst holding the available-for-sale financial
investments are reported as interest income and dividend
income, respectively, and are recognised in the statement of
profit or loss as other income in accordance with the policies
set out for “Revenue recognition” below.

When the fair value of unlisted equity investments cannot
be reliably measured because (a) the variability in the range
of reasonable fair value estimates is significant for that
investment or (b) the probabilities of the various estimates
within the range cannot be reasonably assessed and used in
estimating fair value, such investments are stated at cost less
any impairment losses.
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PR ER AR M

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2. REBEREEBRK ()

2.4 FESTTHEUE (&)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting

policies (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Available-for-sale financial investments (continued)

The Group evaluates whether the ability and intention to
sell its available-for-sale financial assets in the near term are
still appropriate. When, in rare circumstances, the Group is
unable to trade these financial assets due to inactive markets,
the Group may elect to reclassify these financial assets if
management has the ability and intention to hold the assets
for the foreseeable future or until maturity.

For a financial asset reclassified from the available-for-
sale category, the fair value carrying amount at the date of
reclassification becomes its new amortised cost and any
previous gain or loss on that asset that has been recognised
in equity is amortised to profit or loss over the remaining life of
the investment using the effective interest rate. Any difference
between the new amortised cost and the maturity amount is
also amortised over the remaining life of the asset using the
effective interest rate. If the asset is subsequently determined
to be impaired, then the amount recorded in equity is
reclassified to the statement of profit or loss.
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Notes to Financial Statements

B ERR M

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2. WEBERTEBRK ()

2.4 Summary of significant accounting 2.4 FESTEREE (E)

policies (continued)

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial
asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily
derecognised (i.e., removed from the Group’s consolidated
statement of financial position) when:

o the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have
expired; or

. the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from the asset, or has assumed an obligation to
pay the received cash flows in full without material delay
to a third party under a “pass-through” arrangement;
and either (a) the Group has transferred substantially all
the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has
neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks
and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of
the assets.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through
arrangement, it evaluates if and to what extent it has retained
the risk and rewards of ownership of the asset. When it has
neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and
rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the
Group continues to recognise the transferred asset to the
extent of the Group’s continuing involvement. In that case, the
Group also recognises an associated liability. The transferred
asset and the associated liability are measured on a basis that
reflects the rights and obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee
over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the
original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum
amount of consideration that the Group could be required to
repay.
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PR ER AR M

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2. REBEREEBRK ()

2.4 FESTTHEUE (&)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting

policies (continued)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period
whether there is any objective evidence that a financial asset
or a group of financial assets is impaired. An impairment exists
if one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition
of the asset have an impact on the estimated future cash flows
of the financial asset or the group of financial assets that can
be reliably estimated. Evidence of impairment may include
indications that a debtor or a group of debtors is experiencing
significant financial difficulty, default or delinquency in interest
or principal payments, the probability that they will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation and observable
data indicating that there is a measurable decrease in the
estimated future cash flows, such as changes in arrears or
economic conditions that correlate with defaults.

Financial assets carried at amortised cost

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the Group first
assesses whether impairment exists individually for financial
assets that are individually significant, or collectively for
financial assets that are not individually significant. If the Group
determines that no objective evidence of impairment exists
for an individually assessed financial asset, whether significant
or not, it includes the asset in a group of financial assets with
similar credit risk characteristics and collectively assesses
them for impairment. Assets that are individually assessed for
impairment and for which an impairment loss is, or continues
to be, recognised are not included in a collective assessment
of impairment.
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Notes to Financial Statements

B ERR M

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2. WEBERTEBRK ()

2.4 Summary of significant accounting

24 FESTHEUE (&)

policies (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)
Financial assets carried at amortised cost (continued)

The amount of any impairment loss identified is measured
as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and
the present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding
future credit losses that have not been incurred). The present
value of the estimated future cash flows is discounted at the
financial asset’s original effective interest rate (i.e., the effective
interest rate computed at initial recognition).

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced either directly or
through the use of an allowance account and the amount of
the loss is recognised in the statement of profit or loss. Interest
income continues to be accrued on the reduced carrying
amount and is accrued using the rate of interest used to
discount the future cash flows for the purpose of measuring
the impairment loss. Loans and receivables together with any
associated allowance are written off when there is no realistic
prospect of future recovery and all collateral has been realised
or has been transferred to the Group.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the estimated
impairment loss increases or decreases because of an event
occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously
recognised impairment loss is increased or reduced by
adjusting the allowance account. If a future write-off is later
recovered, the recovery is credited to the statement of profit or
loss.
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Notes to Financial Statements

B IR AR

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2. REBERFEBRK ()

24 FESTHERUE (&)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting

policies (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)
Assets carried at cost

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has been
incurred on an unquoted equity instrument that is not carried
at fair value because its fair value cannot be reliably measured,
or on a derivative asset that is linked to and must be settled
by delivery of such an unquoted equity instrument, the amount
of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the present value of estimated future
cash flows discounted at the current market rate of return
for a similar financial asset, and recognised in the statement
of profit or loss. Impairment losses on these assets are not
reversed.

Available-for-sale financial investments

For available-for sale financial investments, the Group
assesses at the end of each reporting period whether
there is objective evidence that an investment or a group of
investments is impaired.

If an available-for-sale asset is impaired, an amount
comprising the difference between its cost (net of any principal
payment and amortization) and its current fair value, less any
impairment loss previously recognised in the statement of
profit or loss, is removed from other comprehensive income
and recognized in the statement of profit or loss.
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Notes to Financial Statements

B SRR YR

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION 2. WEBEREHHE )
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting 24 FESTEREE (E)
policies (continued)
Financial liabilities cEAs
Initial recognition and measurement G TSR EL ST &
Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as SR BR VT ERRE D ERUR
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans K EBEEEEEH T AEBSZEHE
and borrowings, or as derivatives designated as hedging B BERRER BB ELE—EE
instruments in an effective hedge, as appropriate. BEMRETEZITESR  SBERM

B

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in TrEREMB AR - BAREER
the case of loans and borrowings, net of directly attributable 2 NMRBEZRMER - BIENKRE
transaction costs. EEBIRXHER -
The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and other $EIE’J§%EE% %Jféﬁiﬂ%?ﬂ =
payables and interest-bearing loans and borrowings. N FTANGT EERRERR
Subsequent measurement Rt 2
The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends SRBEERESBZHEBHENT ¢
on their classification as follows:
Loans and borrowings EFREK
After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings EVRIERR  sTEERRERERE
are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the RAZRFREZERKNAGE - B
effective interest rate method unless the effect of discounting EMBRETEN  EEBERLT &
would be immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost. IR AT 2 - FERIEFERBEAR
Gains and losses are recognised in the statement of profit or HRERANRETHSERE - W
loss when the liabilities are derecognised as well as through REERIERRPIER o
the effective interest rate amortisation process.
Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any BERAN AN FRE B AL (3T 3R sk U BB i
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that BUARIEAERFER—2n 2 & Ak
are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The effective MAGTEE - ERFRZ#ERS

interest rate amortisation is included in finance costs in the PER KRN IEERTD o
statement of profit or loss.
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Notes to Financial Statements

B IR AR

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting

policies (continued)

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under
the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another
from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the
terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such
an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of
the original liability and a recognition of a new liability, and
the difference between the respective carrying amounts is
recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the
net amount is reported in the statement of financial position
if there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the
recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on
a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined on the weighted average basis. Net
realisable value is based on estimated selling prices less any
estimated costs to be incurred to completion and on disposal.

Cost of inventories includes the transfer from equity of gains
and losses on qualifying cash flow hedges in respect of the
purchases of raw materials.
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Notes to Financial Statements

B SRR YR

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES

2. REBERTEHBRK ()

(CONTINUED)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting 24 FESTEREE (E)
policies (continued)
Cash and cash equivalents RekBESEEY

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and
demand deposits, and short term highly liquid investments
that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash, are
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a
short maturity of generally within three months when acquired,
less bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form
an integral part of the Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial
position, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand
and at banks, including term deposits, and assets similar in
nature to cash, which are not restricted as to use.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is
probable that a future outflow of resources will be required to
settle the obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can be
made of the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount
recognised for a provision is the present value at the end
of the reporting period of the future expenditures expected
to be required to settle the obligation. The increase in the
discounted present value amount arising from the passage of
time is included in finance costs in the statement of profit or
loss.

A contingent liability recognised in a business combination is
initially measured at its fair value. Subsequently, it is measured
at the higher of (i) the amount that would be recognised in
accordance with the general guidance for provisions above;
and (i) the amount initially recognised less, when appropriate,
cumulative amortisation recognised in accordance with the
guidance for revenue recognition.
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Notes to Financial Statements

B R EE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting

policies (continued)

Employee retirement benefits

Pursuant to the relevant regulations of the PRC government,
the companies comprising the Group operating in Mainland
China (the “PRC group companies”) have participated in a
local municipal government retirement benefit scheme (the
“Scheme”), whereby the PRC group companies are required
to contribute a certain percentage of the salaries of their
employees to the Scheme to fund their retirement benefits.
The only obligation of the Group with respect to the Scheme
is to pay the ongoing contributions under the Scheme.
Contributions under the Scheme are charged to the statement
of profit or loss as incurred.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax and land
appreciation tax. Income tax relating to items recognised
outside profit or loss is recognised outside profit or loss, either
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount
expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation
authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period, taking into consideration interpretations and practices
prevailing in the countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.
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Notes to Financial Statements

B SRR EE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2. REBEREEBRK ()

2.4 Summary of significant accounting 24 FESTEREE (&)

policies (continued)

FriS® ()

Income tax (continued)

EEHAREREEERAE R =
FERERBALR - BATIERRI :

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences, except:

when the deferred tax liability arises from goodwill or the
initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction
that is not a business combination and, at the time of
the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor
taxable profit or loss; and

in respect of taxable temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries and joint ventures,
when the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences can be controlled and it is probable that the
temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable
future.
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unused tax losses can be utilised, except: B SERIN

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences, the carryforward of unused tax
credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are
recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit
will be available against which the deductible temporary
differences, the carryforward of unused tax credits and

when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial recognition
of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not
a business combination and, at the time of the
transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor
taxable profit or loss; and
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PR ER AR M

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2. REBEREEBRK ()

2.4 Summary of significant accounting

2.4 FESTTHEUE (&)

policies (continued)

Income tax (continued)

° in respect of deductible temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries and joint
ventures, deferred tax assets are only recognised to the
extent that it is probable that the temporary differences
will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit
will be available against which the temporary differences
can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at
the end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will
be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be
utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at
the end of each reporting period and are recognised to the
extent that it has become probable that sufficient taxable profit
will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to
be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is
realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax
laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if a
legally enforceable right exists to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to
the same taxable entity and the same taxation authority.
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Notes to Financial Statements

B ERR M

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2. WEBERTEBRK ()

2.4 Summary of significant accounting 2.4 FESTEREE (E)

policies (continued)

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where
there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received
and all attaching conditions will be complied with. When the
grant relates to an expense item, it is recognised as income on
a systematic basis over the periods that the costs, which it is
intended to compensate, are expensed.

Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is credited to
a deferred income account and is released to the statement of
profit or loss over the expected useful life of the relevant asset
by equal annual instalments or deducted from the carrying
amount of the asset and released to the statement of profit or
loss by way of a reduced depreciation charge.

Where the Group receives grants of non-monetary assets,
grants are recorded at the fair value of the non-monetary
assets and released to the statement of profit or loss over the
expected useful lives of the relevant assets by equal annual
instalments.

Where the Group receives government loans granted with no
or at a below-market rate of interest for the construction of a
qualifying asset, the initial carrying amount of the government
loans is determined using the effective interest rate method,
as further explained in the accounting policy for “Financial
liabilities” above. The benefit of the government loans granted
with no or at a below-market rate of interest, which is the
difference between the initial carrying value of the loans and
the proceeds received, is treated as a government grant and
released to the statement of profit or loss over the expected
useful life of the relevant asset by equal annual instalments.
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B IR AR

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting

policies (continued)

Revenue recognition

Revenue from the sale of properties in the ordinary course of
business is recognised when all the following criteria are met:

(@  the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the
properties are transferred to the purchasers;

(b)  neither continuing managerial involvement to the degree
usually associated with ownership, nor effective control
over the properties is retained;

(c)  the amount of revenue can be measured reliably;

(d) it is probable that the economic benefits associated
with the transaction will flow to the Group; and

(e)  the cost incurred or to be incurred in respect of the
transaction can be measured reliably.

The above criteria are met when construction of the
relevant properties has been completed and the Group has
obtained the project completion report issued by the relevant
government authorities, the properties have been delivered
to the purchasers, and the collectability of related receivables
is reasonably assured. Payments received on properties sold
prior to the date of revenue recognition are included in the
consolidated statement of financial position under current
liabilities.

Property leasing income derived from the leasing of the
Group’s properties is recognised on a time proportion basis
over the lease terms.

Property management fee income derived from the provision
of property maintenance and management services is
recognised upon the rendering of the relevant services.
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Notes to Financial Statements

B SRR YR

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2. REBERTEHBRK ()

2.4 Summary of significant accounting 24 FESTEREE (E)

policies (continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Hotel operating income which includes room rental, food
and beverage sales and income from the provision of other
ancillary services is recognised when the services are
rendered.

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the
effective interest method by applying the rate that exactly
discounts the estimated future cash receipts over the
expected life of the financial instrument or a shorter period,
when appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the financial
asset.

Dividend income is recognised when the shareholders’ right to
receive payment has been established.

Share-based payments

The Company operates a share option scheme for the
purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible
participants who contribute to the success of the Group’s
operations. Employees (including directors) of the Group
receive remuneration in the form of share-based payments,
whereby employees render services as consideration for
equity instruments (“equity-settled transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees for
grants after 7 November 2002 is measured by reference to the
fair value at the date at which they are granted. The fair value
is determined by an external valuer using a binomial model,
further details of which are given in note 30 to the financial
statements.

W A FERR (4])

BEKERA(BREER  RERK
FHHE RRRHEMEERBE O KRA)
INERHBRTS B FERR,

S AAB BRI R A IR et 2 R
R MATRA R R R BRE AR RE
TRARE T AR EE
B (Em) ERT Rz e R EERA
FEZME -

B BT E IR W ER R IE R E
HETER T ARER o

BURG RERAIY

ARBRE-RBRETE > 5HEY
AEEEBRNELERNEER
sEERHERBEREE - AREREE
(BRES) URMHA/ERNZ AT
WERSREN - e B RIS RIS (E
s TAZRE((BREERS)) -

E120024F 11 A7 B 2 B R B ER
REBETRBELERISIHRARSE
REBEREZEENAREENE -2
A EEBIINBEE A = E Bk
EEEAEE  GEE—PFBEIER
B R MIFE 30 o

BrEEERAF —E—+FF# 173



Notes to Financial Statements

B IR AR

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting

policies (continued)

Share-based payments (continued)

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised in
employee benefit expense, together with a corresponding
increase in equity, over the period in which the performance
and/or service conditions are fulfilled. The cumulative expense
recognised for equity-settled transactions at the end of each
reporting period until the vesting date reflects the extent
to which the vesting period has expired and the Group’s
best estimate of the number of equity instruments that will
ultimately vest. The charge or credit to the statement of profit
or loss for a period represents the movement in the cumulative
expense recognised as at the beginning and end of that
period.

Service and non-market performance conditions are not
taken into account when determining the grant date fair
value of awards, but the likelihood of the conditions being
met is assessed as part of the Group’s best estimate of the
number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. Market
performance conditions are reflected within the grant date fair
value. Any other conditions attached to an award, but without
an associated service requirement, are considered to be non-
vesting conditions. Non-vesting conditions are reflected in the
fair value of an award and lead to an immediate expensing of
an award unless there are also service and/or performance
conditions.

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-market
performance and/or service conditions have not been met,
no expense is recognised. Where awards include a market or
non-vesting condition, the transactions are treated as vesting
irrespective of whether the market or non-vesting condition is
satisfied, provided that all other performance and/or service
conditions are satisfied.
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Notes to Financial Statements

B SRR YR

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2. REBERTEHBRK ()

2.4 Summary of significant accounting 24 FESTEREE (E)

policies (continued)

Share-based payments (continued)

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as
a minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms had not
been modified, if the original terms of the award are met. In
addition, an expense is recognised for any modification that
increases the total fair value of the share-based payments, or
is otherwise beneficial to the employee as measured at the
date of modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if
it had vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense
not yet recognised for the award is recognised immediately.
This includes any award where non-vesting conditions within
the control of either the Group or the employee are not met.
However, if a new award is substituted for the cancelled
award, and is designated as a replacement award on the date
that it is granted, the cancelled and new awards are treated as
if they were a modification of the original award, as described
in the previous paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as
additional share dilution in the computation of earnings per
share.
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Notes to Financial Statements

B IR AR

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting

policies (continued)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, that is, assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready
for their intended use or sale, are capitalised as part of the
cost of those assets. The capitalisation of such borrowing
costs ceases when the assets are substantially ready for
their intended use or sale. Investment income earned on
the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending
their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the
borrowing costs capitalised. All other borrowing costs are
expensed in the period in which they are incurred. Borrowing
costs consist of interest and other costs that an entity incurs in
connection with the borrowing of funds.

Where funds have been borrowed generally and used for the
purpose of obtaining qualifying assets, a capitalisation rate of
4.43% (2016: 6.76%) has been applied to the expenditure on
the individual assets.

Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they are
approved by the shareholders in a general meeting.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and declared.
Consequently, interim dividends are recognised immediately
as a liability when they are proposed and declared.
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Notes to Financial Statements

B SRR YR

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2. REBERTEHBRK ()

2.4 Summary of significant accounting 24 FESTEREE (E)

policies (continued)

Foreign currencies

The Company and certain subsidiaries incorporated outside
Mainland China use Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”), Canadian
dollars (“CA$”), Australian dollars (‘“AU$”), Japanese Yen
(“JPY”), and United States dollars (‘US$”) as their functional
currencies, respectively. The functional currency of Mainland
China subsidiaries is the RMB. As the Group mainly operates
in Mainland China, RMB is used as the presentation currency
of the Group. Each entity in the Group determines its own
functional currency and items included in the financial
statements of each entity are measured using that functional
currency. Foreign currency transactions recorded by the
entities in the Group are initially recorded using their respective
functional currency rates prevailing at the dates of the
transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in
foreign currencies are translated at the functional currency
rates of exchange ruling at the end of the reporting period.
Differences arising on settlement or translation of monetary
items are recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

Differences arising on settlement or translation of monetary
items are recognised in the statement of profit or loss with
the exception of monetary items that are designated as
part of the hedge of the Group’s net investment of a foreign
operation. These are recognised in other comprehensive
income until the net investment is disposed of, at which time
the cumulative amount is reclassified to the statement of profit
or loss. Tax charges and credits attributable to exchange
differences on those monetary items are also recorded in
other comprehensive income.
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Notes to Financial Statements

B R AR EE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

178 Zhong An Real Estate Limited

2.4 Summary of significant accounting

policies (continued)
Foreign currencies (continued)

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the
exchange rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-
monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign currency
are translated using the exchange rates at the date when
the fair value was measured. The gain or loss arising on
translation of a non-monetary item measured at fair value
is treated in line with the recognition of the gain or loss on
change in fair value of the item (i.e., translation difference on
the item whose fair value gain or loss is recognised in other
comprehensive income or profit or loss is also recognised in
other comprehensive income or profit or loss, respectively).

The functional currencies of non-PRC established subsidiaries
are currencies other than the RMB. As at the end of the
reporting period, the assets and liabilities of these entities
are translated into RMB at the exchange rates prevailing at
the end of the reporting period and their statements of profit
or loss are translated into RMB at the weighted average
exchange rates for the year.

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the exchange
fluctuation reserve. On disposal of a foreign operation, the
component of other comprehensive income relating to that
particular foreign operation is recognised in the statement of
profit or loss.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation
and any fair value adjustments to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities arising on acquisition are treated as
assets and liabilities of the foreign operation and translated at
the closing rate.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
the cash flows of non-PRC established subsidiaries are
translated into RMB at the exchange rates ruling at the dates
of the cash flows. Frequently recurring cash flows of non-PRC
established companies which arise throughout the year are
translated into RMB at the weighted average exchange rates
for the year.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that
affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and
liabilities, and their accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure
of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions and
estimates could result in outcomes that could require a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities
affected in the future.

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
management has made the following judgements, apart from those
involving estimations, which have the most significant effect on the
amounts recognised in the financial statements:

(i) Operating lease commitments - the Group as lessor

The Group has entered into commercial property leases on
its investment property portfolio. The Group has determined,
based on an evaluation of the terms and conditions of the
arrangements, that it retains all the significant risks and
rewards of ownership of these properties which are leased out
on operating leases.
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B IR AR

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(CONTINUED)

Judgements (continued)

(ii)

(iii)

180 Zzhong An Real Estate Limited

Classification between investment properties,
completed properties held for sale and owner-occupied
properties

The Group determines whether a property qualifies as an
investment property, and has developed criteria in making
that judgement. Investment property is a property held to
earn rentals or for capital appreciation or both. Therefore, the
Group considers whether a property generates cash flows
largely independently of the other assets held by the Group.

Some properties comprise a portion that is held to earn rentals
or for capital appreciation and another portion that is held
for use in the production or supply of goods or services or
for administrative purposes. If these portions could be sold
separately, the Group accounts for the portions separately. If
the portions could not be sold separately, the property is an
investment property only if an insignificant portion is held for
use in the production or supply of goods or services or for
administrative purposes. Judgement is made on an individual
property basis to determine whether ancillary services are so
significant that a property does not qualify as an investment

property.

Classification of current and non-current properties
under development

The Group classifies properties under development
according to the construction progress and the estimated
commencement date of presale. Properties under
development are classified as current assets when the
estimated time to completed construction is less than twelve
months from the end of the reporting period.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(CONTINUED)

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources
of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that have
a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are
described below:

(i) Fair value of investment properties

Investment properties were revalued based on the appraised
market value by independent professional valuers. Such
valuations were based on certain assumptions, which are
subject to uncertainty and might materially differ from the
actual results. In making the estimate, the Group considers
information from current prices in an active market for similar
properties and uses assumptions that are mainly based on
market conditions existing at the end of the reporting period.

In the absence of current prices in an active market for similar
properties, the Group considers information from a variety of
sources, including:

(@  current prices in an active market for properties of a
different nature, condition or location or subject to
different leases or other contracts, adjusted to reflect
those differences;

(b)  recent prices of similar properties on less active
markets, with adjustments to reflect any changes in
economic conditions since the dates of the transactions
that occurred at those prices; and

(c) discounted cash flow projections based on reliable
estimates of future cash flows, supported by the terms
of any existing lease and other contracts and (when
possible) by external evidence such as current market
rents for similar properties in the same location and
condition, and using discount rates that reflect current
market assessments of the uncertainty in the amount
and timing of the cash flows.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(CONTINUED)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

(i)

(ii)

182 Zhong An Real Estate Limited

Fair value of investment properties (continued)

The principal assumptions for the Group’s estimation of
the fair value include those related to current market rents
for similar properties in the same location and condition,
appropriate discount rates, expected future market rents and
future maintenance costs. The carrying amount of investment
properties at 31 December 2017 was RMB5,678,800,000
(2016: RMB5,387,250,000). Further details, including the key
assumptions used for fair value measurement and a sensitivity
analysis, are given in note 13 to the financial statements.

Net realisable value of properties under development
and completed properties held for sale

The Group’s properties under development and completed
properties held for sale are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Based on the Group’s historical experience
and the nature of the subject properties, the Group makes
estimates of the selling prices, the costs of completion of
properties under development, and the costs to be incurred in
selling the properties based on prevailing market conditions.

If there is an increase in costs to completion or a decrease in
net sales value, the net realisable value will decrease and this
may result in a provision for properties under development and
completed properties held for sale. Such provision requires
the use of judgements and estimates. Where the expectation
is different from the original estimate, the carrying value and
provision for properties in the period in which the estimate is
changed will be adjusted accordingly.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(CONTINUED)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

(iii)

PRC land appreciation tax (“LAT”)

LAT in the PRC is levied at progressive rates ranging from
30% to 60% on the appreciation of land value, being
the proceeds from sales of properties less deductible
expenditures including land costs, borrowing costs and other
property development expenditures.

The subsidiaries of the Group engaging in the property
development business in Mainland China are subject to
LAT. However, the implementation of these taxes varies
amongst various cities in Mainland China and the Group
has not finalised its LAT returns with various tax authorities.
Accordingly, significant judgement is required in determining
the amount of land appreciation and its related taxes. The
ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary
course of business. The Group recognises these liabilities
based on management’s best estimates. Where the final
tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts
that were initially recorded, such differences will impact the
statement of profit or loss and the provision for LAT in the
period in which such determination is made.

Notes to Financial Statements

B SRR YR

3. EXETHIERR st (#8)

CE:RNESE )

(iii)

BT+t 3R {E Y

FR B ) - R (E R 2 k1 R (E B 6H
SRS RIER IR A (21
TS RN R H A 3 R B
B ) 32 1R 30% 2= 60% HYIE#E B R
B -

REEE THET BB EMEED
BB A Bl R A IR ER o A
- R B EERT - ZEHIR
WERSEEZRE  BASEEARED
R BHERSEER T HIRER R
BK - Bt - EEE L HIBESEN
HABRAH AR AELEAHE - R H
BEBBEDRENVIREE T E
T o AEBEKRBREERENREGTE
R ERE © MR EFRNRRHER
BRESTLERNEETE - RIBHE
ERKEFERRE  UZEEH
B 3 SR E AR A H A o

RLFERRAA]

—z—+#FH 183



Notes to Financial Statements

B IR AR

3.

184 Zhong An Real Estate Limited

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(CONTINUED)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

(iv) Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences and unused tax losses to the extent
that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against
which the deductible temporary differences and losses can
be utilised. Significant management judgement is required
to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can
be recognised, based upon the likely timing and level of
future taxable profits together with future tax planning
strategies. The carrying value of deferred tax assets relating
to recognised deductible temporary differences and tax
losses at 31 December 2017 was RMB 101,062,000
(2016: RMB168,779,000). The amount of unrecognised tax
losses during the year ended 31 December 2017 was RMB
279,176,000 (2016: RMB66,348,000).
contained in note 19 to the financial statements.

Further details are

OPERATING SEGMENT
INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group is organised into business
units based on income derived from business and has two
reportable operating segments as follows:

(@  the residential segment develops and sells residential
properties, and provides management and security services
to residential properties in Mainland China and Canada;

(b)  the commercial segment develops and sells commercial
properties, leases investment properties, owns and operates
hotel and provides management and security services to
commercial properties in Mainland China.

Management monitors the results of the Group’s operating
segments separately for the purpose of making decisions about
resource allocation and performance assessment. Segment
performance is evaluated based on reportable segment profit/
loss, which is a measure of profit/loss before tax from continuing
operations. Intersegment sales and transfers are transacted with
reference to the selling prices used for sales made to third parties at
the then prevailing market prices.
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT

INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
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4. EESBEA W)

Residential Commercial Total
x= [EES st

Year ended HZE2017F RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
31 December 2017 12A31 BILEE AR¥ET T ARETT ARETT
Segment revenue: DEBURA -
Sales to external customers HIMNIEFIHE 4,099,131 295,986 4,395,117
Intersegment sales DEfEHEE 800 - 800
Sales to external customers HINBRFHE 4,099,931 295,986 4,395,917
Reconciliation: ZEED -
Elimination of intersegment sales 7 BB SHE 81 (800)
Revenue from continuing operations BB TR A 4,395,117
Segment results DERELE 549,949 752,090 1,302,039
Segment assets DEPERE 10,039,749 13,254,174 23,293,923
Reconciliation: GEER -
Elimination of intersegment receivables 4> & U 318 ¥ 41 (696,221)
Total assets 8B E 22,597,702
Segment liabilities EEE 6,332,009 7,245,818 13,577,827
Reconciliation: ZEED -
Elimination of intersegment payables 5B P FE A< SR IE T §H (39,289)
Total liabilities waE 13,538,538
Other segment information: HithpEHER :
Share of loss of: DIhEE

a joint venture: —EE&EhE 4,371 - 4,371
Impairment losses recognised in RIERRER

the statement of profit or loss RERE (1,213) - (1,213)
Depreciation e 14,675 17,191 31,866
Investments in joint ventures AEEDENIRE 629 - 629
Capital expenditure BAREY 55,600 252,834 308,434
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B IR AR

4. OPERATING SEGMENT 4. BEEDWEH(E)

INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Residential Commercial Total
x=E [HES FEH
Year ended HZE20164F RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
31 December 2016 1231 HIEFE ARETTT ARETT ARBT T
Segment revenue: DEBUA -
Sales to external customers HINDEFIHE 4,148,777 858,371 5,007,148
Intersegment sales DEfEHEE 1,200 - 1,200
4,149,977 858,371 5,008,348
Reconciliation: AR -
Elimination of intersegment sales 73 5 I 85 5 I 8H (1,200)
Revenue from continuing operations B ST 5,007,148
Segment results DEPFEE (16,495) 265,707 249,212
Segment assets DEPEE 9,249,696 11,288,945 20,538,641
Reconciliation: GEER -
Elimination of intersegment receivables 43 & i U 3 18 ¥ 4 (268,200
Total assets BEE 20,270,441
Segment liabilities PEBEE 6,692,487 5,946,886 12,639,373
Reconciliation: RN -
Elimination of intersegment payables 73 2B FE 1S TR IE 6 (80,067)
Total liabilities FE=E 12,559,306
Other segment information: HihpEHER :
Share of loss of: DIGEE
a joint venture BENE - 15 15
Impairment losses recognised in B R IER A
the statement of profit or loss HEEE (71,611) = (71,611)
Depreciation e 7,868 13,090 20,958
Investments in joint ventures RELREMNIRE - 759 759
Capital expenditure BARKS 13,601 117,328 130,929
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OPERATING SEGMENT
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Geographical information

Al of the Group’s revenue is derived from customers based in
Mainland China except one property in Canada, and all of the non-
current assets of the Group are located in Mainland China.

Information about major customers

No sales to a single customer or a group of customers under
common control accounted for 10% or more of the Group’s revenue
for the years ended 31 December 2017 and 2016.

REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND
GAINS

Revenue represents income from the sale of properties, property
leasing income, property management fee income and hotel
operating income during the year, net of business tax and other
sales related taxes and discounts allowed.

4.

Notes to Financial Statements

B SRR YR

EESBEAE)

1 & Y
BRERIMEAG—EYEIN - AEEHEE

WANRERPEAERR - KNEBZEIER
BEETMIN P BIARE -

AREEEFHNER
WEHRE—FSREREREHTHE

FHNMEEREBBNEEEHEE2017F &
201612831 A IEFEUWARI10% A L ©

WA -~ Efbly A B i

WARFRABEEDERA - BEEERA
YEEIRE WAL S E WA (&%
i M EL A S E BRI AR E T HIMR) ©
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B IR AR

5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND 5, WA - Rttt A RIS
GAINS (CONTINUED) (#8)

An analysis of revenue, other income and gains is as follows: WA~ A RSB DT T
2017 2016
2017 F 2016 4
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTT AREET T

Revenue 'ON

Sale of properties HEYIH 4,242,937 5,027,694
Property leasing income MERE A 77,402 62,040
Property management fee income MEEEBEWRA 121,109 100,652
Hotel operating income S BRI 67,391 46,749
Less: Business tax and surcharges* VD B ER R ANE (113,722) (229,987)

4,395,117 5,007,148

* Pursuant to the VAT reform in the PRC effective from 1 May 2016, all  * RIE20164F5 A 1 BRAEMMNFBRIBERNE 2016

pre-sales of properties incurred after 1 May 2016 are subject to VAT. F5 A1 BREENMAEMERSHAMNLER
Accordingly, once the related revenue from these sales of properties is Eity, - —BRE L EDEHERERRA SR -
recognised, more revenue represents the net invoiced value of properties FZWARKE EVENBZFE(TRIBLER) -
sold with VAT exclusive. Revenue in connection with the pre-sales incurred H12016 4 5 A 1 B AIE 4 2 TEE MR A DA
prior to 1 May 2016 is still subject to business tax, and the revenue BER - MRARKRESMENBZFE(TRES
represents the net invoiced value of properties sold with business tax %) -
exclusive.
Other income HAg A
Bank interest income ERITHIE U A 24,383 9,139
Subsidy income* AR YA 1,724 12,007
Others HMIEE 18,923 8,173
45,030 29,319
Gains Wz
Gain on disposal of investment HEREMEN W=
properties 61,991 -
Foreign exchange gain & X e 2,255 874
64,246 874
109,276 30,193
* There are no unfulfilled conditions or contingencies relating to these grants. ~ * A BB R TR R IR Sk B B B 1 o
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B SRR EE

6. PROFIT BEFORE TAX 6. BR¥RATFIE

The Group’s profit before tax is arrived at after charging/(crediting):

AEBRBATFEE R (GTA) TFI%

g
2017 2016
2017 20164
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
Hist ARBT T ARBTF T
Cost of properties sold EHEWEKAK 21 3,220,810 4,322,573
Depreciation e 12 31,866 20,958
Minimum lease payments under RECEHEN

operating leases: RIEAEFUE -

— Office premises — WA 9,568 4,771
Auditors’ remuneration ZE A& 2,320 2,720
Staff costs including directors’ and ETHRAN(BREERTE

chief executive’s remuneration: TBRAEMS) : 8

— Salaries and other staff costs —ITERHEMETIKA 198,477 177,687

— Pension scheme contributions — RS EMERK 22,508 20,179
Foreign exchange differences, net BERER  FE 5 (2,255) (874)
Direct operating expenses BELERY (B

(including repairs and maintenance REMEEENEER

arising on investment properties) 1B38) 3,553 2,807
(Gain)/loss on disposal of HEREME (Wx), B

investment properties (61,991) 5,684
Fair value gains, net: D EERE - FRE

Fair value gain upon transfer to EREREYEN

investment properties INELED G 13 (523) -
Changes in fair value of REMERS(EE

investment properties BEp 13 (825,362) (123,908)
Equity investments at fair value BRARBEFEEHE

through profit or loss AR BIEENESIRE

— held for trading —REEE (1,825) 67

Realise of properties under development BOBARYER

to net realisable value AR E 14 (1,213) (71,611)
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s e
7. FINANCE COSTS 7. BWEEH
An analysis of the Group’s finance costs is as follows: REBENABEERSTAT
2017 2016
2017 & 2016 FF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%T ARBTIT
Interest on bank borrowings RITE A B 257,479 263,852
Interest on other borrowings HAfERF B 68,166 109,732
Total interest expense FEFRX Bz 325,645 373,584
Less: Interest capitalised in properties B BA LR
under development L7E:ORIIS (284,219) (361,867)
41,426 11,717

8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF
EXECUTIVE’'S REMUNERATION

Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the year, disclosed
pursuant to the Listing Rules, section 383(1)(a), (b), (c) and (f) of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies

8. ERRERTHARM®E

B EHER - FEQBMEHISE 383(1)(a)
©) * O BRMIEARAR(EEEEFEER)
BOIFE28  FAESREZTHAEHS

(Disclosure of Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is WERIT :
as follows:
2017 2016
2017 & 2016 F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AREBTTT
Fees we 672 600
Other emoluments: E A E BN -
Salaries, bonuses and allowances & - JEAL S ERL 7,330 4,759
Pension scheme contributions BIREET B 27 17
7,357 4,776
8,029 5,376
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8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF

EXECUTIVE’'S REMUNERATION

(CONTINUED)

Notes to Financial Statements

B SRR EE

8. EEREETHRARMNS

(@) Independent non-executive directors

The fees paid to independent non-executive directors during

the year were as follows:

() BAFHITES

FRAENBILFATEENES N

™

2017 2016
2017 & 20164

RMB’000 RMB’000

Fees we ARET T AREETTT
Mr. Pei Ker Wei BREfE 224 200
Mr. Zhang Huagiao RAEAE S 224 200
Mr. Loke Yu Gy St 224 200
672 600

(b) Executive directors and the chief

(b) BITEEREETHAER

executive
Pension
Salaries and scheme
allowances Bonuses contributions Total
Bifke
HoREN 4L HEGE @st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T AR®TR AR®TT AR®TR
2017 2017 &
Executive directors HiTEE
Mr.Zhang Jiangang oRERHH S A 748 276 7 1,031
Mr. Shi Kancheng WA A 1,801 640 5 2,446
Mr. Jin Jianrong SEELE 630 258 6 894
Ms. Shen Tiaojuan IhRER T 838 298 - 1,136
Chief executive and FETRAE
executive director Ri#iT£%
Ms.Wang Shuiyun @ FKELLO 1,321 520 9 1,850
5,338 1,992 27 7,357
1) Shi Kancheng was no longer the chief executive since 2 July 2017. (1) B20176F7 A28 MK EETH

2) Wang Shuiyun was appointed on 2 July 2017.

HEEREHTE °
) FERELLNR2017F7 A2 BERE -
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PR ER AR M

8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF

EXECUTIVE’S REMUNERATION

(CONTINUED)

(b) Executive directors and the chief

executive (continued)

8.

EERFETHARNS
(%)

b) BTEEREETHAER
(%)

Pension
Salaries and scheme
allowances Bonuses contributions Total
e RoRhh b{ZAN BElGESA w5t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥EFT AR¥EFT AREFT AR®ETT
2016 2016
Executive diirectors HiTEE
Mr.Zhang Jiangang REMILAE 643 162 7 812
Mr. Lou Yifei* B—RiE" 501 - - 501
Mr. Jin Jianrong SRELAE 298 - B 303
Ms. Shen Tiaojuan YRGS R 721 213 - 934
2,163 375 12 2,550
Chief executive and FETEAS
executive director RHUTEE
Mr. Shi Kancheng AR e 1,801 420 5 2,226
3,964 795 17 4,776

There was no arrangement under which a director waived or

agreed to waive any remuneration during the year (2016: Nil).
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9. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

The five highest paid employees during the year included three
(2016: four) directors, details of whose remuneration are set out
in note 8 above. Details of the remuneration of the remaining two

o.

Notes to Financial Statements

B ER AR M

AEEREHFAL

FRNREEZRERFTATABIE=24 (2016 F :
mE)E= - EMSFEEEHRN EXHE
8 FRHM T _# (20165 : —R)IFEEK

(2016: one) non-director, highest paid employee for the year are as S ATHBISFEIFMT ¢
follows:
2017 2016
2017 & 2016 4
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T AREET T
Salaries, bonuses and allowances i - TEALMoERE 2,165 933
Pension scheme contributions EREFEIHK 20 15
2,185 948
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B R AR YA

10. INCOME TAX 10. FRi5#

The Group’s subsidiaries incorporated in Hong Kong and Canada
are not liable for income tax as they did not have any assessable
profits arising in Hong Kong and Canada during the year (2016: Nil).

The provision for the PRC income tax has been provided at the
applicable income tax rate of 25% (2016: 25%) on the assessable
profits of the Group’s subsidiaries in Mainland China.

LAT is levied at progressive rates ranging from 30% to 60% on
the appreciation of land value, being the proceeds from sales
of properties less deductible expenditures including land costs,
borrowing costs and other property development expenditures. The
Group has estimated, made and included in taxation a provision for
LAT according to the requirements set forth in the relevant PRC tax
laws and regulations. Prior to the actual cash settlement of the LAT
liabilities, the LAT liabilities are subject to the final review/approval by
the tax authorities.

HRAEBRESRINEARK KB A
RAREEREB RINE AR R E 4 B R TR
B MW EEL B RINE ARG H R E
(2016 4 : #) -

AR B FT{S L E LA S B AE A B AR B A &Y
FEZRHR A 25% (2016 4F : 25% ) &9 A Fr
SRR R B B o

FREIR IR ER R R T IR AR E Y
PSR IR0 AT FR B 32 (B LA AN - &

ERAREMYEFRERS)ENR 0% E
BO%EEER KU - REBERETEA
MBRERER - (h5T - (FHH REBEAG
AT HIRETER -  EARSERGEE L
BEWRAEZR - DHIRERE ERBNE
ERREER Tk -

2017 2016
2017 & 2016 4
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AREBT T

Current — PRC corporate income tax BNEATIE — F AR
for the year TS 179,955 52,949
Current — PRC LAT for the year BNEARH I — F A B L b3 (E R 169,954 23,644
Deferred (note 19) EIERIR (FI3E19) 143,726 11,657
Total tax charge for the year FRFIBARTE 493,635 88,250
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10. INCOME TAX (CONTINUED)

A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to profit before tax

using the statutory rate for the jurisdiction in which the Company and

the majority of its subsidiaries are domiciled to the tax expense at the

effective tax rate is as follows:

Notes to Financial Statements

10. Fr 3 1R (#8)

B SRR EE

REBEARBREAZHHE AR AERNEE
B8 BYSATE B R 5T E R B AT A @ A A B B
ERBERTEAENTAFSEROT

2017 2016
2017 2016 4
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T AREET T
Profit before tax R 7% B A 1,302,039 249,212
Tax at the statutory tax rate of 25% 1% 25% (2016 4F : 25%)
(2016: 25%) EE R ERIE 325,510 62,308
Effect of withholding tax at 10% AN SR ] B Bt B8 2 ) AT
on the distributable profits of 7K B AN 10% TEFNFR
the Group’s PRC subsidiaries En)=7- 7,270 1,025
Tax losses utilised from previous periods B i@ 7F AR 2= A B R TE S 18 (56,185) (1,298)
Expenses not deductible for tax Bt b3 19,781 14,198
Recognition of tax losses previously R LRI A RN IBE R
not recognised - (22,298)
Tax losses not recognised RIERFIERE 69,794 16,587
Provision for LAT T IR ETT B 169,954 23,644
Tax effect on LAT TS ERNR SR (42,489) (5,911)
Tax charge at the Group’s effective rate RNEEBEEHRERNHIERY 493,635 88,250
Tax payable in the consolidated statement A& 81 #S AR 5 2% B9 FE 1~
of financial position represents: FiIEss ¢
PRC corporate income tax PR EEFTIS T 335,134 269,879
PRC LAT A )+ St I (E B 450,527 399,021
785,661 668,900
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PR ER AR M

11. EARNINGS PER SHARE
ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY
EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT

The calculation of basic eamnings per share is based on the profit
for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent
of RMB547,435,000 (2016: RMB125,272,000) and the weighted
average number of ordinary shares of 5,311,316,200 (2016:

11.

4 E]

BATFIRBRRESAEA
=R

7

BREARRFZBET AR EBRBERS
ANE(RERFEAREE547,435,00070(2016
£ ANR#125272,0007T)  AREARND
1T AR A AN T £5£05,311,316,200 A%

4,697,164,800) in issue during the year, as adjusted to reflect the (2016 F : 4,697,164,800% ) 5t & * E 73
rights issue during the year. BPA R BRLAF AR AR EEAT ©
The calculation of basic earnings per share is based on: FTESRERBFDER
2017 2016
2017 F 2016 4F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMT T ARBFIT
Earnings &ZF|
Profit attributable to ordinary equity [SYNSIESE e
holders of the parent =B ARGFE 547,435 125,272
Number of shares
R B E
2017 2016
2017 F 2016 ¢
(Restated)
(f&E=m)

Shares B3
Weighted average number of ordinary FRBEBITE R
shares in issue during the year D58

The Group did not have any potentially dilutive ordinary shares
during the years ended 31 December 2017 (2016: Nil).

2017 Annual Report
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B RE M
12. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT 12. EER &R
Office Motor  Leasehold Construction
Properties ~ Machinery  equipment vehicles improvements in progress Total
nE BH ROERE RE HERE FRIR &zt
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT  ARETT ARETR ARETR ARETE  ARETT ARETR
At 31 December 2015 and 2015512318 K
1 January 2016 016F1 718 :
Cost [ 248,032 1,632 38,980 47,388 5,566 - 341,498
Accumulated depreciation ZiTE (89,932) (1,082) (29,680) (38,009) (114) - (158,787
Net carrying amount FRFE 158,100 480 9,300 9,379 5,452 - 182,711
Additions byl 498 352 11,597 284 182 118,066 130,929
Transfer from properties BREERERNE
under development - - - - - 1,074,531 1,074,531
Disposals e (3,150) - (1,867) (126) - - (5,143)
Depreciation provided FRFE
during the year (10,215 (112 (6:242) (3,034 (1,355 - (20,958
At 31 December 2016, 2016F 124318 -
net of accumulated depreciation MR E:HHE 145,233 720 12,788 6,503 4,229 1,192,697 1,362,070
At 31 December 2016 and 2016F12A318
1 January 2017: k2017118 :
Cost KAE 245,380 1,884 48,710 47,546 5,698 1,192,597 1,641,815
Accumulated depreciation ZithE (100,147) (1,164) (35,922) (41,043 (1,469 - (179,745)
Net carrying amount RAFE 145,233 720 12,788 6,503 4229 1,192,597 1,362,070
Additions ) 45,229 4,010 11,848 14,869 30,766 201,712 308,434
Transfer from properties ERARERYE
under development - - - - - 420,316 420,316
Construction in progress completed R Ti2&A 850,316 - - - - (850,316) -
Disposals irk4 - (345) 1,395 (192) - - 858
Depreciation provided ENFE
during the year (12,635) (254) (6,298) (7,735) (4,944) - (31,866)
At 31 December 2017, 2017F12A318 -
net of accumulated depreciation MR 21478 1,028,143 4131 19,733 13,445 30,051 964,309 2,059,812
At 31 December 2017: 2017F12A318 :
Cost FAfE 1,140925 5,549 61,953 62,223 36,464 964300 2271423
Accumulated depreciation 2tk (112,782) (1,418) (42,220) (48,778) (6,413) - (211,611)
Net carrying amount FRFE 1,028,143 4,131 19,733 13,445 30,051 964,309 2,059,812

At 31 December 2017, certain items of the Group’s property
and equipment with a net carrying amount of approximately
RMB90,704,000 (2016: RMB132,540,000) were pledged to secure
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings granted to the Group as
disclosed in note 29.

MR20176F12A318 - AEBEETWER
% fE1E B BREFE 4 A K 890,704,000 7T
(20164 : AR¥E132,540,0007T) * 20Ff&E
20FTIREE - BUEAR TAKER BRITHE
AR EAMEFRA A -
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B R AR YA

13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

13. B Eh=E

Investment
Completed properties Investment
investment under properties
properties construction held for sale Total
BEHERE
BERRENE HEREWHE LES st
Note RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
Hist ARBT T ARET T AREF T ARBEF T
At 31 December 2015 2015512 A31B K&
and 1 January 2016 20161 A 1H 3,118,900 2,155,000 = 5,273,900
Investment properties TERIREMZETERK
under construction completed 2,165,000 (2,155,000) - -
Additions 0 60,794 = = 60,794
Disposal HE (71,352) - - (71,352)
Transfer to investment ERERENE
properties held for sale BEME (257,313) - 257,313 -
Change in fair value of REMERR
investment properties BEE 123,908 - - 123,908
At 31 December 2016 2016F 128318 &
and 1 January 2017 20171 R1H 5,129,937 = 257,313 5,387,250
Transfers from properties HEEMEEE
under construction to REYE
investment properties 14 - 858,814 — 858,814
Increase in investment REMERIERE
properties and & B YL N
investment properties
under construction 8,843 160,663 - 169,506
Investment properties under BEEREREE
construction completed ME 1,019,477 (1,019,477) - -
Transfers to investment BRREHE
properties held for sale REME (770,337) - 770,337 -
Transfers to properties B AR YE
under development 14,(f) (697,000) - - (697,000)
Disposal HE = = (865,655) (865,655)
Fair value gain upon transfer EEEAAER
Yrgs 523 - - 523
Changes in fair value of REWEAAEBE
investment properties HE 784,468 - 40,894 825,362
At 31 December 2017 201712 A31H 5,475,911 - 202,889 5,678,800
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B R 3R B
13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 13. T =E (18)

(CONTINUED)

2017 2016

2017 & 2016 4

Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

KiaE ARETT AREBT T

Non-current assets IERBVEE 5,475,911 5,129,937

Current assets mENEE (e) 202,889 257,313

5,678,800 5,387,250

(a) Al investment properties of the Group were revalued at the @ AKBEEMREVERNFRABLE

end of the year by an independent professionally qualified
valuer, CBRE Limited, at fair value. CBRE Limited is an
industry specialist in investment property valuation. The fair
value represents the amount at which the assets could be
exchanged between a knowledgeable and willing buyer and a
seller in an arm’s length transaction at the date of valuation, in
accordance with International Valuation Standards.

The following table gives information about how the fair values
of these investment properties are determined (in particular,
the valuation techniques and inputs used), as well as the fair
value hierarchy into which the fair value measurements are
categorised (Levels 1 to 3) based on the degree to which the
inputs to the fair value measurements are observable.

Investment properties held by the Group in the consolidated
statement of financial position were valued into fair value
hierarchy level 3 listed below; the valuation techniques are the
direct comparison approach and the income approach (term
and reversion approach), and key inputs are:

(1)  Term yield: the higher the term yield, the lower the fair
value;

(2)  Reversionary yield: the higher the reversionary yield, the
lower the fair value;

(8)  Market unit rent: the higher the market unit rent, the
higher the fair value;

(4)  Price per square metre: the higher the price, the higher
the fair value.

XEABGEMEBRETCEARAD
AEAREBEEM - EHRETAR
REIBPIRREMELENTESR

0

R AABEEEEAIRAEERE
RERBERNHE B HREBR R G EE
ELNIRGRIBEERDHE o

TREFIMABEEHFREDENR
ABECCER  AANGERNE
2R MEMUNRBARBEE
BARERBREEZE D AR EER
ENARBERE(F—EE=H)

REERAHBBARNEZFHHHR
BEMED T XMINE=RAAERE
A - AERTAERLEOERKRA
(AR RERE)  T2RABER

(1) 7FHHEAUL S = - FHHA UK 25 =
= AR EEBE

@ FEBKEE: ERKEEER
= ARBEBE

@ WmHEBEMES: mSEMESE
B Aﬁ%@iﬁ?

@) SIFTKER: FEHKER
WS - DA EEES -
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B R AR YA

13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 13. IEWE (])

(CONTINUED)

The significant unobservable inputs EATIEERAE

Investment properties
held by the Group
AEBFREFEEREYE

Property 1 — Property in Hangzhou
(Guomao Building)

1SR — M
(HEAE)

Significant unobservable inputs

EXTABEGARE

Term yield, taking into account the yield of 4% for the office portion and 5.5% for the
retail portion, generated from comparable properties and adjustment to reflect the
certainty of term income secured and to be received.

K AR EE W Es (A B 7 4% REEED /75.5%) B RILFTHEIR Kt
U ER A B A B i FE 1 O 8 2R 45 HE 9 A B U 2 3 o

Reversionary yield of 5.5% for the office portion and 6% for the retail portion,
taking into account annual unit market rental income and unit market value of the
comparable properties.

KA ANBUTSEFEESBARREYENELTE  RABHERNSER
5.5% R TEE N 76% °

Market unit rent of RMB1.7/sgm./day for the office portion and RMB4.9/sgm./day
for the retail portion, using direct market comparables and taking into account the
location and other individual factors such as road frontage, size of property and
facilities.

LR BEEMISL B AT R B REEEER - MERDNREREEE M SEEER
M5 EUHSREFHRERARE1. 7T REFHRERARE4.97T
(ZED) -

Price of RMB9,800/sgm. for the office portion and RMB23,800/sgm. for the retail
portion, using market direct comparables and taking into account of location and
other individual factors such as road frontage, size of property, etc.

R BEEMISLBOET T R B RGERE  WERESHMEEER  BRAE
FHARARK9,8007T (WA ) REF IR AR 23,8007T °
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B IS SRER M=
13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 13. I BEMXR (18)
(CONTINUED)
The significant unobservable inputs BRI EERARE (F)
(continued)

Investment properties

held by the Group Significant unobservable inputs
rEBEBREYHE ERFAEER A

Property 2 — Property in Shanghai Term yield, taking into account of yield of 5%, generated from comparable properties

(La Vie) and adjustment to reflect the certainty of term income secured and to be received.
L St JE S K AR R Y 5% 2 W B R ATHER R MO R A R e 3 2
(3REsT) 15 H B TR Bk R o

Reversionary yield of 5.5%, taking into account annual unit market rental income and
unit market value of the comparable properties.
Kt ABUMSFERSBARFEDENECTE  BEHREERE5% °

Market unit rent of RMB7.7/sgm./day, using direct market comparables and taking
into account of location and other individual factors such as road frontage, size of
property and facilities.

EREEMSER A AT R E REEER - WERDREESE S EEE -
TZEMEEREB T RERARE 7.7 T -

Price of RMB50,500/sgm., using market direct comparables and taking into account
of location and other individual factors such as road frontage, size of property etc.
ERBEEMISLBOE T R B RGERE - WERESHMENEER  BRAE
FHRARM50,5007T ©
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ISR R M EE

13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 13. I BEMXR (18)
(CONTINUED)
The significant unobservable inputs EATIEERH ARE (F)
(continued)

Investment properties
held by the Group
rEBEEREYHE

Property 3 — Property in Hangzhou
(Integrated Service Center)
BSRME— MM
(k7 & RIEH L)

Significant unobservable inputs

EXTABRBARE

Term yield, taking into account of yield of 5.5%, generated from comparable
properties and adjustment to reflect the certainty of term income secured and to be
received.

BT A FIE YD 22 B HE 0 5.5% 2 o B2 S B PITHE AR e 5 U BR A EA W A 9 e FE 14 D 3
B EEIR R X -

Reversionary yield of 6%, taking into account annual unit market rental income and
unit market value of the comparable properties.
Kt ABUTISFEEES WA RRRYENELTE  ERKmEER6% -

Market unit rent of RMB3.9/sgm./day, using direct market comparables and taking
into account of location and other individual factors such as road frontage, size of
property and facilities.

ERBEEMSLE T AT RAIE REEER - MEXNNERBEEMZERE
M5 ENHERFFHRERAREIIT -

Price of RMB20,600/sgm., using market direct comparables and taking into account
of location and other individual factors such as road frontage, size of property etc.
R BEETISBOAT T R B RGERE  WERERSEMENER  BRAE
TR AR 20,600 7T ©
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B IS SRER M=
13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 13. I BEMXR (18)
(CONTINUED)
The significant unobservable inputs BRI EERARE (F)
(continued)

Investment properties

held by the Group Significant unobservable inputs
rEBEBREYHE ERFAEER A

Property 4 — Property in Hangzhou  Term yield, taking into account of yield of 5.5%, generated from comparable
(Retail portion of Highlong Plaza)  properties and adjustment to reflect the certainty of term income secured and to be
A5 — TN received.
(B2 B35 R s ) BT A RIEY) 22 B HE 1 5.5% 2 W B2 S B PITHE AR e 5 U BR A ER W A 9 e FE 14 D 3
RIS AR HIRS

Reversionary yield of 6%, taking into account annual unit market rental income and
unit market value of the comparable properties.
KA ABUTSFERESBARBREYENELTE  ERKEEF6% -

Market unit rent of RMB6.2/sgm/day, using direct market comparables and taking
into account of location and other individual factors such as road frontage, size of
property and facilities.

mSENHE /BT AERARE6.2TT -

Price of RMB32,200/sgm, using market direct comparables and taking into account
of location and other individual factors such as road frontage, size of property etc.
EREEMISLL AT R B HREEE - MERESHMERNEE - BRXeE
IR AR 32,200 7T °
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MR R M

13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 13. I BEMXR(18)
(CONTINUED)
The significant unobservable inputs EAFIEER ARE (F)
(continued)

Investment properties
held by the Group
rEBAEBREYHE

Property 5 — Property in Hangzhou
(Landscape Garden)
BSRME — MM
(HL7Kk38)

Significant unobservable inputs

EXTABRBARE

Term vyield, taking into account of yield of 5.75%), generated from comparable
properties and adjustment to reflect the certainty of term income secured and to be
received.

BT AR EE A Y 5.75% 2 Was I [R AR PTHE IR T i W ER AE ER A BY BETE 1 B 3
BISHAHE R E -

Reversionary yield of 6.25%, taking into account annual unit market rental income and
unit market value of the comparable properties.
KA ABLMSFEHSRARREMENELTE - EHEREER6.25% °

Market unit rent of RMB2.5/sgm/day, using direct market comparables and taking
into account of location and other individual factors such as road frontage, size of
property and facilities.

ERBEEMISLL B AT RAIE RERAERK - MERPNEREEEMZARE -
MBS REB T REBRARK25TT -

Price of RMB15,500/sgm, using market direct comparables and taking into account
of location and other individual factors such as road frontage, size of property etc.
R BEEMTISLBOEL T R B RGERE  WERESHMENEER  BRAE
FHRAERA15,500 7T °
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B IS SR R
13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 13. I BEMXR (18)
(CONTINUED)
The significant unobservable inputs EAFIEERAYE ()
(continued)

Investment properties

held by the Group Significant unobservable inputs
rEBEBREYHE ERFAEEE A

Property 6 — Property in Hangzhou  Term yield, taking into account of yield of 5%, generated from comparable properties

(Hidden Dragon Bay) and adjustment to reflect the certainty of term income secured and to be received.
6 SR — N HEET A RIAR YD S5 A B 5% 2 Wi B = B AT HE AR B i U R AR ER K A B B T M ) 8 2
(B 15 H B TR Bk R o

Reversionary yield of 6%, taking into account of annual unit market rental income and
unit market value of the comparable properties.
K ABUMSFERSBARFEDENECTE  BEHREEHE% °

Market unit rent of RMB4.4/sgm/day, using direct market comparables and taking
into account of location and other individual factors such as road frontage, size of
property and facilities.

EREEMSER A AT R EREEER - WERDNREESEMSEEE -

MBS REB T RERARK 44T -

Price of RMB21,000/sgm, using market direct comparables and taking into account
of location and other individual factors such as road frontage, size of property etc.
ERBEEMISLBUE T R B RGERE - WERESHMENER  BRAE
FHRARY21,0007T ©
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B IR AR EE

13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 13. IEWE (])

(CONTINUED)
The significant unobservable inputs EAFIEERH ARE (F)
(continued)

Investment properties
held by the Group
rEBFAEEREYHE

Property 7 — Property in Yuyao
(Yintai shopping mall)
7SR — ek

Significant unobservable inputs

EXTABRBARE

Term yield, taking into account of yield 5.75%, generated from comparable properties
and adjustment to reflect the certainty of term income secured and to be received.

REET ARIRYI A ) 5.756% 2 Waas S R BR FTHE AR B A AR AR ERUR A FO e TE 1 O 5

(RFEm%) BEHAER RS -
Reversionary yield of 6.25%, taking into account of annual unit market rental income
and unit market value of the comparable properties.
Kt A B mSFEEESBARFEDENECTE - BHEKEES6.25% °
Market unit rent of RMB4.1/sgm./day, using direct market comparables and taking
into account location and other individual factors such as road frontage, size of
property and facilities.
EREEMSLER A AT R E REEEER - MR REESE M ERFEE -
MBS REBFHRERARE 41T -
Price of RMB16,500/sgm., using market direct comparables and taking into account
location and other individual factors such as road frontage and size of property, etc.
ERBEEMISLLBOAT AT R B HEREHEE  MERESHMERNEE - BReT
FHRARMA16,5007T ©
(@  There are four properties — International Office Center, Office (@ UIEYF-BEEHAFL - ERES
portion of Highlong Plaza and Serviced apartment portion of WMAFHDEERESRER QSIS
Highlong Plaza, three properties in Hangzhou, and Vancouver 7 ZIERTINEBZE - URRZHR
City, a property in Huaibei, Anhui- valued into fair value ELLTTH R TER — RBE_RR
hierarchy of level 2, the valuation technique adopted is the AEEE  TEANGEERTAERE
direct comparison approach, and the key input is price per BELEE  MEEHABBAESFES
square metre, the higher the price, the higher the fair value. KER - BEFHARAERES - AR

EBEER -
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13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES
(CONTINUED)

The significant unobservable inputs
(continued)

(@)

(continued)

Significant unobservable input for International Office Center
are prices ranging from RMB20,000/sgm. to RMB32,000/
sgm., using market direct comparables and taking into
account location and other individual factors such as road
frontage and size of property, etc. As at 31 December 2017,
the investment property part of International Office Center
is valued into fair value hierarchy of level 2 with a carrying
amount of RMB2,416,000,000 (2016: RMB2,773,000,000).

Significant unobservable input for Office portion of Highlong
Plaza is the price of RMB12,400/sgm. to RMB12,500/sgm.,
using market direct comparables and taking into account
location and other individual factors such as road frontage
and size of property, etc. As at 31 December 2017, the
investment property part of Office portion of Highlong Plaza is
valued by fair value hierarchy level 2 with a carrying amount of
RMB224,500,000 (2016: RMB289,000,000).

Significant unobservable input for Serviced apartment
portion of Highlong Plaza is the price of RMB15,000/sgm.
to RMB15,900/sgm., using market direct comparables and
taking into account location and other individual factors such
as road frontage and size of property, etc. As at 31 December
2017, the investment property part of Serviced apartment
portion of Highlong Plaza is valued by fair value hierarchy
level 2 with a carrying amount of RMB41,000,000 (2016:
RMB264,000,000).

Notes to Financial Statements

BT R IR
13. IR BWW= ()
EATTHREHAME (F)

(&)

B AR LHER T EREA
HEANFTEHT 5 KARK20,000
TEE Y5 KARK32,0007T 8B
1% DEREEMISBLRA AT &
NERGHEERMWERNSEH M
@ 5l A % - R20174F 124318 -
B AR LHIEEMERDAESE
ZHR AR EEFNE  RREAAREKE
2,416,000,0007T (2016 F : A R ¥
2,773,000,0007T) °

1B E SRS ERNT I BRE
ABBEANTEFTARARE 12,400
TEB¥HKARKE12,5007T 8B
% EREEMSB LSRG AT &
i B RERATB I R FE RN E A
A ZE - R2017F12 8318 » B
RS AT DR EMER D AE
R EENE FEEEAAR
# 224,500,000 7C (2016 4F : A R ¥
289,000,000 7T) ©

BEREESRENABIHMHEANDTA
R ABBEAEN TEFL I RARE
15,000 T2 & F 5 ARARKE15,9007T
RER - HEREEMBLE R AT
FTRAERBBEHBERMENNEE
HERIEZE - R2017F12 5318 »
BREESREXABHBMHIIREME
B RE_BAREENE  REAE
A AR 41,000,000 7T (2016 4 : A
R 264,000,000 7T) °
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B IR AR EE

13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES
(CONTINUED)

(@)

208 Zhong An Real Estate Limited

(continued)

Significant unobservable input for Vancouver City is the price
of RMB4,500/sgm. to RMB6,300/sgm., using market direct
comparables and taking into account location and other
individual factors such as road frontage and size of property,
etc. As at 31 December 2017, the investment property part of
Vancouver City is valued by fair value hierarchy level 2 with a
carrying amount of RMB11,500,000 (2016: RMB19,500,000).

The Group’s investment properties situated on the leasehold
land in Mainland China are leased between 30 and 50 years.

Investment properties leased out under operating leases

The Group leases out investment properties under operating
lease arrangements. All leases run for a period of one to
fifteen years, with an option to renew the leases after the
expiry dates, at which time all terms will be renegotiated.
The Group’s total future minimum lease receivables under
non-cancellable operating leases generated from investment
properties are as follows:

13. WMk (])

(@)

BETER M E RN BREAREA
NFFFEHRKARKEL500EFF
7K ARE 6,300 L H B - ThfE
BEEMSLEERA AT RUE KBRS
BEREERMENNSEMERNHEZE - R
201712 A31 8 ' )REFEHMIEE
MEDBRBE QAL BENE B
MEAARE11,500,0007C (20164 :
AR 19,500,000 7T) °

AN & B AR B A O AR B £ i B4R
EYERERAI0FEES0EF o

RELEMECHENKEME

AEBERBLLEHELHFALIREY
X-MBEHERM—Z=+HF YA
BB B H B R EEHTRERD 2 HR R
THEITHE - AEERBTADUHL
EHERKREYFEMEHNRARRER
SRORERENT

2017 2016
2017 & 20164
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AREBT T
Within one year —FR 70,432 56,513
In the second to fifth years, inclusive % -ZFRFE (HEEMFEBIEEN) 152,896 143,131
After five years AF% 24,248 31,934
247,576 231,578
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13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES
(CONTINUED)

(d)

At 31 December 2017, certain of the Group’s investment
properties with a carrying amount of RMB1,732,798,000
(2016: RMB2,355,739,000) were pledged to secure interest-
bearing bank and other borrowings granted to the Group as
disclosed in note 29.

As at 31 December 2017, the Group had entered into certain
sale and purchase agreements to sell certain investment
properties with a carrying amount of RMB202,889,000 (2016:
RMB257,313,000). The Group had received deposits of
approximately RMB39,431,000 (2016: RMB146,935,000),
which were recognised as advances from customers as at 31
December 2017.

By the end of 2016, the Unit 1 of A3.1 of International Office
Center (“lIOC”) of Henlly Enterprise Management (Hangzhou)
Co.,Ltd. (“HIi") was originally designed to lease out to third
parties. In October 2017, Management decided to change the
usage of Unit 1 of A3.1 from lease out/earn rental to further
development the properties to SOHO for sale. The decoration
and pre-sale of Unit 1 of A3.1 of IOC has started. Unit 1 of
AS.1 was transferred to properties under construction with fair
value cost of RMB697 million at the transition date.

(@

Notes to Financial Statements

BA SRR AL

13. WM (#])

M2017412 A31 8 « 1R #& M 5£29
s AEEREEAARE
1,732,798,0007T (2016 4F : ARKE
2,355,739,0007T) WHE TIREMEE
TEARE ERESFT BRITIER R A
TREVEEA -

R2017F 12 A1 B AL BT &
TEEmH HEFRAERARE
202,889,000 L (20164 : A R ¥
257,313,0007t ) K1 & TR E W % »
RS B B YR A A R 5 39,431,000 7T
(2016 4F : AR 146,935,000 L) &Y
%e - FTRERFIETER BN 2017 4
12 A31 Al B S P RIEK -

BHENGFE: REEEARNMA
TE=ZFTWMERNLEEE(M
M) AR 2 ATER D & E R
/N VN I =7 S N VN )
18 JLA3.1° R2017F 108 - B2
BARAER1 BITAS AR AHEER
BESNE—SRRMESTELHE
SOHO » B AR L1 BEIITASTE
i RTEE - 1 BLA3.1 EER
EEEYE  RNBERBRNALER
RAABAREE 697 BETT °
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Notes to Financial Statements

B IR AR

14. PROPERTIES UNDER

14. FAEPRYE

DEVELOPMENT
2017 2016
2017 & 20164
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARET T
Carrying amount at 1 January 1 A1 HEEE 5,218,456 9,323,538
Additions 30 2,879,988 2,292,285
Transfer from investment properties HERIGEYE 697,000 -
Transfer to investment properties SRS EYIE (FIFE13)
(note 13) (858,814) -
Transfer to construction in progress SRR TR (MR 12)
(note 12) (420,316) (1,074,531)
Transfer to completed properties R EREHE
held for sale (note 21) BEEREE (EE21) (1,243,054) (6,322,836)
Carrying amount at 31 December 12 A 31 BEREE 6,273,260 5,218,456
Provision of properties under BRI
development to net realisable value =R EIERE - (1,213)
Net carrying amount at 31 December 12 431 BZBRENFE 6,273,260 5,217,243
Current assets mENEE 4,416,081 2,931,314
Non-current assets SEMEBNEE 1,857,179 2,285,929
6,273,260 5,217,243
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14. PROPERTIES UNDER

DEVELOPMENT (CONTINUED)

Except for one property located in Canada, the rest of the Group’s

Notes to Financial Statements

14. SR HE (1)

B ERR M

BR—EMRURINEXN - AREERRAES

properties under development are all located in Mainland China. PIZEIINL R B A, o
2017 2016
2017 2016 4F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARET T
Canada mEX
Freehold KAFERE 196,485 139,937
The carrying amounts of the properties AEEHFEZERYE (IR
under development situated AR A AR E ) BY
on the leasehold land in Mainland BREELNT :
China are as follows:
Mainland China R Ay it
Leases of over 50 years FHEAFR B 50 F 3,225,486 2,989,474
Leases between 30 and 50 years FHEAB0 F = 504F 2,851,289 2,089,045
6,076,775 5,078,519
6,273,260 5,218,456
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B IR AR

14. PROPERTIES UNDER 14. AP HE (])

DEVELOPMENT (CONTINUED)

The movements in provision for realise of properties under
development to net realisable value are as follows:

SRR R A R FEGRREDN
T

2017 2016

2017 F 2016

Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

Kzt ARET T ARET T

At 1 January 1A1H 1,213 72,824
Realise of properties under BB R

development recognised 6 (1,213) (71,611)

At 31 December 12 A31H - 1,213

Included in the above provision movement of properties under
development is about provision for one (2016: one) individually
impaired property under development with a carrying amount before
provision of RMB12,302,000 (2016: RMB28,232,000).

There are positive cash inflows in the future forecast for the project
above. A provision of RMB1,213,000 was realised in cost in 2017.

At 31 December 2017, certain of the Group’s properties under
development with a carrying amount of RMB1,577,454,000 (2016:
RMB2,599,476,000) were pledged to secure interest-bearing bank
and other borrowings granted to the Group as disclosed in note 29.

212 Zhong An Real Estate Limited 2017 Annual Report

T A LB R Y R E# E) 5 —18 (2016
F - —I5) [ERIEBEMFRZERYE - BiER
BREE A AR 12,302,0007T(2016 6 : AR
i 28,232,000 7T) °

EaiIB B R AT TB R AR RE A EEIR S
mE o B ARMEA,213,0007T 2017 K

B e

=

feio

K

j},:
%

MN2017F12 A31 8  BIRMITE29FT# 5 -
REBEKREEBEAAKR1,577,454,000 7T
(2016 4F : AR¥2,599,476,000 7T ) HU& T
FERYEBEREERST BRITERR
HbfE e o



15.

16.

Notes to Financial Statements

B A SR R B =
AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE 15. A[HHERE
INVESTMENTS
2017 2016
2017 & 2016 4
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AREBT T
Unlisted equity investments, at cost FEETRERIRE - IR AT 367,653 28,300

As at 31 December 2017, the available-for-sale investments
were the unlisted equity investments with a carrying amount of
RMB367,653,000 (2016: RMB28,300,000) stated at cost less
impairment, because the investment do not have a quoted market
price in an active market. In the opinion of the directors, the fair
value of the investments were not less than the carrying values of the
investments as at 31 December 2017.

On 11 January 2017, Zhong An Shenglong, an indirect non-wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, proposed the acquisition of
42.5% of the equity interests in Zhejiang Xinnongdu Industrial
Corporation Limited (“XND”). On 21 August 2017, Zhong An
Shenglong entered into an equity transfer agreement to acquire
19.85% of the equity interests in XND at a cash consideration
of RMB327 million and the Company has not yet appointed any
representative to the board of XND. As at 31 December 2017, the
directors of the Company consider the remaining transaction is not
yet completed and it is subject to finalisation of certain terms and
conditions of the remaining transaction agreement.

72017412 31 8 A HERE AE®
BEHAR% 367,653,000t (2016 4F : AR
#£ 28,300,000 7T) H)3E_EMiERIRE « KA
ANBRAERER - BRERNERTSILE
TiEHRE - EFRA - R2017F12A31H
BENDR BELMEREEREE °

12017 F1 A11 8 ANAREEIEZEN
BARRLREEZWEN IR ERES
BRAR(FEE]) 2 IBARAEZ42.5% B
201748 A21H + R BIERT v AR M8 & 17
Z AR 2 #019.85% HI R HE - RSR(E
BARE327T BBITEAR AR ARE R
ATEBRFRMBE TS - R20175F12
AB1H  RARERRAE R NRFHEA
SERK - WARPEER TR S HEPHE TIK
R AGHE o

LONG TERM PREPAYMENTS 16. REAFAFIR
2017 2016
2017 F 2016
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARET T
Prepayment land lease payments B TR E kI8 72,290 315,744
Maintenance fund HEES 37,037 75,225
Construction completion deposits BT FER 36,432 18,989
Prepaid property lease payment SEINEZE i -7 0= 38,633 -
Deposits b 52,273 -
236,665 409,958
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PR ER R M

17. INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES 17. W ELERNKRE

2017 2016
2017 & 20164
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T T ARET T

Share of net assets PEEEFE 629 759

Particulars of the joint ventures are as follows: BEPERNFFBOT

Percentage attributable to the Group

Particulars FEEELEAL
of issued Place of Indirectly Voting Profit Principal
Name shares held registration equity interest power  Sharing activities
RAECRT BEEE
£ i E s B RS RERE BRI TEES
Hangzhou Yinsheng Commercial Registered Zhejiang 36% 40% 40% Property
Management Co., Ltd. capital of PRC management
MMNBEREEERARAR RMB2,000,000
AR F BT MEER
AR 2,000,0007C
Hangzhou Zhongxu Real Estate Registered Zhejiang 22% 24% 24% Property
Co., Ltd. capital of PRC management
MMBREZXER AR RMB20,000,000
M ARA H BT NEER
AR 20,000,000
©) Established on 16 September 2015; liquidated on 17 August 2017 (1) 2015649 A16 HRKAZ ¢ W 2017 F8 A 17
RER -
© Established on 14 April 2016 © 201649 4 A 14 BRI
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17. INVESTMENT IN JOINT VENTURES
(CONTINUED)

The movements in the investments in joint ventures during the
reporting period are as follows:

Notes to Financial Statements

B ER R M

2017 2016

2017 F 2016 &

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T T ARBFIT

At 1 January 1H1H 759 774
Newly interest in a joint venture e —HeEhErER 5,000 -
Share of losses HhEE (4,371) (15)
Disposal of shares of a joint venture HESEPEMRS (759) -
At 31 December 12 H31H 629 759
The 40% equity interest in Hangzhou Yinsheng Commercial IUMER R S 5 B A R A BIAI40% AR AN 1

Management Co., Ltd. (“YS”) used to be held through a subsidiary
with 90% of equity interests attributable to the Group. On 17 August
2017, YS was liquidated.

The 24% equity interest in Hangzhou Zhongxu Real Estate Co.,
Ltd.is held through two subsidiaries with 90% equity interests
attributable to the Company.

75 515 1B 7K 52 [ FE (5 90 % A% AN A2 225 Y 7 P B
BAREAR - R20174E8A17H ' YSEAE

B o

PRI RIBE EBR R AHI24% A T)
BBME AR AEH0% R AN EEHIHTB A

AlEA -
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PR ER R M

17. INVESTMENT IN JOINT VENTURES 17. R8O EHBRE (/)

(CONTINUED)

The following table illustrates the summarised consolidated financial TRIBFMMNBREEEBR ARG HIEE
information of Hangzhou Zhongxu Real Estate Co., Ltd. adjusted for PHRE  pEAestREE=EEHARKE
any differences in accounting policies and reconciled to the carrying B ERR A BREE AN ¢

amount in the financial statements:

2017

2017 £

RMB’000

AR¥TT

Cash and cash equivalents ReERB[ESEEY 463,197
Other current assets E A RBI B E 1,076,713
Current assets MENEE 1,539,910
Current liabilities mEaE (1,537,289)
Net assets, excluding goodwill BEFETEESSE) 2,621
Proportion of the Group’s ownership AEEHRBEED L 24%
Group’s share of net assets of the the joint venture AEEELEECHEEEFE 629

Carrying amount of the investment HEREE

Total expenses FiS 458 (18,212)
Loss after tax briiZ B R (18,212)

—HSEERERE

18. LOANS AND RECEIVABLES FROM A 18.%kH
PRl IR

JOINT VENTURE
2017 2016
2017 £ 20164
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T T AREET T

Principal: NE :

Hangzhou Zhongxu Real Estate Co., Ltd. il RIBE X GR A =) - 173,246
During the year, Hangzhou Zhongxu Real Estate Co., Ltd. has repaid FRN - MMNRBEEXEERAFEEE2016
the unsecured loan of RMB173,246,000 in 2016 which was based FREEBERAR 173,246,000 7T + 51
on conditional terms determined by the joint venture parties. BEERETNAETE 2B GIHR
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19. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND

LIABILITIES

The movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities are as follows:

Notes to Financial Statements

BA SRR AL

10 EERMRBERAR

BEERIAE ENRERIAREZBNT

Deferred tax assets BEBRAE
Impairment of
other receivables Losses available
and properties Unrealised  for offsetting Prepaid
under intragroup  against future corporate
development  profitorloss  taxable profits income tax Total
Eft R AR
g KEREE RRIERB BHLE
NEHE BiEE Gilbelio) g FrisH @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT
At 1 January 2016 2016%1A1A 15,742 29,192 66,101 73,228 184,258
Prepaid income tax BRAER = = = (40,639) (40,639)
Deferred tax credited/(charged) ERRNBRRER /(N
to the statement of profit or loss REERIE
during the year 302 (4,77) 29,629 - 25,160
At 31 December 2016 and 2016512310
1 January 2017 R201761R1R 16,044 24,421 95,730 32,584 168,779
Pre-paid income tax BAFEH - - - (22,308) (22,308)
Deferred tax credited/(charged) FERNBRFER /(1K)
to the statement of profit or loss LR
during the year (302) (7,213) (37,894) - (45,409)
At 31 December 2017 2017124318 15,742 17,208 57,836 10,276 101,062

In accordance with the PRC laws and regulations, tax losses could
be carried forward for five years to offset against its future taxable
profits. Deferred tax assets relating to unutilised tax losses are
recognised to the extent that it is probable that sufficient taxable
profit will be available to allow such deferred tax assets to be utilised.

REFBUAENER - HEERAIEERF
DA E RIR R ERTLRIE - BRI AEA
BBERNEERREE  REERERH
FERT M BIAEZF RN I E EESEN A
7T EHER
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B IR AR

19. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND
LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)

The Group has no accumulated tax losses arising in Hong Kong
that are available indefinitely for offsetting against future taxable
profits of the companies in which the losses arose. The Group
also has accumulated tax losses arising in Mainland China of
RMB649,140,100 (2016: RMB472,467,000) that will expire in one
to five years for offsetting against future taxable profits. Deferred tax
assets have not been recognised in respect of these losses as they
have arisen in subsidiaries that have been loss-making for some time
and it is not considered probable that taxable profits will be available
against which the tax losses can be utilised.

19.

EERMARER AR ()

REBRERRH ELE R AU S L IRE
BRF BN ERTRFEN R FIEEE o
REERFREAMITEEN R FIEER
A AR 649,140,000 T (2016 4 © AR#E
472,467,0007T) * R —ERFAEHE -
UATECSE A2 MO FERRBIAE o RSB A
FIREABE—BRER  BRATEER
A FRYER B S S IR B0 FEERFA R - B 4%
HREEBERARLEHBEE -

Deferred tax liabilities BEBRRE
Fair value
adjustment of
investment Withholding
properties tax Others* Total
REME
ARERE
AR Stk Hitr* @zt
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETFT ARETT ARETT ARETTL
At 1 January 2016 201651 A1H 844,285 35,781 111,891 991,957
Deferred tax charged to the statement of ~ FRREZRE
profit or loss during the year HGHIELEHE 28,676 1,025 7,116 36,817
At 31 December 2016 201612 A31H
At 1 January 2017 %2017 1818 872,961 36,806 119,007 1,028,774
Realised during the year ERED (140,215) - (13,966) (154,181)
Deferred tax charged to the statement of — FRREZRR
profit or loss during the year HGHIEERE 206,077 7,270 39,150 252,497
At 31 December 2017 2017512 A31H 938,823 44,076 144,191 1,127,090
. Others mainly include temporary differences regarding capitalised finance * HithFE@FEERNCI B ERERNE R
costs. = o
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19. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND

LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law (the “New CIT
Law”), a 10% withholding tax is levied on dividends declared to
foreign investors from the foreign investment enterprises established
in Mainland China. The requirement has become effective from 1
January 2008 and applies to earnings after 31 December 2007.
A lower withholding tax rate may be applied if there is a tax treaty
between Mainland China and the jurisdiction of the foreign investors.
For the Group, the applicable rate is 10%. The Group is therefore
liable for withholding taxes on dividends distributed by those
subsidiaries established in Mainland China in respect of earnings
generated from 1 January 2008.

Other than the deferred tax liability in relation to the PRC withholding
income tax provided above, no deferred taxation has been
provided for the distributable retained profits of approximately
RMB1,405,322,000 (2016: RMB1,053,481,000), which were
derived from the PRC subsidiaries as the Group is able to control the
timing of the reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable
that the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable
future.

Notes to Financial Statements
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10 EERMRBER AR (])

RBEFBECZEMSHE(HEEMGER
A - BRINEREREESIRRERFE
AR 7 I HNE 1 5 2 IR BB 10% T
i o BRAFEE 200841 A1 ARBLER - I
AR 2007 512 A 31 BEFELZ BF °
firi P B At ERHNE 188 & PR Rl AR R 2
EABBERIEEEFENH R - &
EBZEALERE10% ° Bt - NEBER
ZER R B A AR S 2 BB A B3t 2008 4F 1
A1 BREEZ BRI BB
i

R ER_E S E I E AR B TR A5 R AR R MR T
HEa @ MERePENE QR4
AR #1,405,322,000 70 (2016 FF : AR
1,053,481,000 7T ) £ B8 & FI| 1 i AE 77 I8
Bl A AREBRSES Tt E AR LA
B B BB 1 = 5800 AT 78 B AR 2R AT RE N 43
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20. PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARY WITH 20.
MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING

INTERESTS

Details of the Group’s subsidiary that has material non-controlling

interests are set out below:

Percentage of equity interest held by non-controlling interests:

BREEAFER RN ASEN BRI
BHIRITE

SR ERER DL

2017 2016
2017 2016 4F

China New City Commercial PR T A EEREER A A
Development Limited (“CNC”) ([ EFm™ ) 31.21% 26.85%

Accumulated balances of non-controlling interests at the reporting

R B ISR e R et 468

dates:
2017 2016
2017 & 20164
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TT AREBT T
CNC HR BTk T 1,343,336 1,017,088

Profit for the year allocated to non-controlling interests:

FADIK T IFERARER AR -

2017 2016
2017 & 20164
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T T AREET T

CNC

220 Zhong An Real Estate Limited

2017 Annual Report

BT T

102,592 36,802




INTERESTS (CONTINUED)

The following tables illustrate the summarised financial information of
the above subsidiary. The amounts disclosed are before any inter-

company eliminations:

Notes to Financial Statements

20. PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARY WITH 20. 34 &8 9 8§ 5 Bo i
MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING

B ER AR M

Ek%li

2R R R E 2 7 (18

IRETIA LB A RNHBERBEE - F
WENSEA/NEA AR HE 2 25

CNC
FREL ST
2017 RMB’000
2017 & ARET T
Revenue WA 295,986
Other income and gains E A A Rz 77,844
Changes in fair value of investment properties BREMEAREBEEY 825,157
Fair value gain upon transfer to investment properties BE# =15 &Y 2E A 1 BERE 523
Total expenses 4858 (733,152)
Profit for the year F N5 A 466,358
Total comprehensive income for the year FREHEWELTE 476,036
Current assets mBNEE 4,446,500
Non-current assets SEMEEE 8,807,674
Current liabilities mEBE (4,231,497)
Non-current liabilities FERBEE (3,014,321)
Net cash flows used in operating activities LEEHHEARSREFE (44,176)
Net cash flows generated from investing activities KB RHELRSREFE 82,751
Net cash flows used in financing activities BEEESEARSREFE (2,609)
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents He MRS EEYILINFRE

RLFERRAA]
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PR ER AR M

20. PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARY WITH 20. RE 9 85 19 B Edc?li

MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING 2Bz 4 AP RS 22 B (48
INTERESTS (CONTINUED)
The following tables illustrate the summarised financial information of TRESA LHB AR B EREE « A
the above subsidiary. The amounts disclosed are before any inter- WENSBEANEA AT B EI 2S5 :
company eliminations: (continued) (&)
CNC

HR BT T
2016 RMB’000
2016 F AREETFTT
Revenue A 858,371
Other income and gains E A A Rz 16,832
Changes in fair value of investment properties BREMEARBEE 124,994
Total expenses 48 E (863,132)
Profit for the year F @A 137,065
Total comprehensive income for the year FAEEK=LERE 128,880
Current assets mEEE 3,016,211
Non-current assets IEMENEE 8,272,734
Current liabilities mENBE (2,765,683)
Non-current liabilities JEMBAE (3,181,208)
Net cash flows used in operating activities EERDERAB S REFE (442,626)
Net cash flows generated from investing activities KEEHEER NS TR 251,413
Net cash flows used in financing activities BEEESFEARSRE TR (465,188)

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents B MRS EEBYIEINFRE (656,401)
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B ER AR M

21. COMPLETED PROPERTIES HELD  21. i #EEERMmE
FOR SALE

2017 2016

2017 & 2016 4

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET T AREBT T

Carrying amount at 1 January 1 A1 BZREE 5,506,562 4,506,299
Transfer from properties under

development (note 14) ER B AP (HEE14) 1,243,054 5,322,836

Transfer to cost of properties sold (note 6) @&z 2 H & W2k 7 (Fi3E6) (3,220,810) (4,322,573)

Carrying amount at 31 December 12 A31 HZEmAE 3,528,806 5,506,562

22

23

As at 31 December 2017, certain of the Group’s completed
properties held for sale of RMB1,899,211,000 (2016:
RMB2,947,345,000) were pledged to secure interest-bearing bank
and other borrowings granted to the Group as disclosed in note 29.

EQUITY INVESTMENTS AT FAIR
VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

22.

R2017F12 A31 B » AEEE TH1EH
EEEKME A AKK1,899,211,0007T
(2016 F : AR#¥2,947,345,0007T) + LAY
20T ER - EEAR TARSEE BIRIT
TR R E At fE RO AR

PloftEEN R LS
SFAERIRENERKRE

2017 2016

2017 & 20164

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTT AREET T

Listed equity investments, at market value iz E @ ImE

The above equity investments at 31 December 2017 were classified
as held for trading and were, upon initial recognition, designated by
the Group as financial assets as at fair value through profit or loss.

TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES

The Group’s trading terms with its customers are mainly lease
receivables on credit. The credit period is generally one month,
extending up to three months for major customers. All balances of
the trade receivables as at the end of the year were neither past due
nor impaired and aged within one to three months.

Trade and bills receivables are non-interest-bearing and unsecured.

23.

72,298 491

iR IRE R 2017 F 12 A 31 BB AR
EB G RENFHERE  AEEHE S
BUIAARBEEBEEE A BERN
SREE

PR 52 5 B o B SR 4

AEBEEARPIIVNE SRR I EREES
HERYTIR - EEH—RA—EA  %E
ERPMe&ZERkE==(EA - EKEFER
REEBERFROMESRBIRBHIRE
AR A—==MEH -

R E SRR RRE A% S MBI -

RLFERRAA]
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24. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND 24. IR -BRERHEMERK

OTHER RECEIVABLES =Ia
2017 2016
2017 & 2016 4
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
HizF AR¥TT ARET T
Prepayment of acquisition of a subsidiary U — &M E A 7 2 AR % 200,000 -
Due from other related parties JRE LS EL i B Bk 75 SRR @ - 2,397
Advance to suppliers TR FE R SRR 64,496 54,258
Deposits by 89,888 54,800
Prepaid other tax FER E b FHIE 322,568 267,822
Other receivables H i fE U kI8 150,034 162,853
826,986 542,130
Impairment RE (b) (62,966) (62,966)
764,020 479,164

(@) As at 31 December 2017, no other receivables due from other related
parties are due from a non-controlling shareholder (2016: RMB2,397,000).

(b) Included in the above provision for impairment of other receivables is a full
provision for individually impaired other receivables of RMB62,966,000 with
a carrying amount before provision of RMB 62,966,000 as at 31 December
2017.
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T E A FRIE B RS AR AR R 5K I8 (2016 4F -

AER#2,397,0007T) °
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SRE A At FE IR B H B 2 BB AR
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25. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

AND RESTRICTED CASH

Notes to Financial Statements

B SRR EE

. HERAEERMRSZR
TR &

2017 2016
2017 20164
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T AREET T
Cash and bank balances e NIRTTHEES 3,149,016 1,245,632
Time deposits TEHFER 284,011 196,508
3,433,027 1,442,140
Less: Restricted cash B XRHRE (930,660) (495,489)
Cash and cash equivalents RERBEEEEY 2,502,367 946,651
Current assets MENEE 790,733 354,138
Non-current assets IEmMBEE 139,927 141,351
Restricted cash ZEHIR S 930,660 495,489

Cash at banks eamns interest at floating rates based on daily bank
deposit rates. Short term time deposits are made for varying periods
of between one day and three months depending on the immediate
cash requirements of the Group, and earn interest at the respective
short term time deposit rates. The bank balances and restricted
cash are deposited with creditworthy banks with no recent history of
default.

Pursuant to relevant regulations in the PRC, certain property
development companies of the Group are required to place in
designated bank accounts certain amounts of pre-sale proceeds
from properties as guarantee deposits for the construction of the
related properties. The deposits can be used for purchases of
construction materials and payments of the construction fees of
the relevant property projects when approval from relevant local
government authorities is obtained. As at 31 December 2017, such
guarantee deposits amounted to approximately RMB645,866,000
(2016: RMB297,838,000).

RITERERRITABRE R TR
B MHERFERE—RE=AAFZHH
ROEANEEMEIRRSH/RLME) - RIET
RV HAE B KA R » RITHEBRRT
RHIIR S EFRANIRT EEOELNEE
RIEFZIRIT °

BIRRBEEER - AEENE TR
A BB ATIRER R & T8 & ATE SR IR
BERITIRR - (EREAYEESNERIZ
& - EEUSEREE TP AER - &R
EF] AREE RV HEIE B KREM R KX
TEEER - R2017F12A318 @ %
ERIZS B AR 645,866,000 7T (2016
& AR¥297,838,0007T) ©

RLFERRAA]
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B R AR YA

25. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 2. BaRBEFRMRZR

AND RESTRICTED CASH
(CONTINUED)

As at 31 December 2017, certain of the Group’s current time
deposits of RMB99,069,000 (2016: RMB55,005,000) were pledged
to banks as guarantees to mortgage facilities granted to purchasers
of the Group’s properties and certain of the Group’s non-current
time deposits of RMB1,000,000 (2016: RMB1,000,000) were
pledged to banks as guarantees to mortgage facilities granted to
purchasers of the Group’s properties.

As at 31 December 2017, the Group’s non-current time deposits
of RMB138,927,000 (2016: RMB140,351,000) were pledged
to secure a long-term interest-bearing bank loans and certain
of the Group’s current time deposits of RMB45,016,000 (2016:
RMB152,000) were pledged to secure short-term interest-bearing
bank loans granted to the Group as disclosed in note 29.

Besides, certain of the Group’s bank accounts of approximately
RMB783,000 (2016: RMB1,143,000) were guaranteed to banks for
the timely repayment of the loans as disclosed in note 29.

At the end of the reporting period, the cash and bank balances of
the Group denominated in RMB amounted to RMB2,843,356,000
(2016:1,088,994,000).The RMB is not freely convertible into other
currencies, however, under Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange
Control Regulations and Administration of Settlement. Sale and
Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted
to exchange RMB for other currencies through banks authorized to
conduct foreign exchange business.
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RO REBWE TRITFEHREOARE
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B IS SRER M=
26. TRADE PAYABLES 26. FE % B IR
An aging analysis of the Group’s trade payables as at the end of the RE B RN B 5 RN IR S BRI 5k 2 EA
reporting period, based on the payment due dates, is as follows: HEtErERER DT -
2017 2016
2017 2016 4
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTT AREET T

Within six months ~NMERRA 1,541,738 1,682,979
Over six months but within one year BANEAE—FR 153,441 221,791
Over one year BiE—F 52,724 34,208

1,747,904 1,938,978
The above balances are unsecured and interest-free and are iR T EER R e B R — IR EREE
normally settled based on the progress of construction. U

27. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 27. HftfEfIIBRESIEH
2017 2016
2017 & 20164
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥TT ARETTT

Deposits related to construction BREENIES 68,558 79,076

Payables for acquisition of subsidiaries UL B A~ B FE AT RO IE 186,061 21,431

Interest expenses accrued JEETF BRI 31,054 3,086

Due to a non-controlling shareholder FETIEIE AR AR ER RO TR I8 171,500 296,364

Other payables E A fETRIE 179,757 203,269
636,930 603,226

Other payables are unsecured and interest-free. HEi A EER RS

28. ADVANCES FROM CUSTOMERS 28. ER AR

Advances from customers represent sales proceeds received from REENRERAEBEREZ2017F &

buyers in connection with the Group’s pre-sale of properties during 20164 12 A 31 H |- F[Z 51T & ¥ 3 i BB

the years end 31 December 2017 and 2016. BERBIHEFSHIE
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PA SRR I EE
29. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND 29. it B ERIT R KRR
OTHER BORROWINGS
2017 2016
20174 20164
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR¥TT ARETTT

Group rEHE
Current: BER :
Bank loans — secured SRITER—HIEM 1,547,293 1,751,613
Bank loans — unsecured RITER — BT 80,126 80,126
Other loans - secured Hih B — A - 300,000
1,627,419 2,131,739
Non-current: JEBNER :
Bank loans — secured SRITER—HIEM 1,742,000 3,136,609
Other loans — secured HEmER—EIEHE 1,190,000 =
2,932,000 3,136,609
4,559,419 5,268,348
Repayable: AR NI HAREE ¢
Within one year or on demand —F AR E R 1,627,419 2,131,739
Over one year but within two years LR —FELRAME 2,275,000 1,439,609
Over two years but within five years ZHIMEEDREF 487,000 1,247,000
Over five years AERE 170,000 450,000
4,559,419 5,268,348
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29. INTEREST-BEARING BANK

AND OTHER BORROWINGS
(CONTINUED)

Except for certain short term bank and other borrowings amounting
to RMB1,700,955,000 (2016: RMB889,400,000) that bear interest
at fixed rates, all bank loans bear interest at floating rates.

The Group’s bank and other borrowings bear effective interest rates
ranging as follows:

Notes to Financial Statements
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29. Bt R RITR Bt fE =k (#&)

BETRHBRITREMERBHEHARE
1,700,955,0007T(20164F : AKH£889,400,0007T)
LEEMET BN - FTERITERIZEN

KEHE e

AR BT R T RESER
RikEE

2017 2016
20175 2016 %F

Effective interest rates BERF|=

The carrying amounts of all the Group’s borrowings during the year
were as follows:

0.90% -8.2%  2.11%-12.00%

AEENFRPABFAIREENT

2017 2016

2017 F 2016 4F

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T T ARBFIT

RMB loans and borrowings ARBERRER 4,239,070 4,905,220
CAS$ loans and borrowings ITERRER - 15,422
HK$ loans and borrowings BILERRER - 45,097
JPY loans and borrowings HITERRER 37,565 -
US$ loans and borrowings ETLERRER 282,784 302,609
4,559,419 5,268,348
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29. INTEREST-BEARING BANK
AND OTHER BORROWINGS

(CONTINUED)

At 31 December 2017, the Group’s bank and other borrowings were

29

AFRBITREMER (&)

R2017F12 A31 8 * AEBERIRITER K

secured by: EMfE A A TS IEHE -
2017 2016
2017 & 2016 F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
izt ARET T ARETTT
Carrying value of the Group’s assets: REEEEZREE :
Investment properties TEYE 13 1,732,798 2,355,739
Properties under development FEER Y 14 1,577,454 2,699,476
Property and equipment ) EYSE L 12 90,704 132,540
Completed properties held for sale FHEHED B IE 21 1,899,211 2,947,345
Restricted cash ZIREIR S 25 184,726 141,646
100% equity interest in a subsidiary REE RN E AR
of the Group 2 EPRRE - 51,000
5,484,893 8,227,746

At 31 December 2017, no borrowing (2016: RMB60,700,000) of the
Group were guaranteed by Mr. Shi Kancheng (note 34(c)).
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B RE M
30. SHARE CAPITAL 30. B¢ &
Shares 87y
2017 2016
2017 £ 2016 4
’000 000
F T+
Authorised: YETE
10,000,000,000 (2016: 4,000,000,000) 10,000,000,000 A%
ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each (2016 £F : 4,000,000,000 %) HK$1,000,000 HK$400,000
FRMEEOC.10B LA EEA 1,000,000 /& T 400,00078 7T
Issued and fully paid: BETREE :
5,836,596,800 (2016: 2,348,582,400) 5,836,596,800 A%
ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each (2016 4F : 2,348,582,400 i% ) RMB516,469 RMB220,811
FRREE010BITH E AR AR¥516,469 T AR 220,811

A summary of movements in the Company’s issued share capital is ANAEE BT 2 BB T

as follows:

Number Share
of shares Share premium
in issue capital account Total
ERTRHOHE [ B RERR Mst
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT AREFT ARETT
At 31 December 2016 201612 A31H 2,348,582,400 220,811 2,966,252 3,187,063
Issue of shares (Note (a)) BT (FHE () 469,716,000 40,936 183,672 224,608
Issue of shares (Note (b)) BT (BHE (b)) 100,000,000 8,681 118,620 127,301
Issue of shares (Note (c)) B0 (3% () 2,918,298,400 246,041 (246,041) =
At 31 December 2017 2017412 A31 H 5,836,596,800 516,469 3,022,508 3,638,972
Notes: Bi%E
(@) On 12 June 2017,the Company completed the Placing Agreement with an (@) R2017F6 A 128 * AARZEKEE i

aggregate of 469,716,000 Placing Shares having been successfully placed
to not less than six Placees at the Price of HK$0.556 per share.

(b) The Company announced that completion of the Placing took place on 6 (b)
July 2017 where a total of 100,000,000 Placing Shares beneficially owned
by the Vendor were placed to not less than six Placees. The Company also
announced that all the conditions of the Subscription stated in the Placing
and Subscription Agreement had been fulfilled and the Subscription was
completed on 12 July 2017.

B 0% 0.556 BT ER AT SBEEA
BRINBCE & $£ 469,716,000 ARACE AR (D ©

ARAREM  BEEFEN2017F7A6HT
B+ A 5 B A /)4 3£ 100,000,000 AR ER
ERMERE FTIPRANBEREA - AAT
IREM - B RAREBHRAHREEHENN
BIREREH B EER RREREE N201747
A12 B5ER °

RLFERRAA]
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30. SHARE CAPITAL (CONTINUED) 30. Bx & (#§)

() The Bonus Issue was made on the basis of one Bonus Share for every
one existing Share held by Qualifying Shareholders whose names were on
the register of members of the Company on the Record Date (that was, 4
October 2017). As at the Record Date, the Company had 2,918,298,400
Shares in issue and, accordingly, an aggregate of 2,918,298,400 Bonus
Shares were issued under the Bonus Issue on 12 October 2017 on the
above basis.

31. SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company operates a share option scheme (the “Scheme”)
for the purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible
participants who contribute to the success of the Group’s
operations. Eligible participants of the Scheme include the directors,
including independent non-executive directors, other employees of
the Group, suppliers of goods or services to the Group, customers
of the Group, the Company’s shareholders, third parties, and any
non-controlling shareholder in the Company’s subsidiaries. The
Scheme became effective on 15 May 2009 and, unless otherwise
cancelled or amended, will remain in force for 10 years from the offer
date.

The initial maximum number of shares which may be allotted and
issued upon exercise of all options granted (excluding options which
have lapsed in accordance with the terms of the Scheme and other
share option schemes of the Group, if any) under the Scheme and
other share option schemes of the Group (if any) must not exceed
10% of the shares of the Company in issue as at 15 May 2009,
being the date of approval of the Scheme by the shareholders at the
annual general meeting of the Company. Such maximum number
may however be refreshed at a general meeting of the Company
by shareholders. In addition, no options may be granted under the
Scheme or other share option schemes adopted by the Group (if
any) if the grant of such options will result in the maximum number
of shares which may be allotted and issued upon exercise of all
outstanding options granted but yet to be exercised under the
Scheme and other share option schemes adopted by the Group
(if any) exceeding 30% of the issued share capital of the Company
from time to time. The maximum number of shares issuable under
share options to each eligible participant in the Scheme within any
12-month period is limited to 1% of the shares of the Company in
issue at any time. Any further grant of share options in excess of this
limit is subject to shareholders’ approval in a general meeting.
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31. SHARE OPTION SCHEME

(CONTINUED)

Share options granted to a director, chief executive or substantial
shareholder of the Company, or to any of their associates, are
subject to approval in advance by the independent non-executive
directors. In addition, any share options granted to a substantial
shareholder or an independent non-executive director of the
Company, or to any of their associates, in excess of 0.1% of the
shares of the Company in issue at any time or with an aggregate
value (based on the price of the Company’s shares at the date of
grant) in excess of HK$5 million, within any 12-month period, are
subject to shareholders’ approval in advance in a general meeting.

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted by the grantee
within 21 days from the date of offer at a consideration of HK$1.00.
The exercise period of the share options granted is determinable by
the directors, and commences after a vesting period of one to five
years and ends on a date which is not later than 10 years from the
date of offer of the share options or the expiry date of the Scheme, if
earlier.

The exercise price of share options is determinable by the directors,
but may not be less than the highest of:

(i) the Stock Exchange closing price of the Company’s shares on
the date of offer of the share options;

(i) the average Stock Exchange closing price of the Company’s
shares for the five trading days immediately preceding the
date of offer; and

(i) the nominal value of a share of the Company.

Share options do not confer rights on the holders to dividends or to
vote at shareholders’ meetings.

Notes to Financial Statements

B SRR EE

31. RERx#ERT &I (#8)

BYARAIES EBTRABREERE
S ST A TR RERRE - BB LRSS
B IERITE S HLE o 1IN - IRRE
1218 A HARE T A A Rl £ ER R RIE 7
IEITES - AWENEMEHEANTMAE
REBBARRNEMEBE ZETROE
0.1% Sk HAAE (RIEA R BN B BigAk
Bt E ) BiB500 88T + RIZESERIRE
RE_EESRREBLE -

ROHBERENENIEZORSE21BR
AR ARRE .00 TR - AT B
BZITEHRESET YN —ERF 25
BRRRLE - EEBEEENRMETER
tTFEzZBHZAEZEm BB (AREEE
BERE)RILE

BEREZITEERESERE - BNAHERA

TREE :

) ARERNRBEEZRNBREBHR
P2 Wi (g

(i) ARBERODREEZLDBHFIAES

EBEBR A FHRTHE - &

(i)  ANREFRBMHOEE -

BRI B TRAAZEREIRERA
B ERRZEN -

BEEEERAG —FT—+FF#H 233



Notes to Financial Statements

ISR R M EE
31. SHARE OPTION SCHEME 31. MEBk a8 (48)
(CONTINUED)
The following share options were outstanding under the Scheme AR HATR i AR TR BB A 2 1T (B KA 71
during the year: HRZAR
2017 2016
2017 20164
Weighted Weighted
Average Average
exercise Number exercise Number
price of options price of options
hOREF1g -1 T B
TEE A 11818 ]
HK$ ’000 HK$ '000
BRET T4 BB T4
At 1 January 1A1H 1.84 186,811 1.84 187,611
Forfeited during the year
before bonus PRATAI AT A2 R 222 (6,344) 1.85 (800)
Bonused during the year SN 0.92 180,467 = =
Forfeited during the year
after bonus BRATHI1& S )21 0.73 (102,000) - -

At 31 December 12A31H 0.99 258,934 1.84 186,811
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31. SHARE OPTION SCHEME 31. ISR fERTE (48)
(CONTINUED)
The exercise prices and exercise periods of the share options AR BAR M AR TR EBAE 2 TT{EE NRITE
outstanding as at the end of the reporting period are as follows: BRGNS :
2017 2017 &
Number of options Exercise price* Exercise period
BREHE per share 178
’000 TEE
T4 =1
54,000 HK$0.73 10 July 2013 to 9 July 2023
0.73%87T 2013497 H10 H= 20237 A9H
132,600 HK$0.93 22 January 2014 to 21 January 2021
0.93%7T 2014F1 A22 HE 202141 21 H
72,334 HK$1.29 9 July 2010 to 8 July 2019
1.20%7T 20107 HOBHZE201967 A8H
258,934
2016 2016 FF
Number of options Exercise price* Exercise period
FERESE per share 111 A7
’000 1TEE™
¥ S
78,000 HK$1.46 10 July 2013 to 9 July 2023
1.46 87T 2018347 A10AE2023%7 A9H
69,400 HK$1.85 22 January 2014 to 21 January 2021
1.8587C 20141 A22 BHE 202141 A 21 H
39,411 HK$2.58 9 July 2010 to 8 July 2019
2.58 77T 20107 HOBHZE2019%7 A8H
186,811
. The exercise price of the share options is subject to adjustment in case of * MR R TT (B AR AL AR AT IB R AT T

AERARBRANEMIBE RS

rights or bonus issues, or other similar changes in the Company’s share

capital.

BrEEARAT —E—+#xk 235



Notes to Financial Statements

B IR AR

31. SHARE OPTION SCHEME 31. BSRRHERT S (48)

(CONTINUED)

The Group recognised no share option expense (2016: Nil) during
the year ended 31 December 2017.

The expected life of the options is the validity of the options upon
the grant date and until expiry. It is not necessarily indicative of
the exercise patterns that may occur. The suboptimal exercise
behaviour multiple is applied to the exercise price, and indicates the
stock price at which the holders of the option may exercise prior to
expiration. The expected volatility reflects the assumption that the
historical volatility is indicative of future trends, which may also not
necessarily be the actual outcome.

No other feature of the options granted was incorporated into the
measurement of fair value.

As none of the share options was exercised during the year, there
was no impact on the ordinary shares, share capital and share
premium of the Company.

At the end of the reporting period, the Company had 258,933,322
share options outstanding under the Scheme. The exercise in full
of the outstanding share options would, under the present capital
structure of the Company, result in the issue of 258,933,322
additional ordinary shares of the Company and additional share
capital of RMB21,644,000 (before issue expenses).

At the date of approval of these financial statements, the Company
had 258,933,322 share options outstanding under the Scheme,
which represented approximately 4.44% of the Company’s shares in
issue as at that date.
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32. RESERVES

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

Share premium

The share premium represents the excess of ordinary shares
paid by the shareholders over their nominal value.

Contributed surplus

The contributed surplus of the Group represents the
difference between the aggregate of the nominal value of
the paid-up capital of the subsidiaries acquired pursuant
to the reorganisation of the Group from 2006 to 2007 for
the purpose of preparation for the listing of the shares of
the Company on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong, and the nominal value of the Company’s shares
issued in exchange therefor. Prior to the incorporation of the
Company, the contributed surplus represented the aggregate
of the normal values of the paid-up capital of the subsidiaries
of the Group.

Capital reserve

Capital reserve represents the additional contribution made
by the shareholders of the Company’s subsidiaries and, in the
case of acquisition of an additional non-controlling interest of a
subsidiary, the difference between the cost of acquisition and
the book value of the non-controlling interest acquired.

Statutory surplus reserve and statutory
reserve fund

In accordance with the Company Law of the PRC and
the respective articles of association of the PRC group
companies, each of the subsidiaries of the Group that is
domiciled in Mainland China is required to allocate 10% of its
profit after tax, as determined in accordance with the PRC
Accounting Regulations, to the statutory surplus reserve
(the “SSR”) until such reserve reaches 50% of its registered
capital.

In addition, certain of the PRC group companies are foreign
investment enterprises which are not subject to the SSR
allocation. According to the relevant PRC regulations
applicable to foreign investment enterprises, each of these
subsidiaries is required to allocate a certain portion (not less
than 10%) of its profit after tax, as determined in accordance
with the PRC Accounting Regulations, to the statutory reserve
fund until such reserve reaches 50% of its registered capital.
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32. i

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)
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AR BFEITE AR E{ER
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A
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BRERERARNERTRHERRAASE
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33. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED 33. St A& RERMEE
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
Changes in financial liabilities arising from financing activities BMEEHELESRBEZEE
Bank and other loans
RITRHEMEES
RMB’000
AR¥T T
At 1 January 2017 20171 H1H 5,268,348
Changes from financing cash flow MEBRSRES (708,929)
At 31 December 2017 201712 A31 H 4,559,419
34. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 34.BBAXR %
In addition to the transactions and balances detailed elsewhere in B E ISR TR R 5 R AS BRI -
these consolidated financial statements, the Group had the following REERNFANEBRTETT TIEAR
material transactions with related parties during the year: 7 -
(@) Compensation of key management personnel of the Group @ AEEFEZEEEAENFH(BEE
which comprises the remuneration of the directors is EFM) BT T8 4K EE o
disclosed in note 8.
(b)  As disclosed in note 24 and note 27, the Group had balances (o) LOMdFE24 RMIFE27 FTHEEE -+ 7R 2017
due from/to related parties at 31 December 2017 and 2016. FR2016F12 431 H » XEBAFRE
The balances due from/to related parties arose from non-trade We/FELSHRBES 5 A 54 o TEURFEATRE
activities, unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand. G EREIER SRR MEL «+ ThiE

ER - 2R RREREEE -

() As disclosed in note 29, no borrowings (2016: ©  HAMIEE29 FTH R - 1R 2017 12 A 31
RMB60,700,000) of the Group were guaranteed by Mr. Shi A AEBEWEERQ016F : AR
Kancheng at 31 December 2017. #& 60,700,000 7T ) R FEATLAK ST A HE LR o
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35. COMMITMENTS

36

The Group had the following commitments for property development
expenditure at the end of the reporting period:

Notes to Financial Statements
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35. B&KiE

RBEMR - AEEREHEREHENE
AASEWT

2017 2016
2017 & 20164
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTT AREET T

Contracted, but not provided for: EEEEESE
Properties under development FEE R

OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS
As lessee

The Group leases certain of its office premises under operating
lease arrangements, negotiated for terms of five years with an option
for renewal after the expiry dates, at which time all terms will be
renegotiated.

At 31 December 2017, the Group had total future minimum lease
payments under non-cancellable operating leases falling due as

1,234,209 1,058,429

36. EEHRAIRE
tEREBA

AEERBREHERHEREETHAE
W HEGERSHAF  XrEERE
HRREEHER 2 AMEK TERIEE -

R2017E12 A31 8 » NEBBRIETAIEH
ZAETRE TN T HIR 2R B 18 SRR

follows: FAEFIEEZEIT ¢
2017 2016
2017 & 2016 4
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T AREETTT
Within one year —F R 37,117 7,401
In the second to fifth years, inclusive FEERF (BEEMFREEN) 156,749 15,688
After five years AFE 297,524 16,781
491,390 39,870
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37. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 7. FRR

2017 2016
20175 2016 4F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARETTT
Guarantees given to banks for: FATIEB 4 TIRITHIER ¢
Mortgage facilities granted to REBEYHEERER
purchasers of the Group’s properties IRITIRIBE R 3,205,370 4,124,435

The Group provided guarantees in respect of the mortgage
facilities granted by certain banks to the purchasers of the Group’s
properties. Pursuant to the terms of the guarantee arrangements,
in case of default on mortgage payments by the purchasers,
the Group is responsible for repaying the outstanding mortgage
loans together with any accrued interest and penalty owed by the
defaulted purchasers to the banks. The Group is then entitled to take
over the legal titles of the related properties. The Group’s guarantee
periods commence from the dates of grant of the relevant mortgage
loans and end after the execution of individual purchasers’ collateral
agreements.

The Group did not incur any material losses during the reporting
period in respect of the guarantees provided for mortgage facilities
granted to the purchasers of the Group’s properties. The directors
consider that in case of default on payments, the net realisable value
of the related properties can cover the repayment of the outstanding
mortgage loans together with any accrued interest and penalty,
and therefore no provision has been made in connection with the
guarantees.
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY 38. lapfl o Em IR
CATEGORY
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial FHeMITANRSHRNRABENAT
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as follows:
2017 2017 &
Financial assets SREE
Financial
assets
at fair value
Available- through
for-sale profit or loss
Loans and financial URREE
receivables assets FTEAHSH
BXRK AHHE  FAEHESR Total
e CREE HermEE Eoh
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T ARBFT AR®TT AR®TFT

Available-for-sale investments ~ A[{EHERE - 367,653 - 367,653
Long term deposit REIFR 73,469 - - 73,469
Trade and bills receivables EWE SRAREE 64,239 - - 64,239
Financial assets included STATERFOE « #e 376,956 - - 376,956
in prepayments, deposits K Eo At e YR+
and other receivables NEmEE
Equity investments at fair NAREBEFZAHSE - - 72,298 72,298
value through profit or loss STAE BEm RS
R’E
Restricted cash SR FIIR 930,660 - - 930,660
Cash and cash equivalents B RESZEY 2,502,367 - - 2,502,367
At 31 December 2017 2017912 A31H 3,947,691 367,653 72,298 4,387,642
Financial liabilities TREHE
Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost
REBERR A K
TRIEE
RMB’000
ARET T
Trade payables BB SRR 1,747,904
Financial liabilities included in other payables FT AEAth 1T FRIE K
and accruals EtERTNESRAE 614,823
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings AT EIRITER R EME K 4,559,419
6,922,146
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY

CATEGORY (CONTINUED)

SB.LEMMBSMEMIR

]
2016 2016 &
Financial assets SREE
Financial
assets
at fair value
Available- through
for-sale profit or loss
Loans and financial AR BE
receivables assets  FTEEHEE)
693 s HARHEE Total
FEWFRIA TREE NEmEE #Et
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBFIT AREFT AREFT ARETIT
Available-for-sale investments  AJftHERE - 28,300 - 28,300
Long term deposit REER 94,214 = = 94,214
Loans and receivables from RE—HABLEER 173,246 - - 173,246
ajoint venture R FENGRIR
Trade and bills receivables [EWE SRR R 25 78,321 = = 78,321
Financial assets included STAEMARUE - BE 157,084 = - 157,084
in prepayments, deposits R Eph FEYGRIE
and other receivables MEREE
Equity investments at fair LARBEER - - 491 491
value through profit or loss HEET A PR
BRI E
Restricted cash ZRERE 495,489 - - 495,489
Cash and cash equivalents Be RREEEY 946,651 - - 946,651
At 31 December 2016 201612 318 1,945,005 28,300 491 1,973,796
Financial liabilities SREE
Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost
R AR HY
SRIAE
RMB’000
ARET T
Trade payables FERRTE SRR 1,938,978
Financial liabilities included in other payables S AE A fE S 208 &
and accruals EETERTNESRAE 590,189
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings HERITER K EMERK 5,268,348
7,797,515
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39. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE 39.
HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS

-

TRHMARRER
H3R48

5>

14
]

The carrying amounts and fair values of the Group’s and the
Company’s financial instruments, other than those with carrying
amounts that reasonably approximate to fair values, are as follows:

AEERANFSRTANKREENRALE
BT - EREEEAABESEEEER
SN

Carrying amounts Fair values
BRE(E AREE
2017 2016 2017 2016
2017 & 20164 2017 & 20164
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARBT T ARBTR ARBTF T
Financial liabilities =i

Interest-bearing bank and SHERITREMER 4,559,419 5,268,348 4,451,172 5,160,875

other borrowings

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and
cash equivalents, the current portion of restricted cash, trade
and bills receivables, trade payables, financial assets included in
prepayments, deposits and other receivables, and financial liabilities
included in other payables and accruals approximate to their
carrying amounts largely due to the short term maturities of these
instruments. The non-current portions of restricted cash, long term
deposits and available-for-sale investments approximate to their
carrying amounts largely due to the insignificant amounts or short
remaining maturities of these instruments.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are included
at the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in a
current transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced or
liquidation sale. The following methods and assumptions were used
to estimate the fair values:

The fair values of the interest-bearing bank and other borrowings
have been calculated by discounting the expected future cash flows
using rates currently available for instruments with similar terms,
credit risk and remaining maturities.

HREERAEFEY  ZRFAESHRD
B BREBZEAERER  XKe—FHe%
EERERREWFIR - BNESEK - 5tA
BNFOR - Ze REMRKFIRTNERE
EANGT AR BN I M EFT B AR E
BEEHRRL AERSINEHRARNDE - E
BEERRRETLAAABEAALREEM
E o XRHRSHIEREB D - REEFRK
A EREEAREERS - ET2TAR
ZETENESRIEARREAZE -

EREERBENAABENZTARER
X577 (MIFRAIBRHE)EANRS TH
AR ZEEAR © THITDERBRRII ARG
HRREE:

RERTEREEMERNAAEBETER
B TARBOURTAENNEX - FERR
KRBT R BRI RKR SR E M

s
H o
A
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39. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE

HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

The fair values of listed equity investments are based on quoted
market prices. The fair values of unlisted available-for-sale equity
investments have been estimated using a discounted cash flow
valuation model based on assumptions that are not supported
by observable market prices or rates. The valuation requires the
directors to make estimates about the expected future cash flows
including expected future dividends and proceeds on subsequent
disposal of the shares. The directors believe that the estimated fair
values resulting from the valuation technique, which are recorded
in the consolidated statement of financial position, and the related
changes in fair values, which are recorded in other comprehensive
income, are reasonable, and that they were the most appropriate
values at the end of the reporting period.

Fair value hierarchy

The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement hierarchy of
the Group’s financial instruments:

-
'
i
i

EESREN AR BERTSRERETE
FEMAHHERERENRIABECKA
FRBRSREHEELRRLEATERL
MIZERKTEEE - (HEEKRESHA
HigBRLnE (BEE AERRE AR
ERMEFAERE) EL b - EFZRRMA
ERMEHN G AR BE(RA G BN
MEAR) RAAEBENEBES(NEME
EWEAR) B A ERESHEHRZE
ERfbE -

DREERER

TRITAEE SR TANA R EEEE

Fair value measurement using

AREEFEMALE

Quoted prices Significant Significant

in active observable  unobservable

markets inputs inputs

EAUEBER b )

RS RE 25 BEE
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
E—R EIR E=R Eoh
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AEEFT AEETT AEETT ARETT
As at 31 December 2017 2017912 A31H 72,298 - - 72,298
As at 31 December 2016 2016F 12 A31H 491 = = 491
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40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise cash and cash
equivalents, restricted cash and interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings. The main purpose of these financial instruments is to
raise finance for the Group’s operations. The Group has various
other financial assets and liabilities such as trade receivables and
trade payables, which arise directly from its operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are
interest rate risk, foreign currency risk, credit risk and liquidity risk.
The Group does not hold or issue derivative financial instruments for
trading purposes. The board of directors reviews and agrees policies
for managing each of these risks and they are summarised below:

(a) Interest rate risk

The Group has no significant interest-bearing assets. The
Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in market interest
rates relates primarily to the Group’s bank and other
borrowings with floating interest rates. The Group has not
used any interest rate swaps to hedge its interest rate risk.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to change
in interest rates, with all other variables held constant, of
the Group’s profit before tax (through the impact on floating
rate borrowings) and the Group’s equity, assuming all the
increases or decreases are dealt with in profit or loss, without
consideration of interest capitalisation.
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40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

4Qﬁ§ﬂﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁ&ﬁ%

(CONTINUED)
(a) Interest rate risk (continued) (a) FIEmEps(E)
Increase/

Increase/ (decrease) Increase/
(decrease) in in profit (decrease)
basis points before tax in equity
EEm/ BREL AU RE M,
(B2) i,/ GRd) (R
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBFT ARETT

2017 2017 &
RMB AR 50 (21,195) (15,896)
us$ X 50 (1,414) (1,061)
HK$ BT 50 - -
JPY BT 50 (188) (141)
RMB AR (50) 21,195 15,896
us$ T (50) 1,414 1,061
HK$ ST (50) - -
JPY B (50) 188 141

2016 2016 4F
RVB AREE 50 (24,526) (18,395)
us$ X 50 (1,513) (1,135)
HK$ BT 50 (225) (169)
CA$ il 50 (77) (58)
RMB AR (50) 24,526 18,395
us$ T (50) 1,513 1,135
HK$ BT (50) 225 169
CA$ T (50) 77 58
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40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 40. MR EREHERBR
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (§8)
(CONTINUED)
(b) Foreign currency risk (b) IMEEELBS
The Group’s businesses are located in Mainland China and AREENESKZLEDRHRNMELT
all transactions are conducted in RMB. Most of the Group’s FrER S EHERAARE o NEEAXH
assets and liabilities are denominated in RMB, except for PDEBENBBEUARESE  ETUN
certain bank balances and bank loans denominated in US$ ETMBTTHERNRITESRRIRETE
and HK$. FRBRAN o
The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the end of TIERFITRANER [ R B A AR R AN SR
the reporting period to a reasonably possible change in the RN RERAREETNBTERS
US$ and HK$ exchange rates, with all other variables hold A RE R BN BURE » HERTA EMA]
constant, of the Group’s profit before tax and the Group’s BREREFTE o
equity.
Increase/ Increase/
(decrease) in (decrease) Increase/
foreign in profit (decrease)
currency rate before tax in equity
SEE=R BRBE AR rEEm,
#n,/ (R) 2m/ Cad) (R
% RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT AREFT
2017 20175
If HK$ weakens against US$ WBITHETRE 5 (8,823) (6,617)
If HK$ strengthens against US$ BT R ETHE (5) 8,823 6,617
If RMB weakens against US$ i AR ST E 5 3,556 2,667
If RMB strengthens against US$ HARERETHE (5) (3,556) (2,667)
2016 2016 4F
If HK$ weakens against US$ BT E TR E 5 (10,309) (7,732)
If HK$ strengthens against US$ WS TR ETAHE 5) 10,309 7,732
If RMB weakens against US$ HARERETHRE 5 2,030 1,522
If RMB strengthens against US$ AR ZTHE () (2,030) (1,522)
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B IR AR EE

40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(c)

(d)

248 Znhong An Real Estate Limited

Credit risk

The Group has no concentration of credit risk. The Group’s
cash and cash equivalents are mainly deposited with overseas
banks and state-owned banks in Mainland China. The
carrying amounts of the other receivables, restricted cash
and cash and cash equivalents included in the consolidated
statement of financial position represent the Group’s
maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to its financial
assets. The Group has no other financial assets which carry
significant exposure to credit risk. The Group has arranged
bank financing for certain purchasers of its property units and
has provided guarantees to secure the obligations of such
purchasers for repayments. Detailed disclosures of these
guarantees are included in note 35.

Liquidity risk

The Group monitors its risk to a shortage of funds using
a recurring liquidity planning tool. This tool considers the
maturity of both its financial instruments and financial assets
(e.g., trade receivables) and projected cash flows from
operations.

The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between

continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of bank and
other borrowings.

2017 Annual Report
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g e
40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 40. MEREEEHERBEK
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (§8)
(CONTINUED)
(d) Liquidity risk (continued) (d) REBELER (&)
The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as at BIEETARERA S NEESRE
the end of the reporting period, based on the contractual BRREHARNI AR T ¢
undiscounted payments, is as follows:
2017
20175
On Less than 3 to less than
demand 3months  12months 1to5years Over5 years Total
3EAZE
RER  SH3EA  DHR12f8A 1855 5§ E @5t

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR AREBTR ARETR AREBTR ARETR ARETx

Interest-bearing bank and ~ FFEIFITER - 274,165 1,353,254 2,762,000 170,000 4,559,419
other borrowings REfER

Interest payable in BRBTREMER - 46,729 120,205 137,843 8,428 313,205
relation to bank and RIS
other borrowings

Trade payables ERESER 1,747,904 - - - - 1,747,904

Guarantees given to AT AEENE - 320,537 - - - 320,537
banks in connection BRMIRIBER
with mortgage RTHRITNER

facilities granted
to purchasers of the
Group’s properties
Other payables and accruals  E {538 614,823 - - - - 614,823
RIETER

2,362,727 641,431 1,473,459 2,899,843 178,428 7,555,888
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40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 40. MR EEHERBR
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES 5
(CONTINUED)
(d) Liquidity risk (continued) (d) KEBELER (&)
2016
20164
On Less than  3to less than
demand 3 months 12months  1to5 Years  Over 5 years Total
3ERZE
BEX  OR3EA SR12(EA 1555 5 E st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARETT ARBTT AR%ETT ARETT ARETR ARET:
Interest-bearing bank and ~ FHER{TER 440,950 283000 1,407,789 2,686,609 450,000 5,268,348
other borrowings REMER
Interest payable in BRBTREMETR - 79,580 201,198 314,475 36,829 632,082
relation to bank and HERFIS
other borrowings
Trade payables ERESER 1,938,978 - - - - 1938978
Guarantees given to ARTAEENE - 4,124,435 - - - 4124435
banks in connection ERNRBER
with mortgage BTRITRIER

facilities granted
to purchasers of the
Group's properties
Other payables and accruals  E {78 590,189 - - - - 590,189
RIEER

2,970,117 4,487,015 1,608,987 3,001,084 486,829 12,554,032
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40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(e) Capital management

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management
are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern and to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to
support its business and maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes
adjustments to it in the light of changes in economic
conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying
assets. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group
may adjust the dividend payment to shareholders, return
capital to shareholders or issue new shares. No changes were
made in the objectives, policies or processes for managing
capital during the years ended 31 December 2017 and 2016.

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is
net debt divided by capital plus net debt. Net debt includes
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings, trade payables,
other payables and the accruals, less cash and cash
equivalents. Capital represents equity attributable to owners
of the parent. The gearing ratio as at the end of each of the
reporting periods was as follows:

Notes to Financial Statements

B SRR YR

20 HERREEEMREE

(e)

EXEE

AEBEARNEENTIEENEERRE
AEBREAFELENEIFTEENE
AL E AR EEB RERREE
&AL °

REBBTEAEEARGERE - WRKRAH
A I B B B) AR B & EE 1) BB I R
HEELRFAE - BERIARERE
T AEBEA ARSI FREAR
B BERARETRREREITHR
5 c BiE2016F & 2017412 531 H
IEFE - AEEHREREREERLE
1 BERSEFEHEMEE -

AEBEREERBLRERER -
ZEERELERSFEERAER
FHEIR o FERBREF BRRITER N
HAiER - BNE SRR R E RN
FRAEER  BRERAESEE
) o BRI RARBRREH R - R
BREMRNEEABLENT -

2017 2016
2017 & 2016 4F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARET T
Interest-bearing bank and STESRITER R H M ERK 4,559,419 5,268,348
other borrowings
Trade payables B E SR 1,747,904 1,938,978
Other payables and accruals HEb B R ERE A 636,930 603,226
Less: Cash and cash equivalents B BERIBEEEY (2,502,367) (946,651)
Net debt SFETE 4,441,886 6,863,901
Equity attributable to owners of ISTNCIE ¥ PNy 2 7,451,358 6,541,100
the parent
Capital and net debt BARNFEE 11,893,244 13,405,001
Gearing ratio BEAGLE 37% 51%
orEELRAE T+ 251
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B IR AR

41. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL

POSITION OF THE COMPANY

M. FLFMBRRER

Information about the statement of financial position of the Company BN ATRIRE R 2 R R e &R0
at the end of the reporting period is as follows: T
2017 2016
2017 20165
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT ARET T
Non-current assets EREEE
Investments in subsidiaries MERE 2,894,981 2,697,307
Property and equipment BEK&E 899 1,505
Total non-current assets EmBEERE 2,895,880 2,698,812
Current assets REBEE
Amounts due from subsidiaries NG B 100,000 100,000
Prepayments, deposits and
other receivables AR - e REMFRIE 12,336 13,186
Available-for-sale investments AHEEERE 6,353
Equity investments at fair value through A AR EERZ A S
profit or loss FTAE BBEERRE 794 491
Cash and cash equivalents B NEEEEY 54,815 6,640
Total current assets MEEERE 174,298 120,317
Current liabilities REBEE
Amounts due to subsidiaries NN 240,043 331,931
Other payables and accruals Hib 708 & ETE B 1,185 1,085
Total current liabilities BB EAeRE 241,228 333,016
Net current liabilities RESEFE (66,930) (212,699)
Total assets less current liabilities HWEERRBEE 2,828,950 2,486,113
Net assets BEE 2,828,950 2,486,113
Equity s
Share capital RE AR 516,469 220,811
Reserves HfE 2,312,481 2,265,302
Total equity RS 2,828,950 2,486,113
252 Znhong An Real Estate Limited 2017 Annual Report
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41. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL
POSITION OF THE COMPANY

M. FLFMBRRE (&)

(CONTINUED)
A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows: ARATEEERAT
Retained
Share Exchange profits/ Share
premium fluctuation (accumulated option
account reserve losses) reserve Total
R4 EX  REAE/ BRE
RER REfRE (REER) i @t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT ARETFTT AREFT ARETT AREFT
At 1 January 2016 20165 1A 1H 2,966,252 (566,909) (268,303) 152,753 2,283,793
Total comprehensive loss for the year  FRZEEEASE - (8,334) (10,157 - (18,491)
Transfer of share option reserve REERIE R U
upon the forfeiture or expiry of of e
share options SRR - = 842 (842) =
At 31 December 2016 and 201612 A31H
1 January 2017 &201761A18 2,966,252 (575,243) (277,618) 151,911 2,265,302
Total comprehensive loss for the year A2 EEBEE - 5,310 (14,382) - (9,072)
Issue of shares e 56,251 - - - 56,251
Transfer of share option reserve NGB
upon the forfeiture or expiry of fE SR
of share options Bk - - 33,419 (33,419) -
At 31 December 2017 2017512318 3,022,503 (569,933) (258,581) 118,492 2,312,481

The share option reserve comprises the fair value of share options
granted which are yet to be exercised, as further explained in the
accounting policy for share-based payments in note 31 to the
financial statements. The amount will either be transferred to the
share premium account when the related options are exercised, or
be transferred to retained profits should the related options expire or
be forfeited.

BREFRERERERTENSREBEREZ
DNA(EE - RPBRERME31 BN
RERHXNZ EHBERAFL - @BH T
HRBREETEREREROEERK
(AnERERE R fE M R B ) B ERE R
) o
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42. EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING 42. S EREREIR
PERIOD
On 18 March 2018, the Company, through its non-wholly owned R2018F3 A 18H * A ARIBHEEIEE
subsidiary, Hangzhou Zhongjia Investment Management Co., Ltd. fEARMMNRRREEEARA AR ([ E
(the “Purchaser”), entered into an equity transfer agreement with an FDEBTE=FMMNZEARBTEERA
independent third party Hangzhou Pengbo Daxiang Enterprise Co., m([EA )] LR - WIRBE SR
Ltd. (the “Vendor”) for the acquisition of the entire equity interest in BARKE360 BB TWENTMEREGR
Zhejiang Shangtuo Investment Co., Ltd. (the “Target Co”) at the cash AR BERAR)Z2 23  RKBIES
consideration of RMB360 million with the ultimate aim of pursuing BERBERAEHEEATNEZENBARIZE
the implementation of the construction and development of a project B—IE i 2R REIER - AMARK
on a plot of land held by the wholly owned subsidiary of the Target 1508 B THIES E N2018FE3 A21HY
Co. RMB150 million of down payment had already been paid as - MBS AR REEE R 17 2 TS A IS TR BT R o

at 21 March 2018, subject to and upon the terms contained in the
equity transfer agreement.

43. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL 43. MR FER
STATEMENTS
The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by EE2N2018E3 A21 HEAM BRI
the board of directors on 21 March 2018. EH IR -
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Properties Held for Investment

FIERENYE

As at 31 December 2017 72017412 A31 H

F2RZ M NIBELL

RLFERRAA]

Percentage
of interest
Existing use at GFA attributable to Lease term
31 December 2017 (sg- m.) the Group of land
Address R2017 F BEEE AEEEN T EFE

12AN BNREAR (FHK) EENEIL  QOHR
Basement 1 to Level 15, Guomao Building, Shops and portion 12,225 55.7% Medium (Note)
No. 93 Shixin Road, Chengxiang Town, of it is vacant, and
Xiaoshan District, Hangzhou, Zhejiang serviced apartments
Province, the PRC
REUINIAMMTRILREEET LK HEHARHOEERR 12,225  55.7% R EA (FtET)
SREEAEME1EEE15E BARE
A retail shop unit on L1, Shanghai La Vie, Shop 341 61.9% Medium
No. 433 Chang Le Road, Xuhui District,
Shanghai, the PRC
P EETIRER REFR4335: LIBRREF 341 61.9% HEf
F1Ze 1 (&R s
Portion of Level 1, the whole of Level 2 to Shops and portion of 5,913 61.9% Medium
Level 4, Integrated Service Center, East it is vacant
Xiaoran Road and Jinjiagiao Road, Xiaoshan
District, Hangzhou, Zhejiang Province,
the PRC
HEHDT AN T RLREARE SR PESH AN BB 22 5913  61.9% A
B RBHROE1EHOME2EE 4
=
Retail shop units of Level 1 to Level 5 Shops and portion of 60,014 61.9% Medium
in Block 2 to Block 5 of Highlong Plaza, it is vacant
Shanyin Road and Gongren Road, Xiaoshan
District, Hangzhou, Zhejiang Province, the
PRC
Fh BT A& A T AR LU L R B RN A BR M HEE 60,014  61.9% R
BEESEREESRCE1EESEN
Bkl
Office units in Block 2 of Highlong Plaza, Office and portion of 18,020 61.9% Medium
Shanyin Road, Xiaoshan District, Hangzhou, it is vacant
Zhejiang Province, the PRC
R BUINT A SN TR R 1L R B 18 [ 5 WMNEREHEE 18,020 61.9% H Ef
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Properties Held for Investment

FERENME

As at 31 December 2017 7A20174 12 A31 8

Percentage
of interest
Existing use at GFA attributable to Lease term
31 December 2017 (sg. m.) the Group of land
Address R2017 F BEEE AKEEEWG TiEHE
bk 12AN BNREAR (FHK) EENEIL QOHR
6. Serviced apartment units in Block 3 and 4 of ~ Serviced apartments 2,610 61.9% Medium
Highlong Plaza, Shanyin Road and Gongren
Road, Xiaoshan District, Hangzhou,
Zhejiang Province, the PRC
FR BT AN 7 e L [ L R B R A B RGN 2,610 61.9% R A
BIEESESRNE 4R BEAAE
7. Retail shop units of Level 1 to Level 2 Shops and portion of 9,004 61.9% Medium
(Phase 1) and the whole block of No.43 it is vacant
commercial building (Phase 2), Landscape
Garden, Shushan Road and Panshui Road,
Xiaoshan District, Hangzhou, Zhejiang
Province, the PRC
Fh BT A A T A L 2 &5 L B RN 7K R RSB EE 9,004  61.9% ]
WKZEEA B EFE 2 B R E 2 %
TR 435518
8. Retail shop units of Hidden Dragon Bay, Shops and portion of 23,562 63.6% Medium
Wenxing Village, Wenyan Town Xiaoshan it is vacant
District, Hangzhou, Zhejiang Province, the
PRC
FR BT A8 A T A L (2 R A e SR B BN EE 28,562 63.6% H AR
HEE R
9. Blocks 1, 2, 3, 4, and 6 of Hangzhou Office and shops and 112,449  68.8% Medium
International Office Centre, Ningwei Town, portion of it is vacant
Xiaoshan District, Hangzhou, Zhejiang
Province, the PRC
FR BT AN 7 e L [ 22 [ SR A B B MAEFEH LM 112,449  68.8% F
AT 223 4R61R =B
10. Retail shop units of Level 1 to Level 2 in Shops and portion of it~ 1,795 100% Medium
Phase | of Vancouver City, Jinhua Yuan, is vacant
Remin Road, Huaibei, Anhui Province, the
PRC
Rl e I T A REDR ST EE —HA5R RIS EE 1,795 100% H AA

256 Zhong An Real Estate Limited
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Properties Held for Investment

FERENME

As at 31 December 2017 #2017 12 A31 H

Percentage
of interest
Existing use at GFA attributable to Lease term
31 December 2017 (sg- m.) the Group of land
Address R2017 F BEEE AEEEN T EFE
ok 12A31 AWBEEAZ (FHK) EZNEIEE  HHR
11.  Yin Tai Cheng, No. 217, Xinjian North Road, =~ Shops and portion of it 92,489 61.9% Medium
Urban Area, Yuyao, Zhejiang Province, the is vacant
PRC
REANT ARG TR EITEILE7THRRR AHNSHOEE 92,489  61.9% rh HA
b
Note: Medium is defined as the term of land use rights granted remaining unexpired atthe ~ MfisF : REAE R ARBFFEARE « BHEH T R
end of the financial year is less than 50 years but not less than 10 years. ER i AT A HA A/ B0 - (B NA104E o
& Investment property classified as held for sale i DERISEHENIREYZE
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Properties Held for Development and/or Sale

HERRRHENYE

% of
Land Cost interest
per sg.m. attributable
(RMB)  Land Cost to the Group Site Area
EEEE  (RMB'00O) *EE (sq.m,)
Project City/District Location Project Type (AR®T/  tH#HAx FEfES #EER  Project GFA*
HRER 57/B frERR NEREE k) (AR®TT) WAEAL (FAR) BEAREER"
Zhejiang Province
IR}
1 Landscape Bay Xiaoshan, Hangzhou  Centre of new district in Residential 485 145,367 R2.7% 215,334 300,012
e fill/ &l Tier 2 city frz
-
2 Hidden Dragon Bay Xiaoshan, Hangzhou  Centre of new district in Residential retailoffice 1,491 360,360 63.6% 89,178 241,695
Eee /&l Tier 2 city /A
Z AT D
3 Huifeng Plaza (including White - Xiaoshan, Hangzhou  Town centre of Tier 2 city  Residential 4107 280,671 90.0% 21,497 68,345
Horse Palace) (A BN /&L —BHERD =
ELES (RHEHN)(EE)
4 Huifeng Plaza (B) Xiaoshan, Hangzhou  Town centre of Tier 2cty  Commercal 679 8,500 90.0% 11,340 12,520
E2R5(HF) i/ &l IR oL
5 Phase A, International Office  Xiaoshan, Hangzhou  Tier 2 city with high growth ~ Commercial 269 215,246 68.8% 92,610 798,7%
Centre BN/ &Il potential 7!
BRHARLAL )
6 Phase B &C, International Xiaoshan, Hangzhou  Tier 2 cty with high growth ~ Commercial 458 502,612 68.8% 207,390 1,098,065
Office Centre i /Ll potential e
BRHARLBCH “BEER
7 White Horse Manor Xiaoheshan, Tier 2 city with high growth ~ Residential 2,269 550,000 90.0% 145,265 243,497
B Hangzhou potentia frg
i/ Rk
8 Qiandao Lake Hotel Qlandao Lake, Tier 2 ity with high growth ~ Residential/hotel 4739 220,747 68.8% 119,398 46,580
TEHARE Hangzhou potentia = /B
/54 “BRER
9 [deal Bay Yuhang, Hangzhou  Town centre of Tier2city  Residential/retal 1,648 834,000 45.9% 158,743 538,866
ihe i/ & IR Fz/Ed
10 Chaoyang No. 8 (including Xiaoshen, Hangzhou  Town centre of Ter 2city  Residential retal 3,696 736,390 90%/61.9% 46,708 199,224
Chaoyang Yinzuo) /Ll R ftx/%4
PG5 (28hRE)
1 College Square Yuhang, Hangzhou  Tier 2 city with high growth ~ Residential retal 1,328 269,380 90.0% 52,359 196,293
2z8 /& potential fre/E%
“heER
12 Xixi New City Xihu District, Town centre of Tier2 ity Gommercial 331 281,100 68.8% 39,708 83,391
i) Sigiin} Hangzhou e [EH
i/ EE
13 Gentle Mansion Xiaoheshan, Towncentre of Tier 2 city ~ Residential 5863 673,000 21.6% 57,304 114,788
Zim Hangzhou ZBAHAD =z
M/
14 Xixi Manhattan Yuhang, Hangzhou  Town centre of Tier 2cy ~ Commercial 34 37470 31.6% 24534 109998
il fill/ & ZHRRD i
15 Onshore Blue Mountain Yuhang, Hangzhou ~ Town centre of Tier 2cy  Residential 6,486 689,939 100.0% 65,796 106,377
F LEL i/ & ISR £
16 Beverley Hills project Qlandao Lake, Tier 2 city with high growth ~ Residential 6,198 160,000 100.0% 89,991 25,816
AR Hangzhou potentia frg
i/ TEH “hEER
17 Xinnongalu Project Hangzhou, efc. Tier 2 city with high growth ~~ Residential/ 215 327,000 12.3% 991,736 1,187,131
MEHER TIES potential commercial
“heER fE/m%
Subtotal for Hangzhou 1,170 6,281,682 2,434,966 5,370,3%
bt
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Address
it

Properties Held for Development and/or Sale

Land Bank (sq.m.)
LiRE(FAR)

FERERHHEENWE

Including
investment
properties
Total GFA* Anaf
BEEER REnx

Development Phases

GEES

Types
REME

Completed for
sale?

BRIREY

Under
development 2

GES

Hold for
future
development®

BHARRER

Residential &
Facilities |

HEREE|

Commercial &
Hotel Il Office lll
BEN BERBAN

Ningwei Town, Xiaoshan District, Hangzhou, Zhejiang
Province

LA TRILEZRE

Wenxing Road, Wenyan Town, Xiaoshan District,
Hangzhou, Znhejiang Province
LARAHRILEREARER

Yucal Road, Xiaoshan District, Hangzhou, Zhejiang
Province

LATNNTRILEST %

Yucai Road, Xiaoshan District, Hangzhou, Zhejiang
Province

LATAMNTRLESTH

Qianjiang Century Town, Xiaoshan District, Hangzhou,
Zhejiang Province

HLATATRILER TR

Qianjiang Century Town, Xiaoshan District, Hangzhou,
Zhejiang Province

FLAATRILER TR

Liuhe Road, Xianlin Town, Yuhang District, Hangzhou,
Zhejiang Province

LATARTRR AR

Southwest of Qiandaohu Town, Chunan, Hangzhou,
Zhejiang Province

LA ZRT & HERR

Yuhang Economic Development Zone, Hangzhou, Zhejiang
Province

FIafNREERER

Shushan Town, Xiaoshan District, Hangzhou, Zhefiang
Province

FLaATRILERLEE

Future Hi-Tech City, Yuhang District, Hangzhou, Zhejiang
Province

AT ANER R

Xihu District, Hangzhou, Zhejiang Province

HIEMTEE

Chengxiang Unit, Xiaoshan District, Hangzhou, Zhejlang
Province

HIanfmBLEARET

Intersection of Gaojiao Road and Changyu Road
BABRAERER XA

Xian Lin Town, Yuhang District, Hangzhou, Zhejinag
Province

AT AMBRIR

West of Taoyuan Island, Qiandao Lake, Chunan County,
Hangzhou, Znhejiang Province
HLANNEETRHRSE
Hangzhou/Quzhou/Zhuij/Changxing
M/ M/ #E/RR

6,242 =

88,260 23,562

68,345 =

12,520 11,320

722,807 476,449

1,098,065 998,015

14,769 =

46,580 =

60,893 =

53,083 =

195,203

83,391 30,200

114,788 =

109,998 =

106,377 -

25,816 =

1,081,148 299,153

6,242

88,280

252,098

14,769

35,115

60,893

53,083

312,378

52,085

11,465

195,293

83,391

114,788

109,998

316,488

16,260

12,520

470,799

1,098,065

106,377

25,816

462,281

3,659

64,718

68,345

201417

1,008,065

8,770

11,465

52,135

181,662

83,391

114,788

109,998

106,377

25,816

= 2,583

= 23,562

= 12,520

101,500 398,920

= 5,999

= 8,758

= 53,033

= 13,631

= 1,081,148

3,888,435 1,838,699

822,802

883,508

2,182,125

2,156,666

136,615 1,595,154
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Properties Held for Development and/or Sale

HIERERHEENWE

% of
Land Cost interest
per sg.m. attributable

(RMB)  Land Cost to the Group Site Area
EEBE  (RMB000) 158 (sq.m.)

Project City/District Location Project Type (ARER/  1HEHAK FEfES #EER  Project GFA*
EEER i/ & EER NERAME %) (AR®TF7T) [P (FhK) BREREER"
18 Dragon Bay Yuyao, Ningbo Town centre of Tier 2 ¢ty Residential 8,892 1,750,013 90.0% 330,135 196,809
U] 2 /40 R frg
19 Jade Mansion Yuyao, Ningbo Towncentre of Tier 2 ity Residential 3,804 1,113,754 93.0% 271,458 292,807
R 2/ Rk ZHRRED =
20 Times Square (Phase |) Yuyao, Ningbo Town centre of Tier 2city ~ Commercial/hotel 1,154 362,640 61.9% 65,159 305,473
KRES—H B/ ik ZHEERD &% /B
21 Times Square (Phase Il Yuyao, Ningbo Town centre of Tier2clty  Residential/office/hotel 1,030 332,760 93%/64.0% 71,619 322,912
RRES=H 2 /20 ZHEERD F2/H0/BE
22 Zhong An Landscape Garden, - Cixi, Ningbo Tier 2 city with high growth  Residential/office/ 467 238080 90%/61.9% 197,656 510,125
Cixi 2 /4% potential commercial
REWKG “heER FE/H0/ 1%
Subtotal for Ningbo 2,326 3,787,248 935,926 1,628,126
BRG
Subtotal for Zhejiang 1,439 10,068,930 3,370,802 6,998,510
MG
Anhui Province
ZHE
2 (12, Green Harbour Hefei, Anhui Centre of new district in Residential 266 11,645 84.2% 64,376 43,718
BEEECIC /AR Tier 2 cly =z
ZaTRD
24 Phase 2, Green Harbour Hefei, Anhui Centre of new district in Residential 316 40,708 84.2% 269,000 108,200
BesaE=t 7@ /A Tier 2 ciy =
TR
25 Phases 3-6, Green Harbour ~ Hefel, Anhui Centre of new district in Residential 532 298,100 84.2% 1,395,000 560,300
BEBEZE6H ZH /B Tier 2 city iz
ZHaTR D
Subtotal for Hefei 492 350,453 1,728,376 112218
AN
26 Phase 2 South, Vancouver City - Huaibel, Anhui Centre of new district in Residential 85 3,483 100.0% 151,247 100,771
B T/ Tier 3 oty 2
=L
2 Phase 2 North, Vancouver City  Huaibei, Anhu Centre of new district in Residential 34 2,554 100.0% 84,330 75,027
R — R/ Tier 3 oty frz
SR
28 Phase 3A, Vancouver Gty Hualoei, Anhui Centre of new district in Residential 3 4974 100.0% 139,383 143,941
BIFEAFHA ZH/ k) Tier 3 clty Fz
=R
29 Phase 3B-3D, Vancouver City  Huaibei, Anhui Centre of new district in Residential 36 10,708 100.0% 204217 300,434
BIFENEBEDS ZH/ Tier 3 clty 2
=R
30 Phase 4 North, Vancouver City - Huaibe, Anhui Centre of new district in Residential 3 10,286 100.0% 296,704 297,636
BEFEE B 2/ Tier 3 iy =
=AD
31 Phase 4 South, Vancouver City - Huaibel, Anhui Centre of new district in Residential 35 3,863 100.0% 82,540 111,787
BFEE LS R/ Tier 3 oty frz
=R L
32 Phase 5 North, Vancouver City - Huaibel, Anhui Centre of new district in Residential 3 2,336 100.0% 265,310 67,607
BEEAZ ) 28/ Tier 3 clty Fz
=T
33 Phase 5 South, Vancouver City - Huaibei, Anhui Centre of new district in Residential 3 1,228 100.0% 81,611 35,521
e ZE/ Tier 3 clty 2
=D
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Properties Held for Development and/or Sale

FERERHHEENWE

Land Bank (sq.m.)
TibGE (T
Development Phases Types
Including L REKE
investment Hold for
properties  Completed for Under future  Residential & Commercial &
Address Total GFA! En@f sale” development®  development® Facilities | Hotel Office Il
3t ARSmRt RENE BIREY BESR? GHARERY  HEREEI EEN BERBAN
Xinjan North Road, Yuyao, Zhejiang Province 21,612 = 27,612 = = 27,612 = =
ITARKATEL 3%
Xinjian North Road, Yuyao, Znejiang Province 98,600 - 44323 54217 - 98,600 - -
ITA RT3
Xinjian North Rpad, Yuyao, Zhejiang Province 305,473 95,320 305,473 - - 14,671 20,624 170,178
LA AT
Xinjin North Road, Yuyao, Znejiang Province 118,859 - 118,859 - - 4,544 71,706 42,609
LA AT
Longshan New Town, Binghai District, Cidong, Cix, 432,199 159,510 37,054 395,745 - 213,289 - 159,510
Zhejang Province .
LA EER BRI
983,342 254,830 533,320 450,022 - 518,716 92,330 312,29
481,171 2,093,529 1,356,123 1,333,530 2,182,125 2,675,382 208,945 1,967,451
Landu Road, Baohe District, Hefei, Anfiui Province 5233 - 5233 - - 510 - 4,663
ZRASETRTRRER
Landu Road, Baohe District, Hefei, Anhui Province 108,200 = = = 108,200 108,200 - -
Rt AETRIRRER
Landu Road, Baohe District, Hefei, Anfui Province 560,300 - - - 560,300 560,300 - -
ZHAEETRTRRER
673,733 - 5,233 - 668,500 669,070 - 4,663
Renmin Road, Xiangshan District, Huaibei, Anhui Province 3,266 = 3,266 = = = = 3,266
ZHAEL TR AR
Renmin Road, Xiangshan District, Huaibei, Anhui Province 3,103 - 3,103 - - - 3,103
BRI TIRLEARS
Renmin Road, Xiangshen District, Huaibe, Anfiu Province 6,173 - 6,173 - - - - 6,173
ZHAEL MR ARE
Renmin Road, Xiangshan District, Huaibe, Anfiui Province 181,429 - 7,333 174,09 - 173,778 - 7,661
ZHAEL MR AR
Renmin Road, Xiangshan District, Huaibei, Anhui Province 389 = 3,893 = = r = 3,176
ZHAEL TR AR
Renmin Road, Xiangshan District, Huaibei, Anhui Province 11,787 - - - 111,787 11,787 - -
BRI TRLEARR
Renmin Road, Xiangshen District, Huaibe, Anfiu Province 36,134 - 36,134 - - 36,134 - -
ZHAELMRLEARE
Renmin Road, Xiangshan District, Huaibei, Anhui Province 35,521 - - - 35,021 35,621 - -

ZREELTAIRARR
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Properties Held for Development and/or Sale

HIERERHEENWE

% of
Land Cost interest
per sg.m. attributable

(RMB)  Land Cost to the Group Site Area
EEBE  (RMB000) 158 (sq.m.)

Project City/District Location Project Type (ARER/  1HEHAK FEfES #EER  Project GFA*
EEER i/ & EER NEREE %) (AR®TF7T) [P (FhK) BREREER"
34 Phase 6, Vancouver City Huaibei, Anhui Centre of new district in Residential 32 1,952 100.0% 35,386 60,708
BFENE0H 2/ Tier 3 ciy =
=AD
35 Phase 6D, Vancouver City Huaibei, Anhui Centre of new district in Hotel 30 2,025 61.9% 60,768 67,061
BFERE6HD R/ Tier 3 oty il
SRR
36 Phase 7, Vancouver City Hualoei, Anhui Centre of new district in Residential 3 4721 100.0% 80,291 136,772
BFENETH ZH/ Tier 3 clty Fz
=R
37 Southwest of Times Square,  Hualbei, Anhui Centre of new district in Residential #DIV/0! -
Vancouver City T/ Tier 3 oty frz
Rl (BRESRR) =T
38 Northeast of Times Square, ~ Huaibel, Anhui Centre of new district in Residential 35 2,862 100.0% 87,012 82,815
Vancouver City 28/ Tier 3 city %
RFE (BRERRL) AL
Subtotal of Huaibei 34 50,993 1,638,759 1,480,080
i3 )]
Subtotal of Anhui 183 401,446 3,367,135 2,192,298
R
Tianjin
3 Tianjin® Tianjin Centre of Tier 1 City Residential 125,000 90.0% 17,282 17,282
REBIR RiE —BmL iz
Overseas
55
40 Amber Rise Vancouver, British ~ Tier INew City Residential 11,200 86,497 100.0% 15,715 7,719
Columbia it fig
AETRLE/
e
Total 1,159 10,681,878 6,771,028 9,215,809
a3t
* including those with land use right and contractual interests
= including contracted and not recognized completed section
# Total GFA= D+@+®@ = + 1l + Il
B allocated land

* BB BE L AEBA RIS & A0 2 Lt
* BREBENARERIE TS

5 BEEER=D+Q+Q@=1+1+1

2 Elf
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Properties Held for Development and/or Sale

FERERHHEENWE

Land Bank (sq.m.)
LiRE(FAR)
Development Phases Types
Including RRER REME
investment Hold for
properties  Completed for Under future  Residential & Commercial &
Address Total GFA! En@f sale” development®  development® Facilities | Hotel Office Il
i3t ARSmRt REnx BRIREY RER?  GBUAREES  AEREEI RN EEREAN
Renmin Road, Xiangshan District, Huaibei, Anhui Province 21474 = 21 474 = = 1,324 = 26,150
ZRAEL TR AR
Renmin Road, Xiangshan District, Huaibei, Anhui Province 67,061 67,061 - - - 67,061 -
BRI TRLEARS
Renmin Road, Xiangshan District, Huaibei, Anhui Province 136,772 - - - 136,772 136,772 - -

ZHEELTRLEARS

Renmin Road, Xiangshan District, Huaibei, Anhui Province - - = = = - - _

ZR=ELTALEARR

Renmin Road, Xiangshan District, Huaibei, Anhui Province 82,815 82,815 = = 82815 = = 82,815
PRI TRLEARR

695,427 82,815 154,437 174,096 366,895 496,032 67,061 132,334
1,369,160 82,815 159,670 174,096 1,035,395 1,165,102 67,061 136,997
No.72, Xiao Weidi Avenue, Hexi District Tianjin Cty 17,282 = 17,282 17,282 =
AR R ERE 25
Union Avenue, West Vancouver, British Columbia 7,719 - - 7,719 - 7,719 - -

EEIRLTEARTENRAR

6,265,939 2,176,344 1,615,792 1,515,345 3,234,802 3,865,486 296,006 2,104,447
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Summary of Financial Information

MBENME

A summary of the results and of the assets, liabilities and non-controling  AREERFHFE D AMHKSEXIIFHRROSZOR
interests of the Group for the last five financial years, as extracted fromthe  {EBfHFEZENEE - BE MIFERE S REE

published audited financial statements. BHHIWAT -
Results 45
Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31 AILLEE
2017 2016 2015 2014 2013
2017 £ 2016 4F 20154 2014 4 20134
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TRT ARETT ARETT ARETT AREBTT
Revenue WA 4,395,117 5,007,148 2,883,146 1,550,105 2,437,605
Profit before tax B R AT I3RS 1,302,039 249,212 1,008,594 639,413 824,174
Income Tax FriS 75 (493,635) (88,250) (415,292) (237,657) (366,160)
Profit for the year F AT 808,404 160,962 593,302 401,756 458,014
Attributable to: AR A -
Owners of the parent ISYNCIEZZEPN 547,435 125,272 420,608 319,725 420,539
Non-controlling interests FEIE AR A 260,969 35,690 172,694 82,031 37,475
808,404 160,962 593,302 401,756 458,014

Assets, Liabilities and Non-controlling Interests ¥E&E - 8E&RFERER

31 December

128318
2017 2016 2015 2014 2013
2017 & 2016 4F 20154 2014 4F 20134
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT
Total Assets BEE 22,597,702 20,270,441 22,089,407 20,760,707 17,143,648
Total Liabilities PN (13,538,538) (12,559,306) (14,536,641) (13,767,310) (10,954,046)
Non-controlling Interests FEFERR I RS (1,607,806) (1,172,233)  (1,142,543) (990,849) (302,700)
7,451,358 6,538,902 6,410,223 6,002,548 5,886,902
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